
DATE:
TIME:
PLACE:

CALL TO ORDER

ROLL CALL

MEMBERS:

Mayor Jerry Robinson
President Nancy Wininger
Vice-President Marguerite Robinson
Councilman Charles Goodman
Councilman Justin Head
Councilman Elihu Ross

CITY OF WILLISTON, FLORIDA
CITY COUNCIL MEETING

AGENDA

OTHERS:

TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 4,2020
6:00 P.M.
WILLISTON CITY COUNCIL CHAMBER

City Manager Scott Lippmann
City Clerk Latricia Wright
City Attorney Fred Koberlein
Finance Director Stephen Bloom

OPENING PRAYER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

ITEM - 2 _ PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

ITEM_3-MAYOR'SS OF THE MONTH (po 4-5)

ITEM _4_CONSENT AGENDA

A. MINUTES: J Y 2I.2O2O REGULAR CITY COTINCIL MEETING (pp 6110)

ITEM-5-OLDBUSINESS

A. STAFF AND BOARD UPDATES

ITEM-6-NEV/BUSINESS

A. DISCUSSION WITH POSSIBLE ACTION: THE OLD WINN DIXIE- MAYOR
ROBINSON (pp 11-23)

B. DISCUSSION WITH POSSIBLE ACTION: RICK CLOUTIER/FORMER BONNER
REDUCTION 24-40

DISCIISSTON: RF,VTtrW OF FY2OIg FINANCIAL REPORT IIJNAUDITED) ANI)C.

41-83
CIAL REPORT-FINANCE DIRECTORREVIEW OF DECEMBER 2019 FINA

1



CITY OF WILLISTON, FLOzuDA
CITY COLINCIL MEETING

D. RESOLUTION 2020-06 AUTHORIZING A BUDGET AMENDMENT TO TRANSFER
l5 FROM THE GENERAL FTIND

o N.W. lST AVE
N AVE. TO INCLUDE 4 PARKIN

PARK- UTILITY DIRECTOR CJ ZIMOSKI (pp 84-86)

E. RESOLUTION 2O2O-07 AMENDING THE LEASE BETWEEN THE CITY OF
WILLISTON AND WET,L BILT INDIIS AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE

87-1 83

F. DISCUSSION WITH POSSIBLE ACTION: REPAIR OR PURCHASE OF A JOHN
DEERE WHEEL LOADER - UTILITY DIRECTOR CJ ZIMOSKI (pp 184- I 87)

ITEM - 7 _ PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

ITEM-8- OUNCEMENTS

ITEM-9_ADJOURNMENT

Council Meeting Procedures for members of the Public

l. All cell phones to be tumed off when entering the Council Chambers;
2. Once the audience has taken their seat and the meeting begins, there will be no talking between audience members

during the course of the Council meeting. If anyone continues to talk within the audience and is called down 3 times
during the course of the meeting, on the third time that person will be escorted out of the Council meeting;

3. The audience must be recognized by the President before being allowed to address the Council;
4. The member of the audience that is recognized will proceed to the podium, state their name and then proceed with their

comments;
5. The audience member will be limited to not more than 5 minutes to speak based on Resolution 2003-14:
6. There will be no personal attacks made by any member in the audience toward a sitting Councilperson, and likewise for

any sitting Councilperson;
7. There will be no conversation between a member ofthe audience that has been recognized and any other member ofthe

audience when speaking while at the podium;
8. If an audience member wants to speak more than the allotted 5 minutes allowed then that person should make a request

to City Hall so that the item may be placed on the agenda.

2



CITY OF WILLISTON, FLORIDA
CITY COUNCIL MEETING

Minutes of the Cify Council meeting may be obtained from the City Clerk's office. The minutes are recorded, but not transcribed
verbatim. Persons requiring a verbatim transcript may make arrangements with the City Clerk to duplicate the recordings, or
¿urange to have a court reporter present at the meeting. The cost of duplication and/or court reporter will be bome by the
requesting party.

In accordance with Section 286.0105. Florida Statutes, notice is given that ifa person wishes to appeal a decision made by the
City Council with respect to any matter considered at this meeting they will need a record of the proceedings, and for such
purpose may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceeding is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence
upon which the appeal is based.

In accordance with Section 286.26. Florida Statutes. persons with disabilities needing special accommodations to participate in
this meeting should contact the Mayor through the City Clerk's office no later than 5:00 P.M. on the day prior to the meeting.

3



Date: FEBRUARY 4,2020

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM

TOPIC:

REQUESTED BY: MAYOR ROBINSON PREPARED BY: LATRICIA WRIGHT

BACKGROUND / DESCRIPTION: STUDENTS OF THE MONTH

LEGAL REVIE\il:

F'ISCAL IMPACTS:

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve

ATTACHMENTS: X

COMMISSION ACTION:

APPROVED

DISAPPROVED

4



Parent(s):

FEBRUARV'S MAYOR STUDENT OF THE MONTH

Jovce Bullock ntarv School:

Remington Cooper 2nd Grade

Parent(s): Jennifer and Ronnie Cooper

Nominated bv: Monica Cooper who made the following comments:

Remington is an amazing young man! He is incredibly sweet and kind towards all
of his teachers and classmates. He always uses good manners and is willing to
help others. Along with having a kind heart he is also a very hard worker and an
incredible thinker. He is so bright and always strives to go above and beyond the
expectation. He has so much potential and I know he will accomplish many great
things.

WÍlliston Ele rv School:

Víctoria Torres 5th Grade

lvonne Perez

Nominated bv: R¡kki Richardson who made the following comments:

Victoria Torres is a quiet, sweet, and caring student. She has been a joy to teach
this year. She is a hard worker, who gives every assignment her best effort.
Victoria sets a great example for her peers not only academically but also
behaviorally. She is always on task and actively participating in class discussions
and activities. Victoria has earned January's Student of the Month for my class.

Williston Central Christian Academv:

Morgan West 5th Grade

Parent(s): Duane and Megan West

Nominated by: Tam my Davis who made the following comments:

Morgan is an exceptional young man with many wonderful characteristics. He is
always willing to help me or a fellow student in our classroom. He is kind and has

a servant's heart. He goes above and beyond his duty as a safety patrol. He will
greet students with a friendly smile in the morning or a "Have a nice day in the
afternoon". He does amazing in all academic areas. I am truly blessed to have
Morgan in my class.

5



FEBRUARY'S MAYOR STUDENT OF THE MONTH

wil liston Middle Hish School:

Katie Conger 6th Grade

Parent(s): Annette Moore

Nominated bv: KatÍe West and Amber Philpot who made the following
comments:

Katie is a very conscientious student. She works to do her very best and is kind to
others. She is also willing to help whenever she can. She remains calm no matter
what's going on around her. She is a great citizen as she is always willing to clean
up messes that don't even belong to her, especially in the café.

Williston M iddle Hieh School:

Nolan Benton 10th Grade

Charon CroftParent(s):

Nominated bv: Austin SkÍpper who made the following comments:

Nolan is always prepared for class. He is always well mannered young man that
treats his peers with as much respect as his teachers. Nolan is active in extra
curriculars including baseball and FFA, while also making sure to stay on top of his

academics. Nolan is an outstanding role model to other students at Williston
Middle High School.

6



City Council Minutes
January 21,2020

CITY OF WILLISTON
CITY COUNCIL MEETING

MINUTES

DATE:
TIME:
PLACE:

TUESDAY, JANUARY 21, 2O2O

6:00 P.M.
WILLISTON CITY COUNCIL ROOM

CALL TO ORDER

ROLL CALL

MEMBERS:

Mayor Jerry Robinson - absent
President Nancy Wininger
Vice President Marguerite Robinson - absent
Council Member Charles Goodman
Council Member Justin Head
Council Member Elihu Ross

OTHERS:

City Manager Scott Lippmann
City Clerk Latricia Wright - absent
City Attomey Fred Koberlein

OPENING PRAYER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG

ITEM I. ADDITIONS. DELETIONS. CHANGES AND APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

Council Member Head moved to accept the agenda as presented. Second by Council Member Goodman.
Motion passed 4-0.

ITEM 2 . PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There was no public participation from the audience

ITEM3-CONSENTAGENDA

Council Member Goodman moved to approve the consent agenda. Second by Council Member Ross.
Motion passed 4-0.

ITEM4-OLDBUSINESS

STAFF' AND BOARD UPDATES

Responding to a question at an earlier Council meeting, Mr. Lippmann confirmed that commercial utility
deposits are held in a non-interest-bearing bank account.

Mr. Lippmann informed the Council that a revised holiday schedule has been published changing the
observed Independence Day holiday to Monday, July 6, 2020. The annual Independence Day celebration

7



City Council Minutes
January 21,2020

events are scheduled to be held on Friday, July 3, 2020. The change will give employees a full three-day
holiday weekend.

The AirSign project is progressing. AirSign, the City and Passero Associates met in St. Augustine last
week and Passero is in the process of preparing initial design and cost information, at no cost to the City.
This information will help the City determine the size of utilities and other services required at the site
and will guide us seeking grants to cover the costs of providing them.

Ms. Wright is at a City Clerk training conference all this week.

The City has received proposed utility rates from Duke Energy through 2025. 
^ 

large rate increase is
proposed beginning in 2022. We are examining alternatives to determine our best course of action in
keeping rates to our citizens as low as we can.

Debra Jones, chair of the Planning andZoning Board, informed the Council thatP&Z sitting as the
Historic Preservation Board will be looking at ways to acknowledge aspects of the City's history through
historic markers and other means. In addition, she told the Board thatP&Z member Bob Schmidt chose
not to be re-appointed for another term, and thatP&Z had received a new application for membership
which the Council would consider later in the agenda. With those changes, theP&Z Board still needs one
more member to have all seats filled. The nextP&Z meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, January 28,2020.

RESCHEDULING A WORKSHOP FOR CITY MANAGER DUTIES

The consensus of the Council was that a workshop was not necessary. President Wininger strongly
encouraged each member of the Council to communicate individually with the City Manager to discuss
their expectations and concerns.

Council Member Goodman stated that when the compiled evaluations were discussed and accepted at a
Council meeting, that there is always an opportunity given for the evaluated person to comment and
discuss the results.

Council Member Goodman, responding to a question by Council Member Head, stated that any Council
Member wishing to discuss changes to charter officer compensation can bring it to the full Council as an
agenda item.

APPROVAL OF ORDTNANCE 674,CAM.BLIA PLAIITATTON (LAUREL OAKS) LAND USE
CHANGE _ SBCOND AI{D FINAL READING

This is the second and final reading of Ordinance 674. A public hearing was opened, and those
representing the City and the petitioner were sworn in. Ms. Gorman stated that no changes have occurred
since the first reading ofthe ordinance. She presented the original staffreport forthe record.

Johnny Sims, representing the petitioners, thanked the Council for their consideration. Council Member
Goodman expressed his concern, based on past experience, that the homeowners' association bylaws
specifically address the long-term maintenance of the subdivision, and continuation of the HOA in
perpetuity. Mr. Ken Boyer, petitioner, said that their attorney is researching HOA language to ensure that
Mr. Goodman's concerns are met. Ms. Jackie Gorman, Planning Director, told the Council that the HOA
language would be reviewed as a part of the plat review process. She said that the City Attorney and
Council would both see it before approval. Ms. Carolyn Ten Broeck, Williston Pioneer, asked what the
second use would be on the properfy, other than residential. Mr. Boyer said it would be commercial -

8



City Council Minutes
January 21,2020

some sort of service business - perhaps a coffee shop, insurance offlrce, etc., and that it would be located
along U.S. 41 on the east end of the property.

Council Member Head moved to approve Ordinance 674, seconded by Council Member Goodman, and
the ordinance was read by title only. Motion passed 4-0.

APPROVAL OF ORDTNANCE 675, CAMELTA PLANTATTON (LAUREL OAKS) ZONING
CHANGE - SECOND AND FINAL READING

This is the second and final reading of Ordinance 675. A public hearing was opened, and those
representing the City and the petitioner were sworn in. Ms. Gorman stated that no changes have occurred
since the first reading ofthe ordinance. She presented the original staffreport forthe record.

Johnny Sims again thanked the Council for their consideration.

Council Member Goodman moved to approve Ordinance 675, seconded by Council Member Ross. The
ordinance was read by title only. Motion passed 4-0.

APPROVAL OF ORDINANCE 676,WILLISTON SHOPPING CENTER PARTNERS LAND USE
CHANGE - SECOI\ÍD AND FINAL READING

This is the second and final reading of Ordinance 676. A public hearing was opened, and those
representing the City and the petitioner were sworn in. Ms. Gorman stated that no changes have occurred
since the first reading ofthe ordinance. She presented the original staffreport forthe record.

Council Member Head asked for confirmation that two separate parcels, each with a different land use,
were both being changed to Commercial. Ms. Gorman confirmed it.

Joe Schuemann, petitioner, thanked the Council for their efforts, and promised a quality development that
the City will be proud of.

Council Member Head moved to approve Ordinance 676, seconded by Council Member Goodman. The
ordinance was read by title only. Motion approved 4-0.

APPROVAL OF ORDINANCE 677,WILLISTON SHOPPING CENTER PARTNBRS ZONING
CHANGE - SECOND AND FINAL READING

This is the second and fìnal reading of Ordinance 676. A public hearing was opened, and those
representing the City and the petitioner were sworn in. Ms. Gorman stated that no changes have occurred
since the first reading ofthe ordinance. She presented the original staffreport for the record.

Council Member Head asked Heather Koons, petitioner what the use of the smaller parcel adjoining Joyce
Bullock Elementary Schoolwould be. Ms. Koons and Mr. Schuemann said they are willing to work with
any interested party to determine the final use for the parcel.

Council Member Goodman moved to approve Ordinance 677, seconded by Council Member Head. The
ordinance was read by title only. Motion approved 4-0.

9



City Council Minutes
January 21,2020

RESOLUTION 2020-02, APPOINTING MICHAEL COX TO PLANNING AND ZONTNG
BOARI)

Council Member Goodman moved to approve Resolution 2020-02 appointing Mr. Cox, seconded by
Council Member Ross. Motion passed 4-0.

RESOLUTION 2020-03, CREATTNG A BUILDING PERMIT TECHNICTAN POSITTON

Ms. Gorman told the Council that this position will handle the building permit process and business
licensing. They will be the "face of permitting" to our customers. The tech will be at the front desk and
will be able to assist customer service with answering phones, etc., when not engaged in permitting or
licensing activities.

Council Member Head asked about the stated pay scale. Ms. Gorman said that the stated pay scale
assumed a candidate who had experience and training. If the candidate does not have experience and
training, the pay scale will be lower.

Council Member Goodman clarified that the technician will be helping the customer service department
at the front desk as time allows. Ms. Gorman confirmed that they would. Council Member Goodman
also asked if Finance Director Bloom had reviewed and approved this change. Ms. Gorman said he had,
and that Mr. Bloom had prepared an appropriate budget amendment which the Council would consider
next if Resolution 2020-03 is approved. Council Member also asked Ms. Gorman to look at what the
finaljob title might be to fully describe all the varied duties of this position. Ms. Gorman agreed to look
at options.

Ms. Gorman also clarified the position will be paid entirely from additional permitting revenues and the
general fund.

Motion to approve Resolution 2020-03 by Council Member Head, seconded by Council Member
Goodman. Motion passed 4-0.

RESOLUTION 2020-04, AMENDING 2019-20 BUDGETS

Finance Director Bloom prepared budget amendments for the General and Utility Funds to accommodate
the addition of a Building Permit Technician position to Planning.

Council Member Head moved to approve Resolution 2020-04, seconded by Council Member Goodman.
Motion passed 4-0.

RESOLUTION 2O2O-05, APPROVING A CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AT RISK CONTRACT
WITH WHARTON SMITH

Mr. Dennis Davis, Wright Pierce Engineering (an engineer of record), presented a recap of information
about the phased Wastewater Treatment Plant upgrades being funded by CDBG and Springs grants. He
also introduced the concept of Construction Manager at Risk (CMAR) to the Council. CMAR is a
methodology which involves a chosen construction firm in the entire scope of a project from engineering
to project completion. The primary result of this method is that the City will receive a Guaranteed
Maximum Price (GMP) for the project which should correspond to the amount of available funding. Mr.
Davis said that the City of Gainesville has used this methodology on several wastewater projects under $2
million total cost. Gainesville undertook a full bid process which resulted in them choosing Wharton
Smith. City Attorney Koberlein has reviewed the documentation from the City of Gainesville bidding

10



City Council Minutes
January 21,2020

process and determined that the City of Williston can "piggyback" on the Gainesville contract with
Wharton Smith.

Council Member Goodman asked Ms. Caroline Bonaventura, Wharton Smith representative, if they are a
licensed general contractor. She confirmed that they are, and that they have done multiple wastewater
projects for the City of Gainesville and other jurisdictions in the state. Mr. Davis confirmed to Council
Member Goodman that all the fees and charges will be paid by grant funds, and that no out of pocket
expenses will need to be paid by the City.

Ms. Bonaventura also assured Council that the City is under no obligation to use Wharton Smith for
construction, although the City would then have to bid out the construction portion of the project to
comply with state law. She also said that if the GMP is under budget, the scope of the project can be
increased to use the full budget amount. Likewise, if the GMP is over budget, the scope can be narrowed
accordingly.

Council Member Goodman moved to approve Resolution 2020-05, seconded by Council Member Ross.
The motion passed 4-0.

REVIEW OF HUMAN RESOURCE DIRECTOR DUTIES

Council Member Goodman asked for clarifìcation regarding the role and responsibilities of the recently
created HR position. A consensus of Council agreed that they intended that the HR position would be
responsible for all day-to-day human resources functions and would report to the City Manager.

PT]BLIC PARTICIPATION

A group of Boy Scouts who are pursuing a communications badge were recognized in the audience. One
of the requirements to achieve the badge is to attend a public meeting and report on it.

Ms. Debra Jones, Council Member elect,547 NW 2nd Avenue, requested a work order to address gas

leaks at her home. She said the leaks are near the utility meter boxes on the outside wall of her house. A
work order will be issued first thing in the morning, per Mr. Lippmann. Ms. Jones also said that
reminders for the City Council meeting that appear on Twitter are showing the incorrect starting time for
the meetings. Mr. Lippmann will ask Ms. Wright to look into this and correct it.

Council Member Head also requested that Ms. Wright check the Community Calendar on the City
website to ensure that the correct meeting time is shown there as well.

Council Member Ross reported a large pothole on SW 6th Avenue which needs attention. It is possible
that it is a County maintained road. Public Works will either fix the pothole or notifu the County Road
Department as appropriate.

With no further business, Council President Wininger adjourned the meeting at7:49 p.m.

11



Date: FEBRUARY 4,2020

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM

TOPIC: DISCUSSION WITH POSSIBLE ACTION: OLD \ilINN DIXIE PROPERTY

REQUESTED BY: MAYOR ROBINSON PREPARED BY: LATRICIA }VRIGHT

BACKGROUND / DESCRIPTION:

LEGAL REVIEW:

FISCAL IMPACTS:

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve

ATTACHMENTS: X

COMMISSION ACTION:

APPROVED

DISAPPROVED

12



1O5O NE 6TH BLVD RICHARDSON PROPERTY

1050 NE 6th Blvd, Richardson Property Remains in Non Compliance

JANUARY 28,2O2O

13



1O5O NE 6TH BLVD RICHARDSON PROPERTY JANUARY 28,2020

/i
'.'':rr." . '

-*... i...¡ ï¡',,;;.f.

1050 NE 6th Blvd, Richardson Property Remains in Non Compliance

14



1O5O NE 6TH BLVD RICHARDSON PROPERTY

L050 NE 6th Blvd, Richardson Property Remains in Non Compliance.

JANUARY 28,2020

15



1.050 NE 6TH BLVD RICHARDSON PROPERW

1050 NE 6th Blvd, Richardson Property Remains in Non Compliance

JANUARY 28,2020

16



1O5O NE 6TH BLVD. RICHARDSON PROPERTY

1050 NE 6th Blvd, Richardson Property Remains in Non Compliance

JANUARY 28,2020

17



1O5O NE 6TH BLVD RICHARDSON PROPERTY

1050 NE 6th Blvd, Richardson Property Remains in Non Compliance.

JANUARY 28,2020

18



1.050 NE 6TH BLVD RICHARDSON PROPERTY

1050 NE 6th Blvd, Richardson Property Remains in Non Compliance

JANUARY 28,2O2O

19



1O5O NE 6TH BLVD RICHARDSON PROPERTY

âSr

L050 NE 6th Blvd, Richardson Property Remains in Non Compliance.

JANUARY 28,2020

20



onl¡ne.levyclerk.com/LandmarkWeb/search/index?theme=.blue&section=searchCriteriaName&quickSearchSeleclion=# 1t2

INSTR # 612791, OR BK! 1386 PG: lJ, Recorrle¡l ¡/29l20t6 J:{3 Plf
ncc: $!8.:![!]¡19¡!!!ep,Ç!glk of thc_C¡rcu¡¡ Cou¡'t.Lcr¡ FL_Dcpur].Ctcrk AISTEVES__

CITY OF WILLISTON, FLORIDA

vs.

Diane and Richard Riehardson
gr Zelma St.
Orlando, FL gzSoS

Respondent

ORDER
+

I
This CA(ISE came on for publiehearing
Chapter 46, of the City of Williston

BOARD OF ADJUSTMEI\TTS AIYD CODE ENFORCEMEÀTT
OF THE CITYOF WII.I.ISTON, FT.¡ORTDA

CaseNo. CVr+-SS

rINEflraN

Boa¡d on August t!î, zal;, pr¡rsuant to
Ordinanaes. After due notiæ to the

Respndent(s), andthe Bærd, having heard underoath, receirred aridenæ, and
heard argument of the eode enforæment or land regulations
administrator and thereupon issued its Findings and Conelusion <f LawandOrder,
u¡hieh was reduced to writing and furnished to the

Ey Order dated At¡gust LT, zet1, Respondent(s) r*as required to eorrect tle violation(s)
located at lo5o NE 6ü Blvd Williston, FL A2@6 by September 18, ao15 orbe assessd a
fine. On November 16, 2015, a Non-Compliance hearing was held bml¡se mrreetiÌre
action was not taken bythe date ordered.

At the November 16 zors hearing, evidence by the Code Enforeement Officer presented
that corrective acrion had not beentaken fortheviolation of Chapter 4Ç ArtideVII of the
City of Wiliston Code of Odinances.

In accnrd with tle Order of the Board, it is hereby imposed upon Diane and Riehard
Richardson, an administrative fine in the amount of Fifly Dollars ($5o.oo) per day,
beginning September 18, 2015, for each day the violation(s) continuds), which shall
continue to accrue daily unless and until the violation(s) is (are) cleared, commeneement
of a foreclosure action or until extinguished by law.

This Order may be recorded in the public records of Levy County, pursuant to law. Such
recording shall establish this Order as a lien against any real or personal properly owned
jointly and severally by the Respondent úþ ST*r[HÍti**

WLLISTON, FL 32696

21



'U2WZrJ20

BK: 1386PG: l{

DONE AI..ID ORDERED THIS
Florida.

J9- au, of November 2015, at Williston, Iævy County,

Landmark Web Official Records Search

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT AND CODE
ENFORCEMENT OFTHE CITY OF

7¿¡en

uJ

WTTNESS

(STATE OFFLORTDA)
(couNTr oF LEIIY)

The foregoing instrumentwas acknorvledged before me this êL¿uy

IATffiTFAISOìII'THGFIT
rvcCIr¡ssmlunsæs

ÊXPffiS: $til lt' 2017

$ìdIIuldtilorYllirl

andCode

UJu-

by Sharon B¡annan Chairperson of thg City of Williston,
Enforcement, andu¡ho being personally known to me.

Boa¡dof

ú
Public

CERTTFICATE OF SERVICE

Åi
latriciaWrigh!

online.levyclerk.com/LandmarkWeb/search/index?theme=.blue&section=searchCriteriaName&quickSearchselection=# 2t2
22



'l !¡ ,,.r,1Ì ì rr'.,. rl'1

JANUARY

FEBRUARY

MARCH

APRIL

MAY

JUNE

JULY

AUGUST

SEPTEMBER

OCTOBER

NOVEMBER

DECEMBER

20L5 2076 2017 2018 20L9 2o2oE

51,550 51,550 51,550 51,550 51,550

51,450 51,450 51,450 S1,4so

51,550 51,550 51,550 51,550

Sl,soo S1,5oo Sl,soo S1,5oo

51,550 S1,5so 51,550 51,550

S1,5oo St,soo 51,500 S1,5oo

51,550 51,550 S1,5so S1,5so

s1,550 51,550 s1,550 s1,550

650 s1,500 $1,500 s1,500 s1,500

1,550 s1,550 s1,550 $1,550 s1,550

Sl,soo S1,5oo St,soo St,soo S1,5oo

550 1,550 s S1,550550

23



Date: FEBRUARY 4,2020

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM

TOPIC: DISCUSSION WITH POSSIBLE ACTION: LIEN REDUCTION

REQUESTED BY: RICK CLOUTIER PREPARED BY: LATRICIA WRIGHT

BACKGROUND / DESCRIPTION:

LEGAL REVIEW:

F'ISCAL IMPACTS:

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve

ATTACHMENTS: X

COMMISSION ACTION:

APPROVED

DISAPPROVED

24



DANNY J. SH¡PP
LEVYCOUNTY
CLERK OF CIRCUIT COURT LEVY COUNTY
355 S. COURT STREEL BRONSON, FL32621

TO: Lien Holder
CITY OF WILLISTON
BOARD OF ADJUSTMENTS AND CODE ENFORCEMENT
50 NW MAIN STREET
WILLISTON, FL 32696

CASE NO: 2019-1655TD
NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR TAX DEED

NOTICE lS HEREBY GIVEN: FORAY INVESTMENT GROUP LLC, the holder of the following certificate has filed said certificate for
a tax deed to be issued thereon. The certificate number and year of issuance, the description of the property, and the names in
which it was assessed are as foilows:

Certlficate No.: 1656-14 Year of May 29,2014 Parcel lD: 04769-000-00

Description of Property: lssuance:

COMMENCE WHERE THE EAST LINE OF WILLIS STREET INTERSECTS ÏHÊ NORTH LINE OF WASHINGTONAVENUE
IN THE CITY OF WILLISTON, FLORIDA, RUN THENCE NORTHERLYALONG THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SAID
WILLIS STREETA DISTANCE OF 110 FEET TO ESTABLISH THE POINT OF BEGINNING, FROM SAID POINT OF
BEGINNING RUN THENCE EASTERLY PARALLEL WITH THE NORTH LINE OF WASHINGTON AVENUE, IF
WASHINGTONAVENUE BE EXTENDED EASTWARD,ADISTANCE OF 132 FEEÏ RUN THENCE NORTH 50 FEET,
PARALLEL WITH EAST LINE OF WLLIS STREET, RUN THENCE WESTERLYA DISTANCE OF 132 FEET RUN
SOUTHERLYALONG THE EAST LINE OF WILLIS STREETA DISTANCE OF 50 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEG¡NNING,
LYING AND BEING IN THE SW 1/4 OF THE SE 1/4 OF SECTION 31, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 19 EAST ALSO
BEING KNOWN AS LOT 1O OF BLOCK 3 OF CENTRAL PARK SUBDIVISION, AN UNRECORDED PLAT.

Name in which assessed.
KINCH D BONNER - ESTATE, KINCH D BONNER - ESTATE A/1IA KINCH DUANE BONNER A/I(/A KINCH BONNER

All of said property being in the County of Levy, State of Florida.

Unless said certificate shall be redeemed according to LaW the Property described in such Certificate shall be sold to the highest
bidder, in the LEVY County Courthouse in the lobby on the 9th day of December, 201 9 at 1 0:00 AM.

Dated this 1Sth day of October, 2019

DANNY J. SHIPP
Clerk of Circuit Court Levy County
LEW County, FLORIDA

By:

Melissa Allen, Deputy Clerk

WARNING!
THERE ARE UNPAID TAXES ON PROPERTY WHICH YOU OWN OR IN WHICH YOU HAVE A LEGAL INTEREST. THE
PROPERW WILL BE SOLD AT PUBLIC AUCTION ON THE 9th day of Decembe¡,2019 AT 10:00 AM UNLESS THE BACK
TAXES ARE PAID IN THE AMOUNT OF $6,580.14. TO RECEIVE FURTHER ÍNFORMATION, CONTACT THE CLERK OF THE
CIRCUIT COURT IMMEDIATELYAT 355 S. COURT STREEI BRONSON, FL32621ATTN: ÏAX DEEDS, OR CALL (352)
486-5266 X1235, orTAX COLLECTOR'S OFFICE at (352)486-5176.

PLEASE MAKE PAYMENTS PAYABLE TO:
LINDA FUGATE, TAX COLLECTOR
-Payable By Gertified Funds ONLY-

MAIL CHECK TO: DANNY J. SHIPR CLERK OF THE CIRCUIT COURT
355 S. COURT STREEI BRONSON, FL32621 ATTN: TAX DEEDS

25



lY,''' rrt
{? ,'rr,l)

l2l3Ù/?oø4 tZ:tøpn

iåi'f 8oüi?ïii.;l i:,¡i:, rrcordc of

llil|llulllruuu[ryr ffi ilrrfit I I til

ilrulll{f!|1|luJllu 
ilut I I il I I ililt ilt

Prepafed by and rcarnrta

Norm D. Fugare, r.^.b*#Pofu,rter
P. O. Box 98
wirriston, FL326s6 ?#, rye ãnd Sfrcel'
3sz-s2'_oolq W,{lrolþr ,R_ Sa6ç

t2/30/20ø4
DEED SIA]IPS

12 ¡ l0P|1
CL: CAS lo,7øH

[Space Above This Line For Recording Daø]

\ilarranfy Deed
,- ^\'lAThÍs Warranty Deed made this CU day of December,2(X)4 between Kinch D. Bonner, a married man whose post

ofäce address is l3l5l NE 75th Place, Bronson, FL32621, grantor, and Kinch D. Bonner and Geraldine Sarver, joint
tentnts with rights of survivorship whose post offìce address is 329 NE 2nd Street, Williston, FL 32696, grantee:

(Whenever used herein {he ßrms "grantor" and "granrce" include all the parties to this instrument and the hcirs, legal representatives, and assigns of
individuals, and ths successors and assigns ofcorporations, kusb and ûusteesi

Witnesseth, that said grantor, for and in consideration of the sum of TEN AND NO/100 DOLLARS (S10.00) and other
good and valuable considerations to said grântor in hand paid by said grantee, the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged,
has granted, bargained, and sold to the said grantee, and granüee's heirs and assigns forever, the following described land,
situate, lying and being in Levy County, Florida to-wit:

Commence where the Eagt line of Willis Street intersects lhe North line of Washington Avenue in the
City of Wiltiston, Floridan run thence northerly along the East right of way line of srid t#iltis Street a
distance of I l0 feet to establlsh the point of beginning, from said point of beginning run thence
easterly parallel with the North line of Washington Avenue, if Washington Avenue be extended
eastward, a distance o1 132 feet, run thence North 50 feet, parallel with East line of Willis Street, run
thence westerly a distance oÍ 132 fect, run southerly along the East line of Willis Street a distance of
50 feet to the point of beginning, lying and belng in the SW % oîthe SE % of Section 31, Township 12

South, Range 19 East, also being known ¡s Lot l0 of Block 3 of Cenaral Park Subdivision, an
unrecorded plat

Parcel ldentilication Number: 04769-000-00

Grantor warrånts that at the time of this conveyancer the subject property is not the Grantor's
homestead within the meaning set forth in the consfitution of the state of Florida, nor is it contiguous
to or a part of homestead property. Grantor's residence ¡nd homestead address is: l3l5l NE 75th
Place, Bronson, Florida 32621,

The preparer has not examined the legal description or the title to the lands conveyed and assumes
no liability therefor.

Together with all the tenements, hereditaments and appurtenances thereto belonging or in anywise appertaining

To Have and to Hold, rhe same in fee simple forever

And the grantor hereby covenants with said grantee that the grantor is lawfully seized of said land ín fee sirnple; that the

granror has good right and lawful authority to sell and convey said land: that the grantor hereby fully warrants the title to said

land and will defend the same against the lawful claims of all persons whomsoever; and that said land is free of all
encumbrances, except taxes accruing subsequent to December 3l' 2004.

In Witness lVhereof, grantor has hereunto set grantor's ha¡rd and seal the day and year fìrst above written.

]
SiXred, sealed and delivered in our presence

^
26



The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this þ day of December, 2004 by Kinch D Bonner, who [-] is
personally known or [X] has produced a drive/s license as idenlification. ,,

G[r"- fi\*¡à.'.,

State of Florida
County of Levy

[Notary Seall Notary Public

Printed N¿me: \-*r-r î\\t^",4*-,,
My Commission Expires:

Ç

%'̂+;bt
w

Nolory Publb - Stolo ot

Comrnb¡þn # OD 3t37ú4
SÖncl€d 8y a.¡oüonol Notory Arsn.

2G

27



BOARD OFAÐJUSTIVIENTS ArrIÐ COÐtr ENFORCElVIENT
OF THE Cru]' OF \,VTLLTSTON. FT,CIRiD}\

CITY OF \AILLISTON, FLOzuDA

Case No. c'|17-15

oxlotqnÐg
: ).'q¡ C: aã3
-i,-!D
eÈfr*
€ ö!s
r:!lE
Ë B{N
g ä4,
qg
o
õ-
,*
rl
o:.ô
A)

7oô
t;
I
ulo

U
(D
Ë
q
o
o*
ID

a
U)

vs.

Geraldine Sarver
S1o NWzgúAve.
Gainesville,FL 326o9

Certificate of SecretarY
I hereb y certify that this ls a

true and correct copy ol the ori inal
Ftnt-l'll"*-n

Respondent åse
City

La ht

or{.DERIivf posr1\IGA_Div{fÀtrsTRATTl,EFrNE/LIA\

This CAUSE came on for public hearing before the Board on Novembet 2T, zoLT, pursuant
to Chapter 46, of the City of Williston Code of Ordinances. Æter due notice to the
Respondent(s), and the Board, having heard testimony under oath, received evidence, and
heard argument of the code enforcement officer or land development regulations
administrator and thereupon issued its Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Lawand Ordeç
which was reducedto writing and fumishedto the Respondent.

By Order dated JuIy 2,4, z'atT Respondent(s) was required to correct the violation(s)
located at 329 NE z"d St. Williston, FL 32696 by August 25, zotT or be assessed a fine.
On November 27, e,a17, a Non-Compliance hearing was held because corrective action
was not taken by the date ordered.

At the November zT, z,cr7 hearing evidence by the Code Enforcement Officer presented
that corrective action had not been taken for the violation of Chapter 46, Article VII of the
CiWof Williston Code of Ordinances.

In accord with the Order of the Board, it is hereby imposed upon Geraldine Sarver, an
administrative fine in the amount of Fifty o) per da¡ plus Administrative
fee in the amount of $z5o.oo beginning 2o17, for each day the
violation(s) continue(s), whieh shall continue to acerue daily unless and until the
violation(s ) is (are) cieared, commencement of a forecioflue aetioa or until extÍnguished
by law.

uted th a rman of t
e Enforceme

28



This Order may be recorded in the public records of Levy County, pursuant to law Such
recording shall establish this Order as a lien against any real or personal property orn¡red
jointly and severally by the Respondent.

DONE AND ORDERED THIS qlh day of November zot7, at Williston, Levy County,
Florida.

BOARD OF ADJIJSTMENT AND CODE
OF THE CITY OF

î-

i..

,4.*t ,.d' '
| <'ç(- (/ 

-

,,,'i"i;r^
i

¡Jt*í)ê- f¡

WITNESS

'ffi
LATRICIA FAISON WRIGHT

MY COMMISSION # GG087824

EXPIRËS APril2l '2Q21

(STATE OF FLORTDA)
(couNTr oF LEr¡Ð

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this z7úday of Novembet zoíT,
by Sharon Brannan Chairperson of the Cþ of Williston, Board of Adjustment and Code
Enforcement, and who being personally knorrrn to me.

irtt Lf'

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a kue and correct copy of the above and foregoing Order
Imposing Administrative Fine/Lien has been furnished by certified mail to the
Respondent(s), Geraldíne Sarver 51o NIW 29th Ave. Gainesville, FL gz6o9 this zTth day of
November zorT

u""
Public

rì

Board Secretary

29



JANUARY

FEBRUARY

MARCH

APRIL

MAY

JUNE

JULY

AUGUST

SEPTEMBER

OCTOBER

NOVEMBER

DECEMBER

20L7 2078 2019 2o2oE

51,550 S1,s5o 51,550

St,4so 51,450

51,550 S1,s5o

S1,5oo S1,5oo

51,550 51,550

s1,500 s1,5oo

$1,5s0 51,550

51,550 S1,s5o

$1,500 s1,5oo

3oo St,55o 51,550

$1,500 $1,500 S1,5oo

51,550 S

30



BONNER PROPERTY

NOVEMBER 22,2019

31



329 NE 2ND STREEET BONNER PROPERTY NOVEMBER 22,2OL9

32



329 NE 2ND STREEET BONNER PROPERW NOVEMBER 22,2OL9

33



329 NE 2ND STREEET BONNER PROPERW NOVEMBER 22,2OL9

34



329 NE 2ND STREEET BONNER PROPERTY NO\IEMBER 22,20T9

35



CLOUTIER PROPERTY

(FORMERLY BONNER)

JANUARY 3,2020

36



329 NE zND ST cLouTtER PROPERW (FORMERLY BONNER) JANUARY 3,2O2O

37



329 NE 2ND STREET cLouTrER PROPERTY(FORMERLY BONNER) JANUARY 29,2020

'i't

38



329 NE zND STREET cLoUTtERPROPERTY(FORMERLYBONNER) JANUARY29,2020

¡t¡
att
ttt

ll rtl

39



329 NE 2ND STREET cLoUTtERPROPERTY(FORMERLYBONNER) JANUARY29,2020

40



Date: February 4,2020

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM

AGENDA ITEM: REVIEW OF FY2019 FINANCIAL REPORT (UNAUDITED)

REQUESTED BY: FINANCE DIRECTOR PREPARED BY: FINANCE DIRECTOR

BACKGROUND / DESCRIPTION: Enclosed in this agenda item is the FY2019 unaudited

financial report. Also included (before the financial report) are PowerPoint slides. These slides

are designed to provide a high-level overview of the City's current financial position.

lncluded in the financial report is the following information:

. Balance Sheet for all Funds - (Page 1)

. Summary of Yearto-date Fund Statements - (Pages 2 - 12)

LEGAL: REVIEW: N/A

FISCAL IMPACTS: N/A

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Acceptance of FY2019 Financial Report

ArrAcHMENrs: !corurnncr flnrsoluÏoN I x lorHen

couNcrL AcTroN: ! neenovro I orsneeRovED

41



CITYOFWILLISTON, FL

SEPTEMBER 2019

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Meeting Date: February 4, 2020

GENERAL FUND

Overview
tu t: &wnú-. totaùd¡dCdhbd

itt É!YID Yrc Vådånce % ofAnnud
Kéy Fèdomdncèlndlcôtor 

^dudÈ 
Eudgèt Fåv {uhFåv) Budgêt Pèfomdæ

Rov6¡uè/qhersowceE 52,s.5& 62,s8,302 !ll,27s 1æ.4% O
E&ehd¡uÞs /Oh6r Uæ6 ¡2,SS.557 S,ø5,237 *,681 S8.a% ø
cunêdY€.¡suDl6/(oèrcñ) (S6.9761 (!146s5) ôS,9S S.2% O
Avaiåblo R..6û66 $7s1,751 87Æj22 S,6æ 2s.2'Á O

'îür i ri J¡ r
ix¿¡t tu* tbd6! ir:tã tìt' t¡¡"r

Financial Highlights
> PropertyTaxes-99.3%Collected.

> Unanlic¡patedExpend¡lures¡nclude:
. Pay-out for rellred Police offìcer,
. Holidayovert¡me pay,
. Legal invoices,
. Fire Sãlaries-

chú2 ãpffiË.tdkgdSFnt

r il i l.riirl¡
:tr reF !în t&l to.. frr !u* L{!dt

càd¡ àrJ.t

a3€bkra?n rlMierarft at¡ftl

A
C¡ty of W¡ll¡ston, Florida - September 2019 Financial Report

42



AIRPORT FUND

YD YIO V¡i¡¡æ % olAnnú.t
Xèy Peloñ¿¡cêlndlcålor Añá1. BudCèt Fåv (UñFãv) Eudoèr Pedômræ

Revénu6/ahdsolre6 $2,24&N ¡2,49,6S (5136,315) 92.3% A
EÞèndtoßs/ft€rusèc 52,!7,291 t2,il2]22 t1Ë,41 92,3% O
cur6dYe¿rsuPtu¡/(oêrd) (Ss.2541 ($1078æ) $8,615 92.0* ø
Av¡il.bk Rè.d€6 321,020 gl4,4s (53s3.416) 1.31 a

Overview Cll¡nS: ¡¡çoÉFd.FhdB¡bm

Financial Highlights
> Year wer year fuel sales increased by .7% or $7.3K.

> All otheroperating revenue ¡ncreased by6yo or$18.8K.

> $806.8Kin airport ¡mprwements. Of that 99.8olo was reimbußed by grants.

> Traclor purchased - $90.5K

> Unantic¡patedexpend¡tures:
. Ground Power LJnit
. C¡ty Malchon Bulk Hangar Project

ti4*3

Chd* lovd6 -%dMgdcold

I
l,t 91' !1;

¡w I
a:rbr _¿r[à ari*É i¡B! at: rr

¿\
C¡ty of Williston, Florida

v
September 2019 Financial Report

CRA FUND

Overview

v1Ð YD
K6t Pêlomancêlndicátor Aclud6 Budgêl Fáv {UnFav) Budgêl Pefomfr@

Revenu. / qbr Sourcês

EþendloæE/oher U6é6

cuned Y€ar Sunl6 /(Oèrct)

æ2241A

Ëæ,4æ

15141,031 )

s26,S7

$210,4il

567q374

(950,410)

s167,719

111,99

$07,3ñ

s19,3æ

5is,879

105.10Â

il.24

30,6%

aa,7%

o
ø
ø
ø

Financial Hiqhlights
> Counly dislribul¡on oftax revenue was $131.1K.

> S293.3Kin capilal spendingfor Heritage Park and Veteran's Memorial.

City of Williston, Flor¡da September 20 I 9 F¡nancial Report

2
43



UTILITY FUND

Overview

Yrc Yrc Va¡ide f ofAn¡ual
K.y Pêlomånce lndlcãror Actualô Budgel Fav (UnFav) Brdgêr Pêúomance

EÞÈhdtorè6 /dhe¡ UæB

cumnl Yeil sual6 / (Def cil)

s.95,312

$16s,24s

(q4,934)

s3,015,92

s,6s,ss
s,gt,s
(s51 0m)

$1,127,123

(95.673)

s1,745

$s6,6
sl,s9 220

99.2%

u.2%

Ð,44

a
o
a
o

Chan 5: Rovsue - % otBudget Collæted

l2A% q% 1O4)i 91L 1O0%

î' rt tür; i
iolid Seçe7 lniYèsl

Utillv W¿s1d U¡ilûy iñc!,ìe

aSelcwTrrs.r aóo.r:Ì¡rg.t lï¿¡ÃetFinancial Highlights
> Wthout an $timated $418.0 thousand of depreciation expense (non-cash

transaction) wh¡ch was recorded, the fund would have generated a sumlus of $373.0
thousand for the flscal year.

> Electric and water services had a posit¡ve operat¡ng income. Only electric had a
positive net income affer subtracting the allocalion of the transfer to lhe General
Fund and CIP Fund. [See chart on next slide for more details]

C¡ty of W¡ll¡sron, Florida September 20 I 9 Financial Report

UTILITY FUND

Breakdown by Utility Service

Eloctr¡c GâB Watsr
sdtd

Wast6 S€wêr Tdal
Chú É t lfiy Furxl - Opfd¡ûg ¡l ilatlßom.

by Sav-e ¡ype
Operatlng Rov6nuð

S€wi@ Charges
Other

3,524.5 424.8 498.1 559.6 574.7 5,581.8
3a.7 4.? 5.5 6.1 6.3 61.3

fcr¡

Ltæ.m
m,m
Ð,m
/m.m
ø,W
s,m
4.@
3@,m
¿m,m
1æ,m

Opdatlng Exp€n6o8
Dêpartmont Costs
Administmt¡ve Alloc
D€precìal¡on

2,572.4 444.6 337,7 547.7 474.1 4.376.5
130.9 15.8 18.5 20.8 21.3 207.2
89.5 48.8 t3't.7 - 146.5 416,5

fotâl 2,792-7 509.2 487.9 568.5 642,0 5,000.2

Op{¡tlnC lncm. n¡Â f,9.7\ 15.7 12.71 t60.91 u2.8

Non-operâting ¡ncomê / (erpens$)
t1æ.om)

!2æ¡ül
{3ærm)

¡hterest inæme
Transfer to GF / CIP

1.4 0,2 0,2 0,2 0,2 2,2
(218.6) (78.0) (211.1) (29.1) i153.2) (6s0.0)

Total (217.2) (17.9) (210.9) (28.9) (153.0) (687.8)

553.2 (1s7.6) (rgs.rì (31.6) (213.9) {44.9}NEt lncme
tþcti. Ger Wáter 9[d kwe.

Wáste

lope6loglncome gNêt,ncome

Ciry of Williston, Florida September 2019 Financial Report

3
44



CAPITAL PROJECTS / SPENDING

Crr¡tâl
fudgct8d Amount
Amor¡nt Spcl* to ttåtê Variâncê Fundng Sourct

GcrFral Fund
gS Mapp¡ng S 7.500

LOC update 41.000

Cmpe¡at¡wParlrErslipGEnt-Phasefl 40.000

Afùmal Shdler 10.870

PoliceDeptBr¡ld¡rg Repa¡6 8.900

vetÌctePmhass f0ã.000

StreetlmpoEmerls 45.600

Wab6lFd lvamgere¡lPlan 20.500

Park lm powmenb 7 .79
Pol¡ceElidæe Rehab Proþct f ¿-976

PoficegodycmeË Upgrade 26-12õ

Equpm€nt 9.âSg

Bui,d¡fg Pm¡tModuþ (AÐG) 10.000
SrJtbúr, 3.d,Om

$ r,594 $

39.¿24

40.000

11.870

¿.900

51.990

45-44e

13-829

7.7ãO

14.976

25-125

8.011

5306
'î.580

Fmd Balame {ffieffi)
Fsld Balæe {æseres}
Grari

Fúd Baläæe (€æres)
Füd Balame(ææs)
Futd Satamefl ßwame / Omtim
FudBalaæe(ffirc)
Fuxl Balame(ffieres) / Gmnt

FuÍt Balæe (Ëseffi)
JAG gËrt

JAG gãft
Fmd EalaEe (ßæm)l GÊrÊ

F$dBalane{æffi)

(r 000)

5331û

7 471

1.888

9.670

277;rt2
330

t ,2{

.l\
City of Williston, Florida

v September 201 9 Financial Report

CAPITAL PROJECTS / SPENDING

Budgeted Amouñl
Spest to DateCapibl Purchase Amou¡t Varlâncè Fundinq Source

t filitv Furd
Sewer lrprwerents
Bücl€t Truck

Exca\¡alor

2t19Fotd250
Rad¡o/ Charg€rs

Rotary CLûer

Air Bùners
Expansim Bearirqs I Shafis

Hydr(mtc Sub Punp
Software Purciase

700,000 '19.403

193,n4
53,206

24,ßõ
9,772

20,097

28,000

24,138

13,680

r3,561

680.598
(%,n4,

16,794

5.634
(s,772j

5,903

Retained EamrEs (rærc) I Grant

Retained Eamings iræffi)
Re{ained Eamings ûæñ,es}
Rdained Eamings (reæffi)
Grant

Re¡ained Earn¡ngs (reserves)

Reta¡ned EanúrEs (reserves)

Reta¡ned Eam¡rqs {resen€s}
Retained Eamirqs (res€ffi )
Relâined Earnings (reæffi )

70,000

30,000

26.000

28,000

22,500

(24,138)

(13,680)

8.939
Subaotal 876,9n 399,995 8A$5

City of Williston, Florida September 20 I 9 Financial Repon

4
45



Gity of Williston

Financial Report
September 30, 2019

(unaudited)

46



Table of Contents

Balance Sheet - All Funds

Summary of Revenues and Expenditures / Expenses

GeneralFund ...

Airport Fund ...

CRA Fund

Utility Fund - All Services.........

Admínstration ......

Electric Services

Gas Servíces ......

Water Services

Waste Collection

Sewer Services

Capital lmprovement Program (ClP) Fund

Page #

2

3

4

5

o

7

I
I
10

11

12

1

47



Report Page # 1

Balance Sheet - All Funds

September 30, 2019

Description
General

Fund
A¡rport
Fund

CRA
Fund

Util¡ty
Fund

ctP
Fund Total

ASSEfS

Petty Cash

Cash & Cash Equ¡valents

lnvestments

Accounts Receivable

Note Receivable

Due from Other Funds

Due from Other Governmental Units

Prepaid Expenses

lnventory

Net Pension Assets

$ 500 $

992,91 3

8,844
'11,790

7't,474

123,871

100 $

25,455

56,893

20,836

14,799

32,272

$ 200$
3,383,257

359,233

845,675

(1,188,200)

45,101

800

3,515,937

368,077

9l 4,358

71,474

225,552

1 89,809

14,799

283,712

248,202

$

302,512

27,477 198,075

251,440

248,202
Net Assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOW OF RESOURCES

Pension Related - Defered Outflow

7 817 7 17

AL ASSETS 1 1 1

64,043 $

74,209

20

49,341 $

5,264

2,072

7't,474

5,633

2,521 $

871

4

250,228 $

15,943

18,001

64,212

3'1,530 $

219

252

LIABILITES

Accounts Payable

Accrued Expenses

Sales Tax Payable

Payroll Liabilities

Other Liabilities

Due to other Funds

Due to Other Govemmental Units

Deposits

City Hall Loan

Notes Payable

Deferred Revenue

Power Cost Adjustment - Electric

$

6,140

225,236

15,836

316

547

293,303

1,245,540

132,914

397,662

96,505

20,093

64,212

6,140

225,552

547

293,303

1,245,540

71,474

21,470

132,914

RESOURCES 252

Accum Absences/ OPEB

DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES

Pension Related - Deferred lnflow

990

TOTAL LIABILITIES 311

DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES

FUND BALANCES
Reserve for:

Law Enforcement

Community Redevelopment

Unreserved, Reported in:

General Fund

Special Revenue Airport

Capital lmprovement Fund

1,595

822,313

326,597

I,595

326,597

822,313

r 6,570

(1,174,847)

r 6,570

0l
('t,174,847)

11 010 589Fund 11

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 908 1 1 1'l1 I

TOTAL L]ABILITIES & FUND BALANCES 1,209,393 150,354 329,989 12,978,899 (1,143,098) 13,525,s37

48



Report Page # 2

General Fund - Summary of Revenues and Expenditures

(100% Yr Complete)

Description
Amended

Budget

September 30, 2019

Year to Date
Actual

Variance
Fav (unfav)

olo of
BudEet

PRIOR YEAR

Yearto Date Variance
Sep-18 Fav (unfav)

REVENUES

Locally Levied Taxes

Public Service Taxes

Franchise Fees

lntergovemmental Revenues

Fines & Forfeitures

License & Permits

Miscellaneous

lnterest lncome

Grant

Non-Operating

Use of Fund Balance

$ 1,061,946 $

362,000

95,230

538,622

19,035

68,550

23,800

't2,000

4,250

712,869

't,131,788 $

373,899

78,049

489,511

9,678

83,423

43,225

1,081

3,850

695,078

69,842

11,899

(1 7,1 81 )

(4e,1 1 1)

(9,357)

14,873

19,425

(10,e1s)

(400)

(17,7s1)

106.6%

103.3%

82.0%

90.9%

50.8%

121.7%

'181.60/o

9.0o/o

90.6%

97.5o/o

0.0%

$ 978,878

337,1 96

93,128

524,445

13,801

64,223

26,927

2,494

19,244

690,537

1 52,910

36,703

(r 5,079)

(34,e35)

(4,',t23)

19,200

1 6,298

(1,413)

(r 5,3e4)

4,541

935

37,632

66,000

283,255

75,799

24,142

1,152,592

223,840

55,281

594,1 55

338,01 9

11,877

8,082

13,300

36,849

55,241

307,793

34,955

68,920

1,171,928

222,72'l

53,294

592,533

325,157

10,123

6,794

15,273

783

10,759

(24,538)

40,844

(44,778)

(1 e,336)

1,119

1,987

'1,622

12,862

1,754

1,288

(1,s73)

97.9%

83.7%

108.7olo

46j%
285.5%

101.7%

99.5%

96.4%

99.7o/o

96.2%

85.2%

84.1%

114.8%

58.9%

30,888

38,827

328,533

64,806

30,439

1,O13,231

228,216

54,291

521,977

311,174

19,412

6,759

12,942

(5,96r )

(16,415)

20,740

29,851

(38,480)

(1 58,697)

5,495

997

(70,557)

(r 3,e82)

9,289

(36)

(2,331)

2,750,872 158.708

EXPENSES

Total City Council

ïotal Legal Services

Total Administration

Total Planning & Zoning

Total Building Permits

Total Police Department

Total Police Communications

Total Health/Animal Control

Total Fire Department

Total Public Works

Total Recreation / Athlet¡cs

Total Library Department

Total Special Events

237 580 95.5%TOTAL REVENUES

Total 161 263 975

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 557 98.40/, 168724

31

REVENUES OVER IUNDERI EXPENDITURES S s 186.976) $ t86.976) nla $ (318,852) $ 231,876

49



Report Page # 3

Airport Fund - Summary of Revenues and Expend¡tures

September 30, 2019

(100% Yr Gomplete)

PRIOR YEAR

Yearto Date Variance
Descriotion

Adopted
Budqet

Year to Date
Actual

Variance
Fav (unfav)

olo ol
Budqet Sep-18 Fav (unfav)

REVENUES

Operating Revenue

lnterest lncome

Other Miscellaneous lncome

Use of Fund Balance

$ 1,545,785 $ r,437,460 $ (108,325)

r,600 740 (860)

20,360 12,892 (7,468)

93.0%

46.2o/o

63.3%

O.Oo/o

1,406,419

772

17,801

31,042

(32)

(4,909)

AL REVENUES 1 4 1 86.6%

't07 869

264,829

1,302,916

205,864

1,235,582

107

58,965

67,334

77.7%

94.8o/o

0.0o/o

202,292

1,252,242

(3,572)

16,660

1,424,992 26.'100

EXPENSES

Personal Services

Operating Expenditures

17 17 869

1,454.534 13,088EXPENSES 168 90.9%1 1 1

OPER.ATING REVENUES OVER EXPENSI 1O.7olo Q9.542t 39.188

NON.OPERATTNG REVENUE (EXPENSES)

Capital lmprovements - (Grants)

JPA Revenue (Grants)

(867, I 08)

867,'1 08

(806,798)

796,946

60,310

(7o,162)

93.0%

91.9o/o

110.1%

(762,433)

762,432

(44,365)

34,5',14

AL NON.OPERATING REVENUES '121.Ùvo

TOTAL REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENSES 199.254) (99,254) nla $ 129.543ì $ t69.711)

50



Report Page # 4

CRA Fund - Summary of Revenues and Expenditures

September 30, 2019

(100% Yr Complete)

Descriotion

PRIOR YEAR

Yearto Date VarianceAnnual Year to Date
Actual

Variance
Fav (unfav)

olo of
Budqet Sep-18 Fav (unfav)

REVENUES

Tax lncremental Revenue - City

Tax lncremental Revenue - County

lnterest lncome

$ 85,424 $

124,840

200

91,068 $

131,137

213

5,644

6,297

.î3

106.6%

105.0%

106.7Vo

0.0%

$ 81,322

124,840

.190

9,746

6,298

23

Other Sources

EXPENDITURES

Personal Serv¡ces

Operating Expend¡tures

Capital Outlay

10

64,874

86,852

509,148

50,597

1 9,573

293,330

14,277

67,279

215,8'18

78.0%

22.5o/o

57.6%

0.0%

62,537

49,936

25,000

1 1,940

30,363

(268,330)

206.352 16.066AL REVENUES I 33.2ô/o

000 125125

307 54.2o/oEXPENDITURES

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES $ $ (14r,081) s Í4r,081) nla $ 62.755 s t203.836ì

51



Report Page # 5

Ut¡l¡ty Fund (All Services) - Summary of Revenues and Expenses

September 30, 2019

(100% Yr Complete)

Descriotion

PRIOR YEAR

Yearto Date VarianceAnnual
Budqet

Year to Date
Actual

Variance
Fav (unfav)

o/o of
Budqet Sep-18 Fav (unfav)

REVENUES

Electric Utility

Gas Utility

Water Utility

Solid Waste lncome

Sewer Utility

lnterest lncome

Other Miscellaneous lncome

Grant Revenue

$ 3,746,935 $

285,465

447,704

559,550

539,709

15,000

96,627

3,524,457

424,805

498,r 39

559,645

574,749

2,240

61,277

$ (222,478)

1 39,340

50,435

95

35,040

(12,760)

(35,350)

94.1%

148.8%

111.3o/o

100.0%

106.5%

14.9%

63.4o/o

nla

$ 3,669,335

431,591

456,470

522,206

542,585

13,087

87,959

Jb

$ (144,878)

(6,786)

41,669

37,439

32,165

(1 0,847)

(26,683)

TOTAL REVENUES 2 93.4%

EXPENSES

Total Administration Department

Total Electr¡c Department

Total Gas Department

Total Water Department

Total Solid Waste Department

Total Sewer Collection / Treatment

I 93,066

3,298,68r

630,553

690,729

593,739

207,247

2,880,486

57'1,447

680,432

576,814

(14,181)

41 8,1 95

59, 1 06

10,297

16,925

107.3%

87.3%

90.6%

98.5o/o

97 .10/o

121.8o/o

175,205

2,983,798

608,689

737,285

600,466

(32,042)

1 03,31 1

37,242

56,853

23,652

222 '18

742EXPÊNSES 990 94.2o/o351 745

REVENUES OVER (UNOER) EXPENSES $ $ (¿14,934) $ (44,934) nla $ (2r9.102) S 174.169

52



Report Page # 6

Ut¡l¡tv Fund (Admin) - Summarv of Revenues and Expenses

(100% Yr Complete)

DescriDt¡on

September 30, 2019

Year to Date
Actual

PRIORYEAR

Yearto Date VarianceAnnual
Budset

Variance
Fav (unfav)

%of
Budqet Sep.18 Fav (unfav)

REVENUES

Other Miscellaneous lncome

lnterest lncome

Use of Retained

EXPENSES

$ 96,627 $

15,000

17

61,277 $

2,240

(35,350)

(1 2,760)

7

63.4o/o

14.9o/o

0.0%

$ 87,959 $

13,087

(26,683)

(10,847)

101.047 (37.5301REVENUES 49.2o/o127 7

066 207 7 181 1O7.3o/r

AL EXPENSES 'l 207 181 107

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENSES (63,939) $ fi43,731) $ 09.792) 225% $ t74.159) s 169.572)

53



Report Page # 7

Ut¡l¡tv Fund lElectric Services) - Summa of Revenues and Expenses

September 30, 2019

(100% Yr Complete)

Descriotion

PRIORYEAR

Yearto Date VarianceAnnual
Budqet

Year to Date
Actual

Variance
Fav (unfav)

Yo of
Budqet Sep-18 Fav (unfav)

REVENUES

Electric Utility

Electric Utility - Power Cost Adj

New Electric Service

Electric Overhead / Underground

$ 1,415,073 $ 1,336,359 $

2,326,862 2,183,447

4,000 360

'1,000 4,291

(78,714)

(143,415)

(3,640)

3,291

94.4%

93.8%

9.0%

429.1%

0.Ao/o

$ 1,380,850 $

2,280,206

780

7,500

(44,491)

(96,759)

(420)

(3,209)

Use of Retained

EXPENSES

Personal Services

Operating Expenditures

77 875

383,069

2,619,128

270,434

2,391,443

112,635

227.685

70.6%

91.3%

73.7o/o

282,594

2,482,594

12,160

91 ,1 51

3,669,335 ß44,8781AL REVENUES 92.1olo

296 21 609 77 875 21

1798 141 195 873%TOTAL EXPENSES

REVENUES OVER EXPENSES 129 971 117 1 $ 685,s38 $ (4r,567)

54



Report Page # I

Ut¡l¡ty Fund (Gas Services) - Summary of Revenues and Expenses

September 30, 2019

(100% Yr Complete)

Descri Dtion
Annual Year to Date

Actual
Variance

Fav lunfav)

o/o oÍ
Budqet

PR]ORYEAR

Yearto Date Variance
Sep-18 Fav (unfav)

REVENUES

Gas Util¡ty

Gas Meter Connection/Reconnection

New Gas Service

Use of Retained

EXPENSES

Personal Services

Operating Expenditures

$ 283,965 $

I,000

500

875

201,708

225,935

422,995 g

1,5'1 0

300

197,472

295,940

1 39,030

510

(200)

4,236

(70,005)

149.0o/o

151.0o/o

60.0%

0.0%

97.9V0

131.0o/o

38.5o/o

$ 423,058 $

2,164

6,369

179,582

351,072

(63)

(6s4)

(6,06e)

(r 7,890)

55,131

43'1,591 f6.786)TOTAL REVENUES 103.5%1

0 035 1 035

571 106 90.6%EXPENSES

OVER EXPENSES 1 $ fl77,09il $ 30,455

55



Report Page # 9

Ut¡l¡ty Fund (Water Services) - Summary of Revenues and Expenses

September 30, 2019

(100% Yr Complete)

Annual Yearto Date Variance % ot
Descr¡pt¡on Budget Actua! Fav (unfav) Budget

PRIORYEAR

Year to Date
sep.18

Variance
Fav (unfav)

REVENUES

Water Utility

Water Meter Connection/Reconn

New Water Service

$ 436,704 $

6,000

5,000

490,639 $

4,440

3,060

53,935

(1,560)

(1,e40)

112.4%

74.0%

61.2o/o

0.0%

$ 446,130 $

4,220

6,120

44,509

(3,060)

220

Use of Retained

EXPENSES

Personal Services

Operating Expenditures

Debt Service

456.470 41.669

192,049

123,407

66,332

177,666

289,173

2,527

14,383

(165,766)

63,805

92.5o/o

234.3%

3.8o/o

68.3%

154,046

366,311

5,861

(23,620)

77,138

3,334

TOTAL REVENUES 139 91.3o/o

211 97 211

729 98.5%AL EXPENSES

OVER EXPENSES 1 s 1280.815ì s 98.522

56



Report Page # 10

Ut¡¡¡tv Fund lWaste Gollection) - Sum of Revenues and Expenses

(100% Yr Complete)

Description

September 30, 2019

Year to Date
Actual

PRIOR YEAR

Year to Date VarianceAnnual
Budget

Variance
Fav (unfav)

olo o1

Budqet Sep.l8 Fav (unfav)

REVENUES

Solid Waste lncome 559,550 $ 559

18,466

546,173

$ 95

(3,277)

20,202

100.0o/o

117 .7o/o

96.3%

1O0.0o/o

206 37

EXPENSES

Personal Services

Operating Expenditures

21,743

525,971

10,578

560,789

(11,166)

34,818

95 100.0%TOTAL REVENUES

100 '100 100

AL EXPENSES 739 'l 31

REVENUESOVER(UNDER)EXPENSES $ (34,189) $ (17,169) $ 17,020 50o/o $ f78.260) $ 61.091

57



ReportPage#11

ur¡t¡ Fund Sewer Services - Summa of Revenues and E nses

September 30, 2019

(100% Yr Complete)

Annual

PRIORYEAR

Year to Date Variance
Descriotion

Year to Date
Actual

Variance
Fav (unfav)

%o1
Budqet Sep-18 Fav (unfav)

REVENUES

Sewer Utility

Sewer Connection

Use of Retained Earnings

Grant Revenue

$ 534,709 $

5,000

32,875

570,549 $

4,200

35,840

(800)

(32,875)

106.7o/o

84.0o/o

0.0o/o

nla

$ 536,585 $

6,000

33,965

(1,800)

406

TOTAL REVENUES 572,584 574,749 2,165 100.4% 578,991 (4,2421

EXPENSES

Sewer Gollection

Personal Services

Operating Expenditures

Sewer Treatment

Personal Services

Operating Expenditures

Non-Departmental

Transfer To General Fund

Transfer to Capital lmprovement Fund

131,137 139,162 (8,025) 106.1%

68,681 '151,277 (82,596) 220.3%

Total Sewer Collectíon 199,818 290,440 (90,622) 145.4o/o 398,877 108,437

71,008

327,869

(68, r 54)

1 76,59 1

1 33,559

115,779

I 38,506

r 91 ,683

(4,s47)

(75,904)

103.7o/o

165.60/o

98,073

223,160

(40,433)

31,477

Total Sewer Treatment 249.338 330.1 89 (80,85r) 132.4% 321,233 (8,956)

153,191

32,875

1 53,1 90 1

32,875

100.0%

O.lYo

153,190

Total Sewer Collection 186.066 I 53.190 32,476 823% I 53,190

TOTAL EXPENSES 635.222 773.818 f138.596t 121.8% 873,299 99,481

REVENUESOVER(UNDER)EXPENSES $ (62,638) $ (199,069) $ (136,431) 317.8% $ (294,309) $ 95.239

58



Report Page # 12

CIP Fund - Summary of Revenues and Expenses

September 30, 2019

(100% Yr Complete)

Descriotion

PRIORYEAR

Year to Date VarianceAmended Year to Date
Actual

Variance
Fav (unfavì

%of
Budqet Sep-18 Fav (unfav)

REVENUES

Grant Revenue - CDGB

Grant Revenue - USDA

lnsurancæ Reimbursement

Donations

Transfer From General Fund

Transfer From Utility Fund

Use of Fund Balance

$ 700,000 $

84,500

'15,135

5,000

64,750

35 1,000

5,000

76,688

15,135

5,000

0.7o/o

90.8%

100.0%

100.0%

0.0%

0.0%

o.oo/

31 l,013

312,113

5,000

(2s4,324)

1 5,1 35

5,000

(312,113)

$ (695,000)

(7,812\

(64,750)

(351,000)

$

AL REVENUES 7.3To1 101 1

177 635

15,000

8,900

'10,870

81,000

1 35,000

50,000

32,500

124,000

82,000

10,000

7,750

700,000

45,500

20,500

1,594

758,122

8,900

11,870

79,420

76,356

48,112

23,230

342,666

7,750

19,403

45,448

1 3,029

77

r 3,406

(758,122)

(1,000)

1,580

58,644

1,888

9,270

(2r 8,666)

82,000

10,000

680,598

7,471

10.6o/o

nla

'100.0%

109.2%

98.0%

56.6%

96.2%

71.5%

276.3o/o

0.0%

0.0o/o

100.0%

2.8o/o

99.9%

63.6%

0.0%

5,000

506,733

86,865

7,595

(e4)

(758,122)

(8,900)

(6,870)

(7s,420)

430,377

38,753

(23,230)

(342,666)

(7,750)

(19,403)

(45,448)

(5,434)

623,125 r.521,3021

1,500

EXPENDITURES

GIS Mapping

City Hall lmprovements

Police Building lmprovements

Animal Shelter

City Planning Projects

Vehicle Purchases

Equipment Purchases

Software Purchases

Heavy Equipment Purchases

Meter Replacement Program

Fire Hydrant / Emergency Safety Program

Park lmprovements

Sewer lmprovements

Street lmprovements

Stormwater lmprovements

Gas lm 000

TOTAL EXPEND]TURES 020 1 102.7% 607.694 1828.206ì

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES $ $ (r,334,077) $ (1,334,077) nla $ rs,43r $ fi,349,508)

59



Date: February 4,2020

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM

AGENDA ITEM: REVIEW OF DECEMBER 2019 FINANCIAL REPORT

REQUESTED BY: FINANCE DIRECTOR PREPARED BY: FINANCE DIRECTOR

BACKGROUND / DESCRIPTION: Enclosed in this agenda item is the December 2019 YTD

financial report. Also included (before the financial reports) are PowerPoint slides. These

slides are designed to provide a high-level overview of the City's current financial position.

lncluded in the financial report is the following information:

. Balance Sheet for all Funds - (Page 1)

. Summary of Year-to-date Fund Statements - (Pages 2 - 13)

. Summary of capital projects and purchases - (Pages 14 - 15)

. Summary of outstanding debt - (Page 16)

LEGAL: REVIEW: N/A

FISCAL IMPACTS: N/A

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Acceptance of December 2019 Financial Report

ATTACHMENTS: lCOrurnnCr r RESOLUTION OTHER

couNcrl AcTroN: I nennoveo I otsnepRovED

X

60



CITYOFWILL'STON, FL

DECEMBER 2019

FINANCIAL REPORT . OVERVIEW

Meeting Date; February 4. 2020

F|NNCIAL OVÊRV|EW - (C|TY-W|DE)

(25% ofYear complete)
Breakdown by Fund

YTD
Revenue

YTD Surplus /
(Def¡cit)Fund Expenses Perfomance

Gener¡l Fund . Operatlons

General Fund - CIP

Alrport Fund

CRA Fund

Utility Fund - Operetions

Utility Fund - CIP

$91 3,554

$38,376

,372,712

823,251

s1,349,867

$56,363

$782,902

$28,376

$345,646

ç122,441

$1,359,196

s56,363

$130,652

$10,000

$27,066

($99,1 9o)

($e,329)

$0

I
ø
a
a
a
o

Total $2,754,122 S2,694,924 $59,198 0

A
City of Will¡sbn, Flor¡da - December 2019 Financial Report

61



GENERAL FUND

Overview Ct.n l: tuv.nsB -% ol aùdgd Corctd

Ependnuréð /qherUss

Cunéd Yêû suDl6 / (Defcñ)

YIO YD Våd¡ncê % otAñ¡uâl
Actu* Budgèl F¡v lunF¡vl audøèl Pedoñse

s13,s s7s,5r9 tr23,os 26.s* 0
67a2,w t7so,s1s $7,616 21.a% ø
t1s,6s2 $o $1s,6æ "h g
s51,8æ s741369 irø,4rc 2a.saÁ ø

II Ir r r
,¡fd.¡!,re,86.. :ì:E'j

Cþd 2: €&dl0o3 - % of 8ûdgd Sænl

Financial Hiqhliqhts
> PropertyTaxes - 55.4% Collected.

> Rece¡ved $1 0 lhousand from Countyfor Fire veh¡cle.

> All Departments (except Fire) are at the budget or very close to it.

> Transfened $28 thousand to Capital Project fund (ClP).

rriiiiÍü;Ë
iri¡r ij- ì :¿ ¡, 1û .:

¡t¡i:s
r:àr. !¡:ò¡¡ jÞe. , frr¿¡

a¿€Ørr,¡tt lùÞ€tr's€! ar¿4€i

Ã
City of Williston, Florida - December 20 I 9 Financial Report

AIRPORT FUND

Overview Chân 3: Alpod Fud . Fd &hcâ

YTD YrD val¡ncê % orAnnrål
Key Pedomilc€ lndleror Adüals Bud!èt Fav {UnFav} Budgèt Pêlofianc.

Rewnue / qhe¡Souces

Eryndiußs / qher U6€6

Curehl Yeil Surplus / (&fcil)

8372,712

lg5,g6

$27,066

ü3,æ6

t501,7æ

$501,7æ

60

$s5,29

(5128 æ2)

5156,67

s27.66

{ssr.d8)

1A.6%

17.2%

2.A%

a
o
o
a 1S7r47¿i

s&,765

Financial Highliqhts
> Year over year fuel sales decreased by 6.3% - $18.6K.

> All other operating revenue increased by 21olo - $16.7K.

> Zero cap¡tal projects / spending through December.

Chad 4: Revenuæ - % ot EudS€f Col€cted
ffr

2@

l0%

&il ¿2%

1B 1l%

¡lll¡nRôr ¡o¿þt pâtum lnr€.es¡ Mù..
Rev.h.". lftonP lncmc

a 8e'N t¿8r aabove la4d a rrtèr

City of Williston, Flor¡de December 2019 Financial Repon

2

62



CRA FUND

Overview

YTD YD % ofAnnud
Xly P.loñanc! lndlcaror AcNals Eudget Fav {UnFav} Budgct Pllomancè

Rgvenu€/ûher Source6

E&endnures/frer UsèÊ

cur€ntY6ar surylu6/ (Dåficfr)

$23,251

$122,441

(s99.1 e0)

s27,408

s134,1 1 1

$134,1 1 1

$0

$134,1 I 1

($110,860)

$t 1.670

($9S.190)

s93,297

4.30Á

22-8%

42.40Â

a
ø
a
Ø

Financial Highliohts
> Counly distribution of tax revenue expected ¡n January - $135K.

> Property purchased - $96K

City of Will¡ston, Florida December 2019 F¡nanc¡al Report

UTILITY FUND

Overview

YTO YD variance % orAnnual
Key Pedomancelndiøror &tuáls Budqet Fåv {UnFav) Eudgel Pedomdncê

Reve¡ue / qher Sou¡ce8

EÞenditure6 /Ohê¡ U6.È

curÞñt YôarSuDlG / (&fdl)

st.s,æ7

51,3S,196

(w.329)

s,0s,460

t1,1A2,224

$1,42,224

&
s1.&,124

(5132 357)

c123,023

(æ 329)

s1,@,736

22.A%

22.9%

53.2%

a
o
a
ø

Chañ 5: Revenue - % of Budgèt Cotlêcted

u:iitü ;:
ile.tnc G¿r lXlty W¡¡8, 5ùl¡d sevler lfrere( Mljc.
Ulúity ltiliry Wn*e LJnlìry ¡n.om¡ incom¡

¡ncoß¿

Financial Hiqhliqhts
> W¡lhout an estimated $104.5 thousand of deprec¡ation expense (non-cash

transact¡on) which was recorded, the fund would have generated a surplus of $95.2
thousand forthe fiscal yeâr.

> Electric and gas services had a pos¡t¡ve operating income. Only electric had a
pos¡tive net ¡ncome after subtracting the allocation of the transfer to the General
Fund and CIP Fund. [See Exhibit 1 on next slide for more deta¡ls]

> Transfered $14.3Kto Capital Project fund (ClP).

¡Br¡.w-út8et aÂbov¿l¿,À¿1 lIàAel

City of Williston, Florida December 2019 Financial Report

3

63



UTILITY FUND

Breakdown bv Utilitv Service
Ched 6: l,,ltlllty Fûnd -Opd¿ting & Nðl Incme

by Sedhê Typ€

Elåctrlc ce6 Wet6r
std

ldal 205,@
1E5,0æ

¡65,m
145,0m

t25,m
lot@
Btm
6tm
45,m
25,00
5,m

l1s,æ0,
lll,mo)
{55,@O}

{75,000}

Op6raling R.v!ñü.
Serviæ Charqes 813.1 121.9 127.4 136.1 143.2 1,342-1

4.5 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.8 7.4
fotal

586.9 90.7 99.6 134.5 107.2 1,018.8
23.1 3.5 3.6 3.9 4.1 38.2
22.4 12.2 32.9 . 36.6 1U.1

ror"t

OÞ6ratlng Expôn3or
Depadment østs
Admin¡strat¡ve Alloc
Deprec¡at¡on

Oporåting lncoma '1a5,2 1A,1 t?.71 i1.5ì l3,s) 188.3

Non.opêratlng lncffi . / {6¡Fn6es)

lransferto GF/dP
o.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4

(66.6) (30.21 (58.7) - (42.61 (198.1)

Ìol¡l 166.4) (30.1) (58.6) 0.0 142.5) 11s7.1)

118.8 (r4.0) {66.s) (1.4) (46.4} (9.3)

Ebcvic Gõ W¿tê¡ bld $wer

Ncl lncome

loperat¡ng lñóm Eftet ¡ncome

4\
C¡ry of W¡ll¡ston, Flor¡da - December 20 I 9 Financial Report

CAPITAL PROJECTS

Est¡mated Amount
Pþ¡ecl Ahtlclpated C¡ty Amou¡t Rem¿¡nlng

Current Proi€cls Slatus Cort Rêv6nuô Match SÞent to Date lo Sþend

Gonorôl Fund
An¡mal Shelter lnProgr€ss S 75,m $ 75,000 $ - $ - $ 75,000

subtút 7s,w 75"m - - ______J'g_

A¡rÞort Fund
Refurbish ofExist¡ng GA Apron ln Progr€ss

Suófdrl
465,678 465,678 465,678

465,678¿65,678 165,678

l,rtilltv Fu¡d
Upqrade Sôwer Plânt
Wder ma¡n on SW 4th Ave
Gas Projeds

ln Progr€Es 426,400
r0,000

426,400 4?,O4A 379,352
10,000'10,000

lnPrcgrsss - 

--_______j199-

Suhtoîal ¿36,4N 126,1æ 18,169 47,018 389,352

CRA Fund
Heritåge Pårk Phase ll Blo* 0

Downtown Red€vslopmsnt Projoct
26,197-26,197-26j97

ln Progress 362,5S - 362,535 96,010 266,524
Sublohl 388,ru - 388,732 96,010 292,721

City of Williston, Florida December 2019 Financial Report

4

64



CAPITAL SPENDING

Câoltâl Purchese
Budgêtêd Amount Amount
Amount Spent to Date Rema¡n¡ng Funding Source

eeIEl&
Computer Back-up System

Dodge Chargeß (2)

F¡rc Vehicle

Animal Contol Pick-up Truck

$ 11,200 $ 5,492 $ 5,706 Fund Bahnce (rcseres)
71,400 - 71,400 Fund Bahnce (rcseres)/ USDA gEnl
50,000 - 50,000 Fund Balance (æseres) /County
25,000 23,630 1,370 Fund Balance (reseres) / USDA gErìt

Subtof'l 157,600 29,122 128,178

ggIsrEE !
New Rad¡o / SoñMre forMelerReading ?0,000 - 20,000 Retained Eamings (reseres)
TEcked Sk¡d S(ser 60,000 - 80,000 Reta¡ned Eam¡ngs (reseres)
Padmoulìted TEnsfomer ________:_ 5,100 (5,100) Reta¡ned Eam¡ngs (reseMs)

Subúoú¡, 100,000 5,100 91,900

roÞt :l___j!glÐ9_ $ 31,222 $ 223,37E

4\
City of Williston, Florida - December 2019 Financial Report

OUTSTANDING DEBT

Original
Amount

Amount
Pa¡d to Dato

Amount
Dascript¡on Rsma¡ning Fund¡ng Sourcs

Bank Loans

Construct¡on ofN6w Cjly Hâll

$ 150,000 $ 80,5'12 $ 69,488 Couhty F¡re reveñue

1,263,530 17,991 1,245,540 Gôneral/UtilltyFund(50%/50%)
Subaotal 1,413,530 98,503 1,315,028

lnterfund Loans

Purchase ofF¡re Engine

Construction ofNew City Hall

Airport -WaterWell

208,500 10,425

753,657

102,637 3i,163

1S8,075

753,657

Due to utility FundÍiom Genôral Fund

Due to Utility Fund fom General Fùnd

71,474 DuetoGenerel FundfromA¡@ortFund

Subaúdl 1,0&4,791 41,588 1,023,206

fotd|92,478,321$110,090t2,338,2U

C¡ty of Willisron, Flor¡da December 2019 Financial Report

5

65



Gity of Williston

Financial Report
December 31 ,2019

(unaudited)

66



Table of Gontents

Balance Sheet - All Funds

Summary of Revenues and Expenditures / Expenses

GeneralFund

Operations

Capital lmprovement Program (C¡P) .......

Airport Fund ...

CRA Fund

Utility Fund - All Services.........

Adminstration ......

Electric Services

Gas Services ......

Water Services

Waste Collection

Sewer Services

Capital lmprovement Program (ClP) .......

Capital lm provement Program

Capital Projects - Spending Report ...

Capital Purchases - Spending Report

Outstanding Debt

Bank Loans....

lnterfund Loans

Page #

2

3

4

5

6

7

I
I
10

11

12

13

14

15

16

16

1

67



Report Page #1

Balance Sheet - All Funds

December 31,2019

Descriotion
General

Fund
Airport
Fund

CRA
Fund

Utility
Fund Total

ASSETS

Petty Cash

Cash & Gash Equivalents

lnvestments

Accounts Receivable

Note Receivable

Due from Other Funds

Due from Other Governmental Units

Prepaid Expenses

lnventory

Net Pension Assets

Net Capital Assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOW OF RESOURCES

Pensíon Related - Deferred Outflow

$$ 500 $

706,357

8,844

4,340

71,474

93,961

27.143

100 $

30,345

64,909

20,836

1 9,519

29,521

199,815

1,225

27,029

200 $

2,914,656

86,717

821,302

1 98,075

22,192

17,332

252,152

248,202

800

3,851,'t74

95,561

891,777

71,474

225,104

136,989

63,993

281,673

248,202
- - - 7,588,327 7,588,327

912,619 165,230 228,069 12,149,156 13,455¡ãl

AL DEFERRED OUTFLOW OF RESOURCES 4

4

LIABILITES

Accounts Payable

Accrued Expenses

Sales Tax Payable

Payroll Liabilities

Other Liabilities

Due to other Funds

Due to Utility Fund (loan)

Due to Other Govemmental Units

Deposits

City Hall Loan

Notes Payable

Deferred Revenue

Power Cost Adjustment - Electric

$ 18,802 $

8,418
(40)

24,275 $

21,782

(45e)

71,474

4,523

38,291 $

230,658

10,425

114,791

1,479

81,368

261,519

9,925

114,791

6,458

27,029

I 98,075

547

294,728

1,245,540

71,474

4,523

129,775

$

oo¿

6,458

25,550

I 98,075

547

294,728

1,245,540

'129,775

Accum Absences/ OPEB

DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES

Pension Related - Defened lnflow

AL LIABILITIES 257 121 662 1 74',1

AL DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES

FUND BALANCES
Reserve for:

Law Enforcement

Community Redevelopment

Unreserved, Reported in:

General Fund

Special Revenue Airport

't ,595

227,408

569

't,595

227,408

653,762

43,636

653,762

43,636

16Fund

AL FUND BALANCES 227 1 6 l1

TOTAL LIABILITIES & FUND BALANCES 9l 2,61 I 165,230 228,069 12,149,156 13,455.075

68



Report Page #2

General Fund lOperations) - Summary of Revenues and Expenditures

(25% Yr Complete)

December 31, 2019

Year to Date
Actual

Annual Variance olo oÍ

PRIOR YEAR

Yearto Date Variance
Dec-18 Fav (unfav)Descri

REVENUES

Locally Levied Taxes

Public Service Taxes

Franchise Fees

lntergovernmental Revenues

Fines & Forfeitures

License & Permits

Miscellaneous

lnterest lncome

Grant

Non-Operating

Use of Fund Balance

$ r,208,708 $

364,500

97,230

495,502

1 9,035

73,1 50

33,900

12,000

6,550

751,500

Fav

467,848 $

94,574

7,401

't12,325

1,076

29,894

16,496

187

183,753

(740,860)

(269,926)

(8e,829)

(383, I 77)

(r 7,959)

(43,256)

('t7,404)

(11,813)

(6,550)

(567,747)

38.7%

25.9%

7.6Yo

22.7%

5-7Yo

40.9o/o

48.7o/o

1.60/o

o.0%

24.5%

0.0o/o

$ 437,403

95,465

13,442

I I 1,338

2,466

28,635

6,441

187

(4,s79)

173,777

30,445

(8e1 )

(6,041)

987

(1,3e0)

1,259

10,055

(0)

4,979

9,976

000

864.175 49.378

EXPENSES

Total City Council

Total Legal Services

Total Administration

Total Purchasing

Total Planning & Zoning

Total Building Permits

Total Police Department

Total Police Communications

Total Health/Animal Control

Total Fire Department

Total Public Works

Total Recreation / Athletics

Total Library Department

Total Special Events

Totel

37,594

41,000

268,314

5,300

89,500

42,718

't,163,724

247,103

51,159

577,622

324,641

7,736

6,970
'13,300

9,500

9,498

61,4'14

56

r 9,841

8,266

303,526

60,571

13,396

162,128

81,358

19

1,608

204

28,094

31,502

206,900

5,244

69,659

34,452

860,1 97

186,532

37,763

415,494

243,283

7,716

5,362

1 3,096

25.3o/o

23.2%

22.9Vo

1.1o/o

22.2o/o

19.3%

26.1%

24.5o/o

26.20/o

28.1%

25.1%

0.2o/o

23.1o/o

1.5%

18.1o/o

7,1 05

9,952

52,760

1t,274

7,202

282,555

58,313

13,713

123,231

75,360

2,049

1,439

763

141

(2,396)

453

(8,654)

(56)

(e,567)

(r,064)

(2o,e71)

(2,258)

317

(38,8s8)

(5,es8)

2,030

(1 6e)

560

394 51 17

9l 28.9%TOTAL REVENUES 1

EXPENDITURES 'l 075 172 24.8% 667

REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES 1 nla $ 196.319 $ f65.667ì

69



Report Page #3

General Fund (ClP) - Summarv of Revenues and Expenses

(25% Yr Complete)

Description

December 31,2019

Year to Date
Actual

PRIORYEAR

Annual
Budset

Variance
Fav (unfav)

%oÍ
Budqet

Year to Date
Dec.l8

Variance
Fav (unfav)

REVENUES

Grant Revenue

County Contribut¡on

Transfer From General Fund

$ 50,000 $

10,000

$ (50,000) 0.Oo/o

100.0%

'16.4o/o

$

'f 0,000 r 0,000

REVENUES 16.5o/o

EXPENDITURES

Animal Shelter

City Planning Projects

Vehicle Purchases

Equipment Purchases

Sofhruare Purchases

Park lmprovements

Street lmprovements

600

75,000

146,400

11,200

23,630

4,746

75,000

122,770

6,454

19,000

7.750

'19,000

(23,630)

(4,746)

7,750

0.1Yo

nla

16.1o/o

42.4o/o

nla

nla

nla

nlaStormwater I

12.2%EXPENDITURES 26.750 fi.626)

OVER EXPENDITURES 1 $ (26,750) $ 36.750

70



Report Page lf4

Airport Fund - Summary of Revenues and Expenditures

December 31,2019

(25% Yr Complete)

Description
Annual
Budget

Year to Date
Actual

Variance
Fav (unfav)

%oî
Budset

PRIOR YEAR

Yearto Date Variance
Dec-18 Fav (unfav)

REVENUES

Operating Revenue

lnterest lncome

Other Miscellaneous lncome

Use of Fund Balance

$ 1,523,175 $

1,600

16,360

$ (1,152,814)

('t,440)

(14,170)

370,361

.160

2,191

24.3o/o

10.0To

13.40/o

nla

561,239

193

3,842

(1 s0,878)

(33)

(1,652)

TOTAL REVENUES 1.541.135 372.712 {1.168.423} 24.20/" 565,274 fi92,563)

EXPENSES

Personal Services

Operating Expenditures

256, I 91

1,274,944

57,546

288, I 00

1 98,645

986,844

22.5%

22.60/o

o.0%

49,633

319,85'1

(7,e13)

31,750

135EXPENSES 'l 1 22.4o/o

l0 000 000

369,483 23,837

OPERATING REVENUES OVER EXPENSI 066 27 nla 195.791 fi68.7251

NON-OPERATTNG REVENUE (EXpENSES)

Capital lmprovements - (Grants)

JPA Revenue (Grants)

(465,678)

465,678

465,678

(465,678)

0.0%

0.0%

nla

(78, I 1 3)

78,113

78,113

08,r 13)

AL NON.OPERATING REVENUES

TOTAL REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENSES 27,066 27,066 nla $ r95,79r $ í68,725)

71



Report Page #5

CRA Fund - Summary of Revenues and Expenditures

December 31,2019

(25%Y¡ Complete)

DescriDt¡on

PRIORYEAR

Annual Year to Date
Actual

Var¡ance
Fav lunfav|

%of
Budoet

Yearto Date Variance
Dec-18 Fav (unfav)

REVENUES

Tax lncremental Revenue - City

Tax lncremental Revenue - County

lnterest lncome

Special Events

Other Sources

EXPENDITURES

Personal Services

Operating Expenditures

Capital Outlay

$ 93,907 $

135,225

200

307 110

61,345

74,66'l

390,436

1 8,1 61

8,270

96,010

43,184

66,391

294,426

000

24.2o/o

o.0%

17.0%

nla

0.0%

29.60/0

11.1%

24.60/o

O.Oo/o

12,240

8,069

(5,e21)

(201)

(s6,010)

22,767 $ (71,'t40)

- (135,22s)

34 (166)

450 450

't1

$ 22,767

131,137

57

153.962 fi30.71I ì

(0)

137)

(23)

450

(r 31

AL REVENUES 1 l9r 4.3Yo

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 001 ,|

REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES $ $ 133.652 S Q32,8421

72



Report Page #6

Ut¡lity Fund (All Services) - Summary of Revenues and Expenses

(25% Yr Complete)

Description
Annual
Budget

December 31, 2019

Year to Date
Actual

Variance
Fav (unfav)

%of
Budget

PRIORYEAR

Yearto Date Variance
Dec.l8 Fav (unfav)

REVENUES

Electr¡c Utility

Gas Util¡ty

Water Utility

Solid Waste lncome

Sewer Utility

lnterest lncome

Other Miscellaneous lncome

$ 3,698,849 $

397,750

482,426

558, 1 79

568,066

15,000

98,627

81 3,136

121,866

127,757

'136,141

143,216

399

7.352

$ (2,885,714)

(275,884)

(354,66e)

(422,037)

(424,851)

(14,601)

(91,275)

$ 887,834 $

1 53,029

112,781

1 39,908

132,887

aa7

10,179

(74,698)

(31 , r 63)

14,976

(3,767)

10,328

(s38)

(2,827)

22.0o/o

30.6%

26.5%

24.4o/o

25.2%

2.7o/o

7.5%

0.0o/o

TOTAL REVENUES 897 1 22.8%

Use of Retained

EXPENSES

Total Administration Department

Total Electr¡c Department

Total Gas Department

Total Water Department

Total Solid Waste Department

Total Sewer Collection / Treatment

11 000

188,021

3,185,235

600, 1 33

661,277

546,639

38,191

675,856

133,09 1

191,184

134,490

149,830

2,509,379

467,042

470,O93

412,149

20.3%

21.2o/o

22.2%

28.9o/o

24.6%

24.9o/ø

24,831

728,701

142,732

160,222

146,265

(1 3,360)

52,846

9,642

(30,s63)

11,775

1.437.356 t87.489t

1 '196 701 22.9%EXPENSES

747 561 823 3

OVER EXPENSES $ $ s nla $ 61.783 S 171.1121

73



Report Page#7

Ut¡l¡ty Fund (Admin) - Summary of Revenues and Expenses

(25% Yr Gomplete)

Description

December 31, 2019

Year to Date
Actual

PRIORYEAR

Annual
Budget

Variance
Fav (unfav)

To oÍ
Budget

Year to Date
Dec.l8

Variance
Fav (unfav)

REVENUES

Other Miscellaneous lncome

lnterest lncome

Use of Retained

$ 98,627 $

15,000

7,352 $

399

(91,275)

(r4,601)

10,179 $

737

(2,827)

(338)

7.5o/o

2.7o/o

0.0%

$

TOTAL REVENUES 7 3.5%

'11 000

10,917 (3, r 66)

EXPENSES

38 191 '149 830 20.3o/o 83'1

EXPENSES l9,l 203%

OVER EXPENSES $ t13.914ì S fi6.s26t

74



Report Page #8

Util¡tv Fund (Electric Services) - Summ of Revenues and Expenses

(25% Yr Complete)

Description
Annual
Budget

December3l,2019

Year to Date
Actual

Variance
Fav (unfav)

%of
Budget

PRIORYEAR

Year to Date Variance
Dec-18 Fav (unfav)

REVENUES

Electric Utility

Electric Utility - Power Cost Adj

New Electric Service

Electric Overhead / Underground

s 1,385,418 $

2,306,931

4,000

2,500

320,897

485,965

480

5,794

$ (1,064,521)

(1,820,966)

(3,520)

3,294

$ 330,262 $

557,452

'120

23.2%

21.1o/o

12.0%

231.8%

nla

(s,365)

(7't,487)

360

5,794

Use of Retained

EXPENSES

Personal Services

Operating Expend¡tures

887.834 t74.698ì

426,573

2,490,543

67,456

541,775

359,118

1,948,768

'15.80/o

21.8%

24.8o/o

68,937

605,112

1,481

63,338

TOTAL REVENUES 81 136 22.Oo/o

AL EXPENSES 1 21

119 201

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENSES 513,614 $ 137.280 $ (376.335) 27% $ 159.133 s (21.853t

75



Report Page #9

Ut¡l¡tv Fund lGas Services) - Summary of Revenues and Expenses

(25% Yr Complete)

Description
Annual
Budget

December 31, 2019

Year to Date
Actual

Variance
Fav (unfav)

%oî
Budget

PRIORYEAR

Year to Date Variance
Dec-'18 Fav (unfav)

REVENUES

Gas Utility

Gas Meter Connection/Reconnection

New Gas Service

lnfrastructure Reim bursement

$ 365,000 $

1,000

500

31,250

12't,201 $ (243,799)

(635)

(200)

(31,250)

33.2%

36.5%

60.0%

0.0o/o

nla

$ 183,904 $

375

(31,250)

(62,70s)

(r0)

300

31,250

365

300

Use of Retained

EXPENSES

Personal Services

Operating Expenditures

153.029 t3t.l63)

217,902

270,446

44,664

58,261

'173,238

212,185

20.5o/o

21.5%

27.Oo/o

43,081

80,142

(1,583)

21,881

AL REVENUES 397 750 121 30.6%

TOTAL EXPENSES 133 1 467

111 785 165 81 19

732

RÊVENUESOVER(UNDER)EXPENSES $ (202,383) $ (11,225) $ r9r,158 6% $ 10.296 i 121.5211

76



Report Page #1 0

Ut¡l¡W Fund (Water Services) - Summary of Revenues and Expenses

(25% Yr Gomplete)

Description

December 31, 2019

Year to Date
Actual

PRIORYEAR

Annual Variance
Fav (unfav)

%oÍ
Budqet

YeaÌto Date Variance
Dec.l8 Fav (unfav)Budget

REVENUES

Water Utility

Water Meter Connection/Reconn

New Water Service

$ 472,426 $

5,000

124,217 $

990

(348,209)

(4,010)

$ 110,561 $

1,200

26.3%

19.8o/o

51.Oo/o

13,656

(210)

EXPENSES

Personal Services

Operating Expenditures

Debt Service

000

204,304

187,243

49,949

82,553

154,355

104,690

24/%

44.1o/o

nla

21.8o/o

40,1 90

66,084

1,182

(e,75e)

(r6,46e)

1,182

TOTAL REVENUES ,|.27 26.5o/o757

58730 211 767

AL EXPENSES 661 1 184 28.9%

REVENUES OVER (UNDERI EXPENSES $ {178.85,I) S f63.427) S 'i15.424 350/" $ (47,4/,01 $ í5.987)

77



Report Page #1 1

Ut¡¡¡W Fund (Waste Collection) - Summa of Revenues and Expenses

(25% Yr Complete)

Descríption

December 31,2019

Year to Date
Actual

PRIORYEAR

Annual
Budget

Variance
Fav (unfav)

olo oî
Budset

Year to Date
Dec-18

Variance
Fav (unfav)

REVENUES

Solid Waste lncome 179 141 $ 24.4o/o $

TOTAL REVENUES 558,179 136,141 (422,0371 24.4%

$

EXPENSES

Personal Services

Operating Expenditures

16,981

529,659

4,396

130,094

12,585

399,565

25.9o/o

24.60/o

nla

4,743

134,247

347

4,1 53

1 265 11 775

275 71

AL EXPENSES 1 41 149 50.5%

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENSES S 1,t.539 $ 1.651 S f9.888) 140/" $ t6,357) $ 8,008

78



Report Page #12

Ut¡l¡tv Fund (Sewer Services) - Summary of Revenues and Expenses

(25% Yr Complete)

Description

December 31,2019

Year to Date
Actual

PRIORYEAR

Annual Variance
Fav (unfav)

%ot
Budget

Yearto Date Variance
Dec.l8 Fav (unfav)Budget

REVENUES

Sewer Utility

Sewer Connection

Use of Retained Eamings

Grant Revenue

$ 563,066 $

5,000

140,216 $

3,000

(422,851)

(2,000)

24.9%

60.0%

nla

$ 132,887 $ 7,328

3,000

nla

TOTAL REVENUES 6 25.2% '132,887 10.328

EXPENSES

Sewer Collection

Personal Services

Operating Expenditures

Total Sewer Collection

Sewer Treatment

Personal Services

Operating Expenditures

Total Sewer Treatment

Non.Departmental

Transfer To General Fund

Transfer to Capital lmprovement Fund

Total Sewer Collection

227,724 76,752 150,973

157,104

70.620

30,766 126,339

24,634

19.6%

65.1o/o

31,268

34,131

503

(1 1,855)45.986

33.7% 65,399 (11,353)

159,527 31,778

164.974 35.263

'127,748

129,711

19.9o/o

21.4o/o

31,449

37,677

(32s)

2,414

324,501 67,041 257,460 20.7% 69,1 26 2,086

170,366 42,592 127 ,775 25.O%

25,000 - 25,000 0.0o/o

38,297 (4,294)

195,366 42,592 '|52,775 21.8% 38,297 (4,2941

TOTAL EXPENSES 747,591 186,384 561,207 24.9% 1

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENSES $ (179,52s) $ (43,169) $ 136,356 24.0% s 139.9361 s f3.2331

79



Report Page #1 3

Ut¡l¡ty Fund (ClP) - Summary of Revenues and Expenses

(25% Yr Complete)

Descíption
Annual

December 31, 2019

Year to Date
Actual

Variance olo oÍ

PRIORYEAR

Year to Date
Dec-18

Variance
Budget Fav (unfav) Budget Fav (unfav)

Transfer From Fund 11

9.9o/o

13.0o/o

TOTAL REVENUES 536,400 s6,363 (480,037) 10.5"/"

REVENUES

Grant Revenue - CDGB

EXPENDITURES

City Hall lmprovements

Software Purchases

Heavy Equipment Purchases

Water lmprovements

Sewer lmprovements

$ 426,400 $ 42,048 $ (384,352) $ 42,048

315

271,153 271.153

67,126 61,280

4,280 (37,768)

20,000

80,000

10,000

426,400

5,846

42,O48

20,000

74,154

r 0,000

384,352

nla

0.0o/o

7.3%

0.0%

9.9o/o

nlaGas

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 10.5% 196

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES $ $ $ nla $ (342,559) $ 342.559

80



Report Page #14

Capital Projects - Spending Report

December 31,2019

Estimated
Project

Cost
Anticipated

Revenue
Amount

Spent to Date

Amount
Remaining
to Spend

Gity
Gurrent Projects Status Match

General Fund
Animal Shelter

Airport Fund
Refurbish of Existing GA Apron

Utility Fund
Upgrade Sewer Plant

Water main on SW 4th Ave
Gas Projects

CRA Fund
Heritage Park Phase ll Block 0

Downtown Redevelopment Project

ln Progress $ 75,000 $ 75,000 $ $ $ 7s,000
75,000Subtotal

ln Progress

Subtotal

ln Progress

ln Progress

Subtotal

ln Progress

Subtotal

75,000 75,000

465,678 465,678 465,678
465,678 465,678 46d678

426,400
10,000

426,400 47,048 379,352
10,00010,000

8,469

436,400 426,400 42048 389,35218,469

26,197

362,535

26,197

362,535 96,010

26,197

266,524
388,732 388,732 96,010 292721

81



Report Page #15

Capital Purchases - Spend¡ng Report

December 31,2019

Capital Purchase
Budgeted
Amount

Amount
Spent to Date

Amount
Remain

Police/Fire
Computer Back-up System

Dodge Chargers (2)

Fire Vehicle
Animal Control Pick-up Truck

Suhlotal

Utilitv Fund
New Radio / Sofrì¡/are for Meter Reading
Tracked Skid Steer
Padmounted Transformer

Suöfofa,

Total

5,492 $ 5,708
7't,400
50,000

1,37023,630

157,600 29,122 128,478

20,000
80,000

5,100

100,000 5,100 91,900

$ 257,600 $ 34,222 $ 223,378

Source

Fund Balance (reserves)

Fund Balance (reserves) / USDA grant
Fund Balance (reserves) / County
Fund Balance (reserves) / USDA grant

$ 11,200 $

71,400
50,000
25,000

20,000
80,000
(5,100)

Retained Earnings (reserves)

Retained Earnings (reserves)

Retained Earnings (reserves)

82



Report Page #16

Outstanding Debt

Description
Original
Amount

December 31,2019

Amount
Paid to Date

Amount
Remaining Funding Source

Bank Loans

Purchase of Fire Truck

Construction of New City Hall

Subtotal

lnterfund Loans

Purchase of Fire Engine

Construction of New City Hall

Airport - Water Well

Subtotal

$ 150,000 $

't,263,530
80,512 $

17,991

69,488

1,245,540

County Fire revenue

General / Utility Fund (50o/o / 50%)

Due to Utility Fund from General Fund

Due to Utility Fund from General Fund

Due to General Fund from Airport Fund

1,413,530 98,503 1,315,O28

208,500

753,657

102,637

10,425 198,075

753,657

71,47431,163

1,064,794 4t,588 1,023,206

Totalî2,478,3249140,09092,338,294

83



Date: FEBRUARY 4,2020
COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM

RESOLUTION 2020.06 AUTHORIZING A BUDGET AMENDMENT TO TRANSFER
$15,OOO FROM THE GENERAL FUND RESERVE TO PAY V.E. WHITEHURST AND
SONS INC. FOR THE PAVING OF N.W. MAIN ST. FROM N.W. lST AVE TO N.W.
SECOND AVE, TO INCLUDE 4 PARKING AREAS WITHIN HERITAGE PARK

REQUESTED BY: CJ ZIMOSKI PUBLIC WORKS/UTILITY MANAGER
PREPARED BY: CJ ZIMOSKI PUBLIC V/ORKS/ UTILITY MANAGER

BACKGROUND / DESCRIPTION: Staff is requesting a budget amendment in the amount of
$15,000 from the General Fund reserve to CIP for the purpose of cost sharing the paving of the
100 block of NW Main Street plus several parking areas in Heritage Park. The project was
funded in last year's CIP, but the project was deferred, and the funding did not carry over into
this year's CIP funding. The total cost will be shared with the CRA, which has committed
$12,000.

The paving of NW Main Street was approved by Council previously when the City signed a unit
cost contract with V.E. Whitehurst for citywide paving services. The additional cost of paving
the four parking areas within the park was part of the Heritage Park improvements plan.

The paving of the 100 block of NW Main Street will include reshaping the road to direct storm
water more effectively and to raise the level of the road to its proper height along the curb on the
east side of the street. This project has been pending as a part of the overall Heritage Park
improvements and construction of the Veterans Memorial.

LEGAL REVIEW: NONE

FISCAL IMPACTS: $15,000. TRANSFER FROM GENERAL FLTND RESERVES INTO
THE CIP FUND

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Staff recommends approval

ATTACHMENTS:

CONTRACT _ RESOLUTTON
OTHER DOCUMENTS

MAP X LEASE

COUNCIL ACTION:

APPROVED
DENIED

84



ffiqPublic.net'" Levy County, FL

Overuiew

Legend

Roads

City Labels

Date created: 1/2812020
Last Data Uploadeù 7/27 /2O2O S:7224I pM O

Deveroned bvGì 
t""bppidrr Cfì ?eåc¡F

a

Cq?or*.cPO

85



RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020.06

Amendins Budeet

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WILLISTON, FLORIDA
AMENDING THE FISCAL YEAR 2OI9.2O2O GENERAL FUND AND CAPITAL

IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS BUDGETS AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, the City of V/illiston adopted a plan of improvements for Heritage Park; and,

\ryHEREAS, those plans included reshaping and repaving the 100 block of NW Main Street;
ffid,

WHEREAS, the funding for the NV/ Main Street project were not included in the 2019-2020
CIP budget.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of V/illiston,
Florida that:

SECTION 1. The above recitals are true and accurate and are made apart of this resolution.

SECTION 2.The City Council hereby amends the2019-2020 budget of the City of V/illiston to
move $15,000 from General Fund reserves to the Capital Improvement Projects (CIP) budget.

SECTION 3. This resolution shall become effective immediately upon adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a meeting of the City Council this 4th day of February,2D20.

CITY OF \ilILLTSTON, FLORIDA

BY
Nancy Wininger, City Council President

ATTEST:

Latricia Wright, City Clerk

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY:

By:
Fred L. Koberlein, Jr., City Attorney

86



Date: February 412020

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM

TOPIC: Amendment to Well Bilt lease

REQUESTED BY: SCOTT LIPPMANN PREPARED BY: SCOTT LIPPMANN

BACKGROUND / DESCRIPTION:

Carol Bilt, the owner of the Well BÍlt building in the airport industrial parko has requested
an amendment to her lease allowing her to obtain short term financing on her property.

We have granted such requests to other tenants such as Monterey Boats.

LEGAL REVIEW:

FISCAL IMPACTS: none to the City

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve

ATTACHMENTS:

COMMISSION ACTION:

APPROVED

DISAPPROVED

87



Recording Fee:_
Documentary Stamp Tax:

Prepared by
Record and Return to
Lawrence C. Cøllatttay, III
Klein and Klein, LLC
40 SE I lth Ave.

Ocala, FL 34471

P ørcel I dentification Number

LEASEHOLD MORTGAGE
AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

THIS LEASEHOLD MORTGAGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT ("Mortgage"), made this _ day of
Ianuary,2020,by and M. BILT ENTERPRISES,INC., a Florida corporation, whose address is P.O.8ox273945,
Boca Raton, Florida 33427 (hercinafter called "Mortgagor"), and ALLSTATE SERVICING, INC. a Florida
corporation, whose address is P.O. Box 4737 , Ocala, Florida 34478 (hereinafter called "Mortgagee").

WHEREAS, the City of Williston_ (hereinafter called "Lessor" or "Ground Lessor") entered into a certain Lease
with Mortgagor, as Lessee, dated November l, 1990 (hereinafter as heretofore amended called "Ground Lease" and more
particularly described in Exhibit "4" attached hereto and made a part hereof), covering the Mortgaged Property (as

hereinafter defined); and

WHEREAS, the Mortgagor has borrowed from and is indebted to the Mortgagee in the sum of
ONE HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARSAND NO/100 ($150,000.00) lawtulmoneyoftheUnited Søtesof
America, with interest thereon as stated therein, to be paid according to the terms and conditions of that certain
Promissory Note of even date herewith (hereinafter called "Promissory Note" or "Note") executed by Mortgagor and
delivered to and accepted by Mortgagee.

NOW, THEREFORE, to secure the payment of any and all indebtedness now existing or which may hereafter
arise by reason of the Note, this Mortgage or any other security documents which may be delivered by the Mortgagor to
the Mortgagee in connection with the Note or this Mortgage, or any renewals, extensions, modifications, replacements or
substitutions thereof, or any future or additional advances as may be made by the Mortgagee in accordance with Article
28 hereof, and, in addition thereto, all interest thereon (all collectively hereafter called the "Indebtedness"), the
Mortgagor hereby mortgages to the Mortgagee:

Article I.

1 . All of the Mortgagor's right, title and interest in, to and under the Ground Lease, and the leasehold
estate created thereby, in and to those certain premises, lots, pieces or parcels of land, together with the buildings,
structures and improvements now or hereafter erected thereon, situated, lying and being in the County of Levy and State
of Florida, described in Exhibit "8" attached hereto and made a part hereof; together with:

A. The appurtenances and all the estate and rights ofthe Mortgagor of, in and to the Mortgaged
Property under and by virtue ofthe Ground Lease.

B. The tenements, hereditaments, easements, riparian and other rights and appuftenances
belonging or in anywise appertaining to the Mortgaged Property, and the reversion and reversions, remainder and
remainders, rents, issues and profits thereof.

LEASEHOLD MORTGAGELCC2 O O IO 3 L 652 O 5

88



C. All right, title and interest of the Mortgagor, if any, now or hereafter acquired, in any land
lying in the bed ofany street, road or avenue, parking area and access ways, open or proposed, in front ofor adjoining
said land to the centerline thereof.

D. All right, title and interest ofthe Mortgagor, if any, now or hereafter acquired, in any and all
sidewalks and alleys, and all strips and gores of land, lakes, streams, canals and bodies of water adjacent to or used in
connection with the Mortgaged Property.

2. All right, title and interest, if any, of the Mortgagor, now owned or hereafter acquired, in and to any and
all buildings, structures and improvements now or at any time hereafter erected, constructed or situated upon the
Mortgaged Property or any part thereofand all apparatus, fixtures and articles ofpersonal property affached now or
hereafter attached to or used or procured for use in connection with the operation or maintenance of any such building,
structure or other improvement, including, but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all engines, fumaces,
boilers, pumps, heaters, tanks, dynamos, motors, generators, switchboards, electrical equipment, heating, plumbing,
lifting and ventilating apparatus, air-cooling and air-conditioning apparatus, gas and electric fixtures, elevators,
escalators, fiuings and machinery, and all other equipment of every kind and description, used or procured for use in the
operation ofthe building standing on said premises (except apparatus, fixtures or articles ofpersonal property belonging
to sublessees or other occupants of said buildings or to persons other than the Mortgagor, unless the same be abandoned
by any such sublessee or other occupant or person, and except operating supplies), together with any and all replacements
thereofand additions thereto. (The apparatus, fixtures and articles ofpersonal properry above described are hereinafter
called "Equipment".)

3. All right, title and interest of the Mortgagor, if any, in and to (A) all modifications, extensions and
renewals ofthe Ground Lease and in and to all rights to renew or extend the term ofthe Ground Lease or to purchase fee
simple title to the Mortgaged Property; and (B) all credits, deposits, options, privileges and rights of the Mortgagor, as

Lessee under the Ground Lease; and (C) to the extent not prohibited by or inconsistent with the terms of the Ground
Lease, all awards heretofore made or hereafter to be made for the taking by eminent domain of the whole or any part of
the Mortgaged Properfy, or any estate or easement therein, including any awards for change of grade of streets, all of
which awards are hereby assigned the Mortgagee, who is hereby authorized to collect and receive the proceeds of such
awards and to give proper receipts and acquittances therefor and to apply the same in accordance with the provisions of
the Ground Lease and in case thereafter there shall be any excess ofsuch proceeds the Mortgagee shall have the right and
option to apply such towards the payment of any sum owing on account of this Mortgage and the Note and the
Indebtedness secured hereby, notwithstanding the fact that such sum may not then be due and payable.

4. All the right, title and interest of the Mortgagor in and to any and all present and future subleases of
space in the building erected upon the Mortgaged Property demised under the Ground Lease, together with all the right or
privilege of the Mortgagor to cancel any present or future sublease, to accept prepayment of more than one periodic
installment of rent payable thereunder, to accept the term thereof or the rental payable thereunder or to change any
renewal privileges therein contained, without the written consent of the Mortgagee.

ALL ofthe foregoing described property, rights, privileges, interest and franchises described in Paragraphs 1

through 4, inclusive, which are hereby granted, released, assigned, transferred, mortgaged, pledged and set over, or
intended so to be (hereinafter collectively called "Mortgaged Property").

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the Mortgaged Property unto the Mortgagee, its successors and assigns for and
during all the rest, residue and remainder of the term of years yet to come and unexpired as in the Ground Lease and in
the renewals therein provided for, subject, nevertheless, to the rents, terms, covenants, conditions, reservations and
provisions in the Ground Lease set forth.

Article tl.

THE MORTGAGOR represents, covenants and warrants to and with the Mortgagee:

L That, as against the Mortgagee, the Mortgaged Property now is free and clear of all encumbrances
whatsoever, except as stated in that certain Title Insurance Commitment No. 2076-4593437, issued by First American

2

89



Title Insurance Company, dated January 13,2020, and that the Mortgagor has good right and lawful authority to
mortgage and convey the same in the manner and form hereby mortgaged and conveyed.

2. That (A) the Ground Lease is a valid and subsisting lease of the property therein described and
purported to be demised thereby for the term therein set forth and is in full force and effect in accordance with the terms
thereof and has not been modified, except as disclosed in writing to Mortgagee, and there are no existing defaults by the
Ground Lessor or by the Mortgagor, as Lessee, thereunder, and (B) the Mortgagor is the owner and holder ofthe Ground
Lease and ofthe leasehold estate created thereby.

3. That each sublease, ifany, is a valid and subsisting lease ofspace in the buildings presently erected
upon the Mortgaged Property demised under the Ground Lease and constituting a portion ofthe Mortgaged Propefiy, and
that there is no existing default on the part ofthe Mortgagor, as sublessor, or on the part ofany sublessee, under any such
sublease.

Article III.

The Mortgagor further covenants and agrees with the Mortgagee as follows:

I. PAYMENT OF INDEBTEDNESS

To make all payments of principal, interest and other sums ofmoney constituting the Indebtedness promptly on
the days the same severally come due. Both principal and interest on the Promissory Note secured hereunder are payable

in lawful money of the United States of America, without deduction for or on account of any present or future taxes,
duties or other charges levied or imposed on the Promissory Note or the proceeds thereof, or upon the maker or holder
thereof by any goverrìment, or any instrumentality, authority or political subdivision thereof. The Mortgagor agrees,
upon the request ofthe Mortgagee, to pay all such taxes, duties and other charges in addition to principal and interest on
the Promissory Note, exclusive of United States income taxes and Florida income taxes. Failure to do so shall constitute
a default under the terms of this Mortgage.

2. PAYMENT OF GROLTND RENT. TAXES. ETC.

That the Mortgagor will pay, or cause to be paid, not later than the day the same become due and payable by the
Mortgagor pursuant to the provisions of the Ground Lease, (A) all rent, additional rent and other payments required to be
paid by the Lessee under the Ground Lease, and (B) all real estate taxes, sales taxes, intangible taxes, assessments, water
and sewer rates and charges, and all other governmental levies and charges (hereinafter called "Impositions") ofevery
kind and nature whatsoever, general and special, ordinary and extraordinary, unforeseen as well as foreseen, which shall
be assessed, levied, confirmed, imposed or become a lien upon or against the Mortgaged Property or any portion thereof;
or which shall become payable with respect thereto immediately upon the payment thereof. The Mortgagor shall deliver
to the Mortgagee the original or a photostatic copy of the official receipt evidencing such payment or other proof of
payment satisfactory to the Mortgagee. To the extent that the Ground Lease shall grant to the Mortgagor, as Lessee

thereunder, the privilege to postpone or defer the payment of any such Imposition, or any additional rent or other
payment other than basic rent, the failure of the Mortgagor to pay the same shall not constitute a default hereunder, if and
so long as the Mortgagor shall faithfully comply with all of the conditions and other requirements of the Ground Lease
with respect to the exercise of such privilege.

3. MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS

That the Mortgagor will keep and maintain, or cause to be kept and maintained, all structures, buildings,
building service equipment and other improvements now or at any time hereafter erected upon or constituting any portion
of the Mortgaged Property, and the sidewalks and curbs and ways abutting the same, in good order and condition and in a
rentable and tenantable state of repair, and will make, or cause to be made, as and when the same shall become necessary,

all structural and non-structural exterior and interior, ordinary and extraordinary, foreseen and unforeseen, repairs,
renewals and replacements necessary to that end. In the event that the Mortgaged Property shall be damaged or
destroyed, in whole or in part, by fire or any other casualty, or in the event of a taking of a portion of the Mortgaged

3

90



Premises as a result of any exercise of the power of eminent domain (hereinafter in this Mortgage called a

"Condemnation Proceeding") which shall not result in a termination of the Ground Lease pursuant to its terms, the
Mortgagor shall promptly restore, replace, rebuild or alter the same as nearly as possible to the condition they were in
immediately prior to such fire, other casualty or taking, and in accordance with all the terms, covenants, conditions and
any other requirements of the Ground Lease applicable in the event of such damage, destruction or taking. The failure of
the Mortgagor to restore, replace, rebuild or alter the Mortgaged Property as hereinabove provided shall constitute a
default hereunder. The Mortgagor covenants that it will give to the Mortgagee prompt written notice of any damage or
injury to the Mortgaged Property in excess of Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15.000.00) and will give like notice to the
Mortgagee of the commencement of any condemnation proceeding affecting the whole or any portion of Mortgaged
Property. The Mortgagee shall have the right, at any time and from time to time, to remove and dispose of Equipment
which may have become obsolete or unfit for use or which is no longer useful in the operation of the buildings now or
hereafter constituting a portion of the Mortgaged Property. The Mortgagor agrees promptly to replace with other
Equipment, free of superior title, liens or claims, of at least equal usefulness and quality, any such Equipment so removed
or disposed of.

4. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

That the Mortgagor will promptly comply or cause compliance with all present and future laws, ordinances,
rules, regulations and other requirements of all governmental authorities having jurisdiction of or with respect to the
Mortgaged Property or any portion thereof or the use or occupation thereof; provided, however, that the Mortgagor may
postpone such compliance if and so long as the validity or legality of any such governmental requirement shall be
contested by the Mortgagor or the Ground Lessor or any sublessee or other occupant of the building, with diligence and
in good faith, by appropriate legal proceedings and in full compliance with all of the requirements ofthe Ground Lease

with respect to such contests. Mortgagor shall ensure that the Mortgaged Properfy andthe improvements thereon shall at
all times during the term of this Mortgage be in compliance with all environmental laws, zoning ordinances, building
codes, and all other applicable statutes, ordinances and administrative rules applicable to the Mortgaged Properfy,
including, but not limited to, all applicable building codes and statutes of the State of Florida.

5. INSURANCE

A. That the Mortgagor will at all times keep all buildings, structures, Equipment and other
improvements now or hereafter placed on the Mortgaged Property insured for the mutual benefit of the Mortgagee, the
Ground Lessor and the Mortgagor, as their respective interests may appear, in amounts sufficient to prevent the
Mortgagor or the Mortgagee from becoming a co-insurer, within the terms of the applicable policies, under policies of
all-risk and public liability insurance (which shall include, but not be limited to, fire, flood extended coverage, plate glass

coverage and vandalism) placed with companies and agents approved by the Mortgagee and such insurance shall be
carried in amounts which the Mortgagee may deem sufficient for its complete protection, but in no event less than the full
insurable replacement cost of the Mortgaged Property less the value of the land and no less than those amounts set forth
in the Ground Lease. In addition, during all construction, Mortgagor shall provide builders'all-risk extended coverage
insurance on a completed value, non-reporting form, in amounts approved by the Mortgagee, but not less than one
hundred percent ( 100%) of the full insurable replacement cost of the Mortgaged Property without regard for depreciation
and with an "inflation guard" endorsement. The premiums for all such insurance shall be paid by the Mortgagor not later
than fifteen (15) days before the same are due. The original of such policy or policies shall be delivered to and held by
the Mortgagee and shall be made payable to the Mortgagee by having attached or contained in the policy or policies a
Standard Mortgagee Clause without contribution and shall be subject to all other provisions of this Mortgage and ofthe
Ground Lease. No additional parties shall appear in the mortgagee clause without Mortgagee's priorwritten consent. All
policies of insurance shall provide that they may not be cancelled, even for nonpayment of premium, or materially
changed without at least thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Mortgagee.

B. All insurance monies, if any, recovered under any ofthe policies of insurance provided for in
the Ground Lease shall be applied, and by its acceptance ofthis Mortgage, the Mortgagee agrees that any such insurance
monies received by the Mortgagee shall be applied by the Mortgagee, in accordance with the provisions of the Ground
Lease; provided, however, that any unexpended balance of such monies remaining after such application shall, at the
option of the Moftgagee, be applied in reduction of the then outstanding Indebtedness.

4

91



C. If the Mortgagee shall by any manner acquire title to the Mortgaged Properfy, it shall
thereupon become the sole and absolute owner ofall insurance policies held by or required hereunder to be delivered to
the Mortgagee, with the sole right to collect and retain all unearned premiums thereon, and the Mortgagor shall only be
entitled to a credit, in reduction ofthe then outstanding Indebtedness, in the amount ofthe short rate cancellation refund.

D. Whenever and so long as the Mortgagor shall procure and maintain any policy or policies of
rent insurance with respect to any building constituting a portion of the Mortgaged Property, each such policy shall be
payable to the Mortgagee, as its interest may appear, pursuant to a standard mortgagee clause in non-contributing form,
and the original or a copy of each such policy shall be delivered to the Mortgagee. All proceeds of any such rent
insurance, when received by the Mortgagee, shall be applied, first, to the payment of all then due and unpaid installments
of rent, additional rent, impositions and other charges and payments required to be paid pursuant to the provisions ofthe
Ground Lease, second, to the payment ofany then due and unpaid portion ofthe Indebtedness, and, third, to cure any
default of the Mortgagor in the performance or observance of any of its obligations hereunder or under the Ground Lease
and, thereafter, any remaining balance of such proceeds shall be paid over to the Mortgagor.

6. ALTERATIONS. DEMOLITION

That no building presently or hereafter constituting a portion of the Mortgaged Property shall be removed or
demolished without the prior written consent of the Mortgagee. The Mortgagor further covenants that it will not make,
authorize or permit to be made any changes or alterations in or to any such building other than changes and alterations
(hereafter called "Permitted Alterations") ofthe character expressly permitted by the provisions ofthe Ground Lease and
that all such made by the Mortgagor shall be performed in the manner and subject to all ofthe conditions set forth in the
Ground Lease, and subject to the further conditions, to wit: (A) that no single structural change or alteration involving an
estimated cost in excess of Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($25.000.00) shall be undertaken without the prior written
consent of the Mortgagee; and (B) any bond, for the completion or payment of any such alteration, furnished to or for the
benefrt of the Lessor under and pursuant to the Ground Lease, shall also name the Mortgagee as an obligee, or a similar
bond shall be furnished to and for the benefit of the Mortgagee.

7. DISPOSITION OF GROTJND LEASE AND SUBLEASES

That except in the manner hereinafter permitted, the Mortgagor will not (A) sell, assign, transfer, mortgage,
pledge or otherwise dispose of or encumber, whether by operation of law or otherwise, any sublease of space in any
building now or hereafter constituting a portion ofthe Mortgaged Property, or any rents, issues or profits issuing from the
Mortgaged Property, (B) place a subordinate mortgage on the Ground Lease without the prior written consent of the
Mortgagee, or (C) sell, assign or transfer the Ground Lease.

8. PzuOzuTY OF LIEN - AFTER-ACOUIRED PROPERTY - NO MERGER

A. That this Mortgage is and will be maintained as a valid first mortgage lien on the Mortgaged
Properfy and that the Mortgagor will not, directly or indirectly, create or suffer or permit to be created, or to stand,
against the Mortgaged Property or any portion thereof, or against the rents, issues and profits therefrom any lien or charge
prior to or upon aparity with the lien of this Mortgage.

B. The Mortgagor will keep and maintain the Mortgaged Property free and clear of all liens and
persons supplying labor and materials entering into the construction, modification or repair of any and all buildings now
or hereafter erected on the Mortgaged Property. If any such liens shall be filed against the Mortgaged Properfy, the
Mortgagor agrees to discharge the same of record within the time limits set forth in the Ground Lease or within twenty
(20) days, whichever shall be less.

C. In no event shall the Mortgagor do or permit to be done, or omit to do or permit the omission
of, any act or thing, the doing of, or omission to do, which would impair the security of this Mortgage, or would
constitute grounds for the termination of the Ground Lease, or would entitle the Lessor hereunder to declare a forfeiture
of the Ground Lease, or to reenter the Mortgaged Property covered thereby. The Mortgagor will not release, surrender or

5

92



terminate the Ground Lease without the prior written consent of the Mortgagee, nor without similar consent will the
Mortgagor modify the Ground Lease so as to reduce the term thereof, or to increase the rentals payable thereunder, or to
alter those provisions relating to grace periods, notices to be given to the Mortgagee, construction, use, reconstruction or
demolition of the buildings on the Mortgaged Property, payment of Impositions, renewal privileges, options to purchase,

if any, or in any other manner which would impair the security of this Mortgage.

D. The Mortgagor further covenants and agrees that there shall be no merger of the Ground
Lease, or ofthe leasehold estate created thereby, or (except as provided in the Ground Lease) ofany buildings, structures,
Equipment or other improvements now or hereafter constituting a portion ofthe Mortgaged Property, with the fee estate
of the owner or owners of the land and Mortgaged Property described in the Ground Lease, by reason ofthe fact that the
Ground Lease or the leasehold interest created thereby, or any interest in any such buildings, structures, Equipment or
other improvements, may be held by or for the account of any person or persons who shall be the owner or owners of
such fee estate in the land and Mortgaged Property, unless and until all persons at the time having an interest in the fee
estate in the land and Mortgaged Property and all persons, including the Mortgagee, at the time having an interest in the
Ground Lease, leasehold estate, buildings, structures, Equipment and improvements, shall join in a written instrument
effecting such merger and shall duly record the same.

E. All property of every kind acquired by the Mortgagor after the date hereof which, by the terms
hereof if required or intended to be subjected to the lien ofthis Mortgage shall, immediately, upon the acquisition thereof
by the Mortgagor, and without any further mortgage, conveyance, assignment or transfer become subject to the lien of
this mortgage, subject, however, to the provisions of the Ground Lease. Nevertheless, the Mortgagor will do, execute,
acknowledge and deliver all and every such further acts, conveyances, mortgages and assurances as the Mortgagee shall
reasonably require for accomplishing the purposes of this Mortgage.

F. If any action or proceeding shall be instituted to evict the Mortgagor or recover possession of
the Mortgaged Property or for the foreclosure of any subordinate mortgage or for any other purpose affecting the Ground
Lease or this Mortgage, the Mortgagor will immediately, upon service thereof, on or by the Mortgagor, deliver to the
Mortgagee a true copy of each precept, petition, summons, complaint, notice of motion, order to show cause, and all
other process, pleadings and papers however designated served in such action or proceeding and in any such action or
proceeding.

9. MECHANICSTMATERIALMEN'S LIENS

The Mortgagor shall not permit any mechanics', materialmen's or laborers'liens to stand against the Mortgaged
Property. If any such lien shall at any time be recorded against the Mortgaged Property, then the Mortgagor shall (A)
give written notice thereof promptly to Mortgagee, and (B) cause the same to be discharged of record within fifteen (15)
days after the date of recording of the same either by payment, deposit or bond; provided that if the Ground Lease
provides for a lesser period of grace than is contained in this Mortgage, then the lesser period of grace contained in the
Ground Lease shall prevail. If Mortgagor fails to discharge any such lien within such applicable grace period, then
Mortgagee, in addition to any other right or remedy hereunder, shall have the option (but not the obligation) to procure
the discharge of such lien either by depositing the amount claimed to be due in court or by bonding. Any amount paid or
deposited by Mortgagee to discharge such lien, and all costs and other expenses, including all reasonable attorneys'fees
and paralegals' fees, including any sales or service tax due and payable upon the attorneys'fees and paralegals'fees,
incurred in defending any action to foreclose such lien, shall be deemed to be a part ofthe Indebtedness and shall be due
and payable, with interest at the highest non-usurious rate permitted by the laws ofthe State of Florida or the applicable
laws of the United States of America, whichever shall be higher, without demand, immediately.

IO. CONDEMNATION

That in the event the Ground Lease shall be terminated in whole or in part as a result of any condemnation
proceeding, the Mortgagee shall be entitled to and shall receive the total of all awards made or allowed to the Mortgagor,
as Lessee under the Ground Lease, with respect to all right, title and interest of the Mortgagor in and to the Mortgaged
Property or the portion or portions thereof taken or affected by such condemnation proceeding (hereinafter called
"Mortgagor's Award"); provided, however, that to the extent that the Mortgagor's Award so received by the Mortgagee

6

93



shall exceed the amount required to satis8/ in full the total Indebtedness then outstanding, the Mortgagee shall pay over to
the Mortgagor the amount of such excess, and provided, further, that until the actual vesting of title in such proceeding
the obligations of the Mortgagor to perform the teÍns, covenants and conditions of the Ground Lease and this Mortgage
shall continue unimpaired. In the event of a taking of a portion of the Mortgaged Property in any such proceeding, which
taking shall not result in a termination of the Ground Lease pursuant to its terms, the Mortgagor shall promptly proceed
with the restoration of the remaining portion ofthe Mortgaged Property in accordance with the provisions ofthe Ground
Lease and shall continue to perform and observe all ofthe terms, conditions and provisions ofthe Ground Lease and of
this Mortgage, throughout any period of restoration or reconstruction, and until the Indebtedness is paid. Upon the
completion of the restoration ofthe buildings upon the Mortgaged Property, and upon the receipt by the Mortgagor from
the lessor named in the Ground Lease of any condemnation proceeds not used for the cost of the restoration of the
buildings, the Mortgagor shall promptly pay over any unused proceeds to the Mortgagee and such proceeds shall, at the
option of the Mortgagee, be applied in reducing the Indebtedness; provided, however, that, to the extent that the
Mortgagor's Award so received by the Mortgagee shall exceed the amount required to satisfu in full the then total
Indebtedness, the Mortgagee shall pay over to the Mortgagor the amount of such excess. In no event shall the Mortgagee
be required to satisf, this Mortgage until the Indebtedness is fully paid and the Mortgagor shall not be required to release
from the lien of this Mortgage any portion of the Mortgaged Property so taken until the Mortgagee receives the entire
award for the portion so taken to which it and the Mortgagor are entitled hereunder and under the Ground Lease. The
provisions of this paragraph shall control in the event of the condemnation of the Mortgaged Property or any part thereof,
but only to the extent not prohibited by or inconsistent with the terms, covenants and conditions ofthe Ground Lease. In
the case ofany conflict between the provisions ofthis paragraph and the provisions ofthe Ground Lease, the provisions
of the Ground Lease shall prevail. The Mortgagor will not enter into any agreement for the taking of the Mortgaged
Property, or any part thereof, with anyone authorized to acquire the same by condemnation without the prior written
consent of the Mortgagee.

II. PERFORMANCE OF GROUND LEASE

The Mortgagor covenants that, in addition to the payment of all rent, additional rent, Impositions (as defined
herein), and other payments and charges required to be paid by the Mortgagor, as Lessee, under and pursuant to the
provisions of the Ground Lease, the Mortgagor:

A. will diligently perform and observe all of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Ground
Lease required to be performed and observed by the Mortgagor, as such Lessee, to the end that all things shall be done
which are necessary to keep unimpaired the Mortgagor's rights as Lessee under the Ground Lease;

B. will promptly notify the Mortgagee in writing of any default by the Ground Lessor in the
performance or observance ofany ofthe terms, covenants or conditions on the part ofthe Ground Lessorto be performed
or observed, or ofthe occurence ofany event, regardless oflapse oftime, ofthe character specified in Paragraph l7
hereof;

C. will promptly ( I ) advise the Mortgagee in writing of any notice given by the Ground Lessor to
the Mortgagor, as Lessee, of any default by the Mortgagor in the performance or observance of any terms, covenants or
conditions of the Ground Lease, and (2) deliver to the Mortgagee a true copy of each such notice;

D. will, at least six (6) months prior to the last day upon which the Mortgagor, as such Lessee,
may validly exercise any option to renew or extend the term of the Ground Lease: (l) exercise such option in such
manner as will cause the term of the Ground Lease to be effectively renewed or extended for the period provided by such
option; and(2) give immediate written notice thereof to the Mortgagee. In the event Mortgagor fails to give notice as is
required by subsection (2) hereof, the Mortgagee shall have, and is hereby granted, the irrevocable right to exercise any
such option either in the name and behalf of a designee or nominee of the Mortgagee or in the name and behalf of the
Mortgagor, as the Mortgagee shall in its sole discretion determine; provided, however, that ifthe Mortgagor shall prepay
the Indebtedness in full at least six (6) months prior to the last day upon which the Mortgagor, as such Lessee, may
validly exercise any option to renew or extend the term of the Ground Lease, the Mortgagor will not be obliged to
exercise any such option of renewal or extension, nor will the Mortgagee have any right to exercise any such option;

7

94



E. will, promptly after the execution and delivery of this Mortgage or of any instrument or
agreement supplemental thereto or executed in connection herewith, notify the Ground Lessor in writing ofthe execution
and delivery thereofand deliver to the Ground Lessor a copy ofeach such instrument or agreement;

F. will promptly notifu the Mortgagee in writing in the event any arbitration proceeding is
initiated under and pursuant to the provisions of the Ground Lease. It is expressly agreed that if the Mortgagor is in
default in the performance or observance ofany term, covenant, condition, or other requirement hereof, or ofthe Ground
Lease, at the time any such arbihation proceeding is initiated, the Mortgagee shall have the sole and exclusive right to
designate and appoint the arbitrator to be appointed in such arbitration proceeding;

G. will, within five (5) days after written demand by the Mortgagee, execute, in such form as

shall be required by the Mortgagee, an estoppel certificate, duly acknowledged, setting forth the amount ofprincipal and
interest unpaid under the Promissory Note and the general status ofthis Mortgage, including, without limitation, whether
any offsets or defenses exist against payment ofthe Indebtedness;

H. hereby grants to the Mortgagee the irrevocable right to exercise any purchase option contained
in the Ground Lease, either in Mortgagee's own name and behalf of a designee or nominee of the Mortgagee or in the
name and behalf ofthe Mortgagor, as the Mortgagee shall, in its sole discretion, determine; provided, however, that (l) if
the Mortgagor shall not be in default under this Mortgage or the Note or under the Ground Lease, the Mortgagee shall not
exercise any such option to purchase, and(2) ifthe Mortgagor shall be in default, but shall prepaythe Indebtedness in full
within the time limitations and grace periods provided in this Mortgage and the Note, the Mortgagee will not exercise
such option to purchase. The Mortgagor shall not exercise any such option to purchase without the prior written consent
of the Mortgagee.

12. LATECHARGE

That the Mortgagee may collect a"late charge" not to exceed FIVE CENTS ($.05) for each dollar of each
payment due hereunder made more than fifteen (15) days in arrears to cover the extra expense involved in handling
delinquent payments.

13. RECORDED INSTRUMENTS

That the Mortgagor will promptly perform and observe, or cause to be performed or observed, all of the terms,
covenants and conditions of all instruments of record affecting the Mortgaged Property, noncompliance with which shall
affect the security ofthis Mortgage, or shall impose any duty or obligation upon the Mortgagor or any sublessee or other
occupant of the Mortgaged Property or any part thereof, and the Mortgagor shall do, or cause to be done, all things
necessary to preserve intact and unimpaired any and all easements, appurtenances and other interests and rights in favor
of or constituting any portion of the Mortgaged Property, whether or not the same are of record.

14. MORTGAGEE MAY CURE MORTGAGOR'S DEFAULTS

That ifthe Mortgagor shall fail to: (A) pay any installment ofrent or additional rent reserved under the Ground
Lease; (B) or to pay any real estate tax, assessment or other governmental levy or charge or any Imposition; (C) to make
any other payment required to be paid by the Mortgagor, as Lessee under the Ground Lease, at the time and in the manner
provided in the Ground Lease; (D) to perform or observe any other term, covenant, condition or obligation required to be
performed or observed by the Mortgagor under the Ground Lease or under any sublease, then, without limiting the
generality of any other provision of this Mortgage and without waiving or releasing the Mortgagor from any of its
obligations hereunder, the Mortgagee shall have the right, but not the obligation, to pay any such installment of rent or
additional rent and/or any such tax, assessment, levy, charge, Imposition or other payment, and may perform any other act
or take such action as may be appropriate to cause such other term, covenant, condition or obligation to be promptly
performed or observed on behalf of the Mortgagor, to the end that the Mortgagor's rights in, to and under the Ground
Lease and each such sublease shall be kept unimpaired and free from default. If the Mortgagee shall make any payment
or perform any act or take action in accordance with the preceding sentence, the Mortgagee will give to the Mortgagor
written notice of the making of any such payment, the performance of any such act or the taking of any such action.

I

95



Subject to the rights ofsublessees and other occupants, in any such event, the Mortgagee and any person designated by
the Mortgagee shall have, and is hereby granted, the right to enter upon the Mortgaged Property at any time and from
time to time for the purpose of taking any such action, and all monies expended by the Mortgagee in connection therewith
(including, but not limited to, legal expenses and disbursements), together with interest thereon at the highest non-
usurious rate permitted by the laws of the State of Florida or of the applicable laws of the United States of America,
whichever shall be higher from the date of each such expenditure, shall be paid by the Mortgagor to the Mortgagee
forthwith upon demand by the Mortgagee, and shall be secured by this Mortgage, and the Mortgagee shall have, in
addition to any other right of remedy of the Mortgagee, the same rights and remedies in the event of nonpayment of any
such sums by the Mortgagor as in the case of a default by the Mortgagor in the payment of any installment of principal
due and payable hereunder. If, pursuant to the Ground Lease, the Ground Lessor shall deliver to the Mortgagee a

duplicate copy of any notice, of the character referred to in the Ground Lease, given by the Ground Lessor to the
Mortgagor, as Lessee under the Ground Lease, such notice shall constitute full protection to the Mortgagee for any action
taken or omitted to be taken by the Mortgagee, in good faith, in reliance thereon.

15. SUBLEASES

A. That the Mortgagor will not, without the prior written consent of the Mortgagee:

1. sublet to any person or entity, except for actual occupancy by such person or entity,
all, or substantially all, of the space in any buildings or structures now or hereafter constituting a portion of the
Mortgaged Property;

2. cancel, terminate or accept a surrender or suffer or permit any cancellation,
termination or surrender of any sublease;

3. modi$ any sublease so asto reducethetermthereoforthe rentpayablethereunderor
to change any renewal provisions therein contained;

4. commence any summary proceeding or other action to recover possession of any
space leased pursuant to any sublease, other than a proceeding brought in good faith by reason of a default of any
sublessee;

5. receive or collect, or permit the receipt or collection of; any rental payment ofmore
than one periodic installment ofrent under any sublease in advance ofthe due dates ofsuch rental payments, except that
the Mortgagor may, at the time of the execution of any such sublease, require any sublessee thereunder to make a rent
security deposit, or an advance payment ofrent, for the initial rental period ofsuch sublease, in an amount not exceeding
one periodic installment ofthe rent reserved under such sublease; or

6. request any sublessee to subordinate any sublease to the lien ofany fee mortgage on
the Mortgaged Property demised under the Ground Lease or any subordinate leasehold mortgage on the Mortgaged
Property.

B. The Mortgagor will perform and observe all ofthe terms, covenants and conditions required to
be performed and observed by the Mortgagor, as Lessor, under each sublease, unless such performance shall have been
waived or not required by the sublessee thereunder, to the end that all matters shall be done which are necessary to keep
the Mortgagor's rights as Lessor unimpaired under each sublease. The Mortgagor shall promptly notiff the Mortgagee of:
(l) the commencement of any action or proceeding by any sublessee, the purpose of which shall be the cancellation of

any sublease or a diminution ofthe rent payable thereunder; (2) the interposition by any sublessee ofany defense in any
action or proceeding brought by the Mortgagor against such sublessee; or (3) of a written notice received by the
Mortgagor from any sublessee claiming constructive eviction, and will cause a copy of any process, pleading or notice
received by the Mortgagor in reference to any such action, defense or claim to be promptly delivered to the Mortgagee.

C. For the further and additional securing ofthe Indebtedness, the Mortgagor shall, upon demand
of the Mortgagee, assign to the Mortgagee all the right, title and interest of the Mortgagor, as Lessor of each such

9

96



sublease, as the Mortgagee may from time to time require. Each such instrument of assignment shall provide, among
other things, that the assignor shall be permitted to collect the rents payable under the subleases, as such rents become
due, so long as there is no default under this Mortgage or the Ground Lease, and shall specifically assign and transfer to
the Mortgagee any and all right or privilege of the Mortgagor to cancel or terminate any assigned sublease, to accept
prepayment of more than one installment of rent thereunder prior to its due date, to accept a surrender thereof; or to
modify any assigned sublease so as to reduce the term thereofor the rental payable thereunder or to change any renewal
provisions therein contained without the prior written consent of the Mortgagee.

16. CHANGE IN LAWS FOR T OF MORTGAGES

That in the event ofthe passage, after the date ofthis Mortgage, of any law deducting from the value of land for
the purposes of taxation any lien thereon, or imposing upon the Mortgagee the obligation to pay the whole, or any part, of
the taxes or assessments or charges or liens herein required to be paid by the Mortgagor, or changing in any waythe laws
relating to the taxation of mortgages or debts as to affect this Mortgage or the Indebtedness, the entire unpaid balance of
all sums secured hereby shall, at the option of the Mortgagee, after thirty (30) days written notice to the Mortgagor,
become due and payable.

17. ACCELERATION OF PRINCIPAL

A. The whole of the Indebtedness shall become due and payable, at the option ofthe Mortgagee,
and the Mortgagee may foreclose this Mortgage as provided by law.in the event Mortgagor is in default in the payment of
any installment of principal or interest, for thirty (30) days, or after default in the payment of: (1) any rent, additional
rent or other payment required to be paid under the Ground Lease; (2) any real estate tax, assessment, water or sewerrate
or charge; or (3) any other governmental levy or charge (hereinafter collectively called "Impositions") for thirty (30) days
after any of the payments described in subparagraphs A( 1 ), A(2) and A(3) above become due and payable pursuant to the
provisions ofthe Ground Lease, but in no event later than the date or dates beyond which a default would occur under the
Ground Lease.

B. The Mortgagor further covenants that the whole of the Indebtedness shall become due, at the
option ofthe Mortgagee, and the Mortgagee may foreclose this Mortgage as provide by law ifany ofthe following events
shall occur:

l. If the Mortgagor shall: (a) apply for, or consent in writing to, the appointment of a
receiver, trustee or liquidator of the Mortgagor or of all or substantially all of its assets; (b) file a voluntary petition in
bankruptcy or admit in writing its inability to pay its debts as they become due; (c) make a general assignment for the
benefitofcreditors; (d) file apetition oran answerseeking areorganization(otherthan areorganizationnotinvolvingthe
liabilities of the Mortgagor) or an affangement with creditors or take advantage of any insolvency law; (e) file an answer
admifiing the material allegations of a petition filed against the Mortgagor in any bankruptcy, reorganization or
insolvency proceedings; (f) as a corporation, be dissolved as the result ofan adversary suit or proceedings; or (g) ifany
execution or attachment shall be levied against the Ground Lease and such execution or attachment shall not be set aside
or discharged within sixty (60) days after the same shall have been levied or if an order, judgment or decree shall be
entered by any court of competent jurisdiction on the application of a creditor adjudicating the Mortgagor a bankrupt or
insolvent, or approving a petition seeking reorganization ofthe Mortgagor (other than areorganizalion not involving the
liabilities ofthe Mortgagor) or appointment of a receiver, trustee or liquidator ofthe Mortgagor, or of all or substantially
all ofits assets, and such order,judgment or decree shall continue unstayed and in effect forany period ofsixty (60) days,
or if the Ground Lessor shall give to the Mortgagor, as Lessee under the Ground Lease, a notice, as provided in the
Ground Lease, of its intention to terminate the Ground Lease. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this
subparagraph 1, the Mortgagee shall not have the right to declare a default hereunder in the event a receiver or trustee is
appointed for the Mortgagor or any of its assets in circumstances other than those set forth in the foregoing clause (a) of
this subparagraph I so long as: (i) the basic rent and all items of additional rent continue to be paid in accordance with
the terms of the Ground Lease and the Ground Lease is not otherwise in default; and (ii) the Mortgagor continues to pay
the installments of principal and interest secured by this Mortgage as they become due and performs all the other terms
hereof;

10

97



2. If, pursuant to the Ground Lease, the Ground Lessor gives to the Mortgagor, as such
Lessee, notice of any default and the Mortgagor shall not immediately cure such default or otherwise to correct or remedy
the matter complained of or referred to in such notice and, in any event, to complete the same prior to the time when the
Ground Lessor would be entitled to give to the Mortgagor, as such Lessee, notice of intention to end the Ground Lease,
as provided in the Ground Lease;

3. If the Mortgagor shall, at any time, fail to maintain in full force and effect any
insurance required hereunder to be maintained by the Mortgagor for the benefit of the Mortgagee and/or the Ground
Lessor;

4. If, upon the application ofthe Mortgagee, two or more fire insurance companies shall
refuse to issue policies insuring any building or buildings constituting a portion of the Mortgaged Property;

5. If the Mortgagor shall suffer or permit, or shall undertake or attempt or threaten to
undeftake, any demolition or removal, or any change or alternation (other than such changes and alterations as are
specifically permitted hereunder) of any buildings now or hereafter constituting a portion of the Mortgaged Property;

6. If the Mortgagor shall, or shall attempt to, sell, assign or transfer or to mortgage,
pledge, or otherwise encumber, except in the manner and to the extent expressly permitted in this Mortgage, the whole or
any portion of its rights, title or interests in, under or to the Ground Lease or the leasehold estate created thereby or in,
under or to any sublease or any rentals payable under any sublease;

7 . Ifthe Mortgagor shall cancel, terminate, modify or accept a surrender ofany sublease

or refuse to assign to the Mortgagee all its right, title and interest in any substance as hereinabove provided;

8. If the Mortgagor shall modi$ any sublease so as to reduce the term thereof or the
rent payable thereunder or to change any renewal provision therein contained;

9. If the Mortgagor shall demand or collect, in advance, payment of more than one
periodic installment of rent under any sublease, except as and to the extent expressly permitted hereunder;

10. Ifthe Mortgagor shall sublet to any person, except for actual occupancy by such
person, all or substantially all of the space in any buildings now or hereafter constituting a portion of the Mortgaged
Properfy;

1 l. If the Mortgagor shall request any sublessee of space in the building constituting a
portion of the Mortgaged Property to subordinate any such sublease to the lien of any fee mortgage on the Mortgaged
Property demised under the Ground Lease or any subordinate leasehold mortgage upon the Mortgaged Property;

12. If the Mortgagor shall fail to perform or observe, or cause to be performed or
observed, any other term, covenant, condition or obligation of this Mortgage, on the part of the Mortgagor to be
performed or observed, for ten (10) days after notice and demand.

C. The Mortgagee shall give the Ground Lessor written notice of the occurrence of any of the
foregoing defaults and the Ground Lessor shall have the right, but shall not be obligated to cure any such default at any
time which by the terms of this Mortgage or pursuant to the provisions of applicable law, the Mortgagee has the right to
cure such default.

I8. APPOINTMENT OF RECEIVER

That the Mortgagee, in any action to foreclose this Mortgage, shall be entitled, without notice or demand and
without regard to the adequacy ofany security for the Indebtedness or the solvency or insolvency ofany person liable for
the payment thereof, to the appointment of a receiver ofthe rents, issues and profits ofthe Mortgaged Properfy; and in the
event of any default or defaults in the payment of any installment of principal or interest or in the payment of any taxes,

11

98



assessments, water rates, sewer rents, or other governmental levies, charges or Impositions, or of any premium on
insurance, or of any breach or violation of any other covenant or condition contained herein, including, but not limited to,
any default by the Mortgagor, as Lessee under the Ground Lease, in the performance or observance of any ofthe terms,
covenants or conditions ofthe Ground Lease on the part ofthe Mortgagor, as such Lessee, to be performed or observed,
such rents, issues and profits and the value ofthe use and occupation ofthe Mortgaged Property are hereby assigned to
the Mortgagee as further security for the payment of the Indebtedness.

19. TRANSFER OF MORTGAGED PREMISES

A. The Mortgagor and Mortgagee recognize that the Mortgagee is not relying solely on the
Mortgaged Property as security for the loan, but is relying also upon the "know how" and business acumen of the
principals of the Mortgagor. The responsibility for development, management or administration of the Mortgaged
Property may not be passed on to a subsequent purchaser ofthe Mortgaged Property. The parties agree that a transfer of
the Mortgaged Property by the Mortgagor would result in the impairment ofthe Mortgagee's security interest, because the
Mortgagee would no longer be able to rely on the Mortgagor being in possession and control ofthe Mortgaged Property.
Moreover, Mortgagor recognizes that Mortgagee is entitled to keep its loan portfolio at current interest rates by either

making new loans at such rates or collecting assumption fees and./or increasing the interest rate on a loan, the security for
which is purchased by aparfi other than the original Mortgagor.

B. In accordance with the foregoing, Mortgagor agrees that any sale, conveyance, assignment,
further encumbrance or other transfer oftitle to the Mortgaged Property or any interest therein, whether voluntary or by
operation of law, without the Mortgagee's prior written consent, shall be an event of Default hereunder. For purposes of
and without limiting the generality ofthe foregoing, the occurrence at any time ofany one ofthe following events shall be
deemed to be an unpermitted transfer of title to the Mortgaged Property and, therefore, an event of Default hereunder:

I . any sale, conveyance, assignment, installment, agreement or other transfer of all or
any part of the Mortgaged Property;

2. any sublease for a term in excess ofthree (3) years and covering the entire Mortgaged
Property;

3. any termination by Mortgagor of its role as Lessee of the Mortgaged Property; or

4. a voluntarytransferby any shareholder ofa corporate Mortgagororofthe corporate
managing general partner of the Mortgagor (ifthe Mortgagor is a limited partnership), which transfer would reduce such
shareholder's controlling interest in the corporation or the corporate managing general partner to less than fifty-one
percent (51%).

Any consent by the Mortgagee, or any waiver of an event of Default under this Paragraph 19, shall not constitute
a consent to, or a waiver of, any right, remedy or power of the Mortgagee upon a subsequent event of Default under this
Paragraph. Mortgagor covenants and agrees not to seek or secure subordinate financing secured by the Mortgaged
Property without the written approval and consent of Mortgagee.

20. RIGHTS TO INSPECT

That the Mortgagee and its authorized representatives shall have the right (subject to the rights ofsublessees and
other occupants and reasonable reshictions ofsublessees having regard to the character ofthe business ofsuch sublessees

conducted in the Mortgaged Property). upon reasonable notice and at all reasonable times during usual business hours, to
enter upon and inspect all portions of the Mortgaged Property.

21. MORTGAGEE'S RIGHT OF POSSESSION

That if default be made hereunder or in any payment required to be made under the Note or obligation secured
hereby, at the time specified for payment thereof as extended by any applicable period of grace specified herein or in the

12

99



Note or obligation, the Mortgagee shall have, and by the execution hereof the Mortgagor hereby irrevocably grants to the
Mortgagee to the full extent permitted by law, the right forthwith after any such default to enter upon and take possession

of the Mortgaged Property and to let the same and receive all the rents, issues and prohts thereof, overdueo due or to
become due, and to apply the same, after payment ofall necessary charges and expenses, on account ofthe Indebtedness.
For such purpose, the rents, issues and profits, and all subleases and other documents evidencing such rents, issues and

profits, and any and all deposits which shall be held by the Mortgagor as security under such subleases, to the extent
permitted by law, are hereby assigned to the Mortgagee subject to the rights of sublessees thereto, as further security for
the payment ofthe Indebtedness. At the option of the Mortgagee, such entry and taking of possession of the Mortgaged
Property shall be accomplished either by actual entry and possession or by written notice served personally upon or sent
by registered mail to the Mortgagor last appearing on the records ofthe Mortgagee. Any sublessee which shall default in
the payment to the Mortgagee of any rent payable by such sublessee may be dispossessed by the usual summary
proceedings. In the event that the Mortgagor shall physically occupy the Mortgaged Property or any part thereof, the
Mortgagor agrees to surrender possession thereof to the Mortgagee immediately upon any such default hereunder or in
any payment required to be made under the Note or obligation secured thereby. Ifthe Mortgagor shall remain in physical
possession ofthe Mortgaged Property or any portion thereofafter any such default, such possession shall be as tenant of
the Mortgagee, and the Mortgagor agrees to pay to the Mortgagee, after any such default, a reasonable monthly rental for
the Mortgaged Property or the portion thereof so occupied by the Mortgagor to be applied as provided in the first
sentence ofthis Paragraph and to be paid in advance on the first day ofeach calendar month, and, in default ofso doing,
may be dispossessed by the usual summary proceedings. In the event the Mortgagor shall so remain in possession of all
or any portion of the Mortgaged Property, and "reasonable monthly rental" shall be not less than that portion of the
amount equal to one-twelfth (1/12) ofthe sum ofthe annual principal and interest payments requiredto be paid underthe
Note or obligation secured hereby, plus one-twelfth(1112) of the sum ofthe annual rent payable under the Ground Lease

and the annual real estate taxes, assessment, water rates, and other impositions and insurance premiums payable with
respect to the Mortgaged Property (as indicated by the records ofthe Mortgagee), which the portion ofthe rentable space
so occupied by the Mortgagor shall bear to the total rentable space of the Mortgaged Property. This covenant shall be
effective irrespective ofwhether any foreclosure proceeding shall have been instituted and irrespective ofany application
for or appointment of a receiver.

22. LEGALEXPENSES

That if any action or proceeding be commenced, including any action to foreclose this Mortgage, to which
action or proceeding the Mortgagee is made aparl.y, or in which it becomes necessary to defend or uphold the lien ofthis
Mortgage, all sums paid by the Mortgagee to prosecute, defend or settle by negotiations the rights and lien created by this
Mortgage (including reasonable counsel fees and paralegals' fees, including any sales or service tax on such fees) shall be
paid by the Mortgagor (through all trial and appellate levels, including post-judgment and adminishative proceedings),
together with interest thereon at the highest non-usurious rate permitted by Florida law or the applicable laws of the
United States of America, whichever shall be higher, and any such sum and interest thereon shall be a lien on the
Mortgaged Property, prior to any right to title to, interest in or claim upon the Mortgaged Property attaching or accruing
subsequent to the lien ofthis Mortgage, and shall be deemed to be secured by this Mortgage. In any action orproceeding
to foreclose this Mortgage, or to recover or collect the Indebtedness, the provisions oflaw respecting the recovering of
costs, disbursements and allowances shall prevail unaffected by this covenant.

23. INTEREST ON OVERDUE PAYMENTS - USURY

Any provisions of this Mortgage which provides, in substance, that any advance, expense or other payment by
Mortgagee shall bear interest at the maximum rate permitted by applicable law shall be deemed to mean the maximum
non-usurious rate of interest which may be contracted for under the laws of the State of Florida or the applicable laws of
the United States of America, whichever shall be higher. Neither the provisions of this Mortgage nor the Note secured
hereby shall have the effect of or be construed as requiring or permitting the Mortgagor to pay interest on the
Indebtedness in excess of the highest rate per annum allowed by the laws of the State of Florida or the United States of
America, whichever shall be higher. If, under any circumstances, the Mortgagee shall ever receive, as interest, an amount
which would exceed such highest non-usurious rate, such amount which would be excessive interest shall, ipso facto, be
applied to the reduction of the unpaid principal balance due under the Note and not to the payment of interest.

13

100



24, TAXONNOTE ORGROUND LEASE

That in the event that hereafter it is claimed by any governmental agency that any tax or other governmental
charge or imposition is due, unpaid and payable by the Mortgagor or the Mortgagee upon the Note hereby secured or
upon the Ground Lease, the Mortgagor will forthwith either (A) pay such and, within a reasonable time thereafter, deliver
to the Mortgagee satisfactory proof of payment thereof; or (B) deposit with the Mortgagee the amount of such claimed
tax, together with interest and penalties thereon, pending an application for a review ofthe claim for such tax and, within
a reasonable time, deliver to the Mortgagee either ( I ) evidence satisfactory to the Mortgagee that such claim of taxability
has been withdrawn or defeated, in which event any such deposit shall be returned to the Mortgagor, or (2) a direction
from the Mortgagor to the Mortgagee to pay the same out of the deposit above mentioned, directly to the taxing authority
and any excess of such deposit over such payment by the Mortgagee to be returned to the Mortgagor. Upon the failure of
the Mortgagor to comply with the provisions of this Article, the whole of the principal sum and interest secured by this
Mortgage shall, at the option of the Mortgagee, become due and payable. If liability for such tax is asserted against the
Mortgagee, the Mortgagee will give to the Mortgagor prompt notice of such claim, and the Mortgagor, upon complying
with the provisions of this Article, shall have full right and authority to contest such claim of taxability.

25. NO WAIVER

That a waiver of one or more instances of any of the terms, covenants or conditions or provisions hereof, or of
the Note or obligation secured hereby, shall apply to the particular instance or instances and at the particular time or
times only, and no such waiver shall be deemed a continuing waiver, but all ofthe terms, covenants, conditions and other
provisions of this Mortgage and of the Note or obligation secured hereby shall survive and continue to remain in full
force and effect.

26. MODIFICATION

That no extension ofthe time or modification ofthe terms of payment ofthe Promissory Note and no release of
aîy part or parts of the Mortgaged Property by the Mortgagee shall release, relieve or discharge the Mortgagor from the
payment of any ofthe Indebtedness, but, in such event, the Mortgagor shall nevertheless be liable to pay the Indebtedness
according to the terms of such extension or modification unless specifically released and discharged in writing by the
Mortgagee. Any acceptance by the Mortgagee of part payment of any installment of principal or interest, or both, or of
part performance of any covenant, or delay by the Mortgagee for any period of time in exercising the option to accelerate
the Indebtedness shall not operate as a waiver ofthe right to exercise such option to accelerate the Indebtedness.

27. NOTICES

All notices, demands and requests given or required to be given by either party hereto to the other party shall be
in writing. All notices, demands and requests by the Mortgagee to the Mortgagor shall be deemed to have been properly
given if sent by U.S. registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed to the Mortgagor at the address set forth at
the head ofthis Mortgage or at such other address as the Mortgagor may from time to time designate by written notice to
the Mortgagee given as herein required. All notices, demands and requests by the Mortgagor to the Mortgagee at the
address set forth at the head of this Mortgage or to such other address as the Mortgagee may from time to time designate
by written notice to the Mortgagor given as herein required. Notices, demands and requests given in the manner
aforesaid shall be deemed sufficiently served or given for all purposes hereunder three (3) days after such notice, demand
or request shall be postmarked.

28. FUTUREADVANCES

That it is the intent hereof to secure payment of the Promissory Note whether the full amount(s) thereof shall
have been advanced to the Mortgagor at the date hereof or at alater date, and the Mortgagee may, at the sole option of
the Mortgagee, from time to time make future advances to the Mortgagor, which advances shall be secured by this
Mortgage; provided, however, that the total principal sum secured hereby and remaining unpaid, including any such
advances, shall not at any time exceed twice the original principal amount of the Promissory Note, plus interest thereon,
and any disbursements made for the payment of attorneys' fees and paralegals' fees, including any sales or service tax due

14

101



and payable upon the attorneys'fees and paralegals'fees, through all collection, trial, appellate and administrative
procedures, taxes, levies and insurance on the property covered by the lien of this Mortgage, with interest thereon (or
such other maximum amount as may from time to time be permitted by law). All such future advances shall be made
within rwenty (20) years from the date hereof or such longer period of time as may be authorized by Florida law for
making valid future advances with interest, and all indebtedness created by virtue of such future advances shall be and are
secured hereby. All provisions of this Mortgage shall apply to any future advances made pursuant to the provisions of
this Paragraph. It shall be a default under this Mortgage if the Mortgagor shall file among the Public Records a notice
limiting the maximum amount which may be secured bythis Mortgage pursuant to F.S. 697.04(1Xb) or otherwise ifthe
effect of the filing of such notice would in any way prohibit the Mortgagee from making any future advances to be
secured by this Mortgage. Nothing herein contained shall limit the amount secured by this Mortgage if such amount is
increased by advances made by the Mortgagee as herein elsewhere provided and authorized for the protection of the
security of the Mortgagee. At the request and option of the Mortgagee, the Mortgagor shall execute and cause to be
recorded a Notice ofAdvance evidencing each such future advance and shall pay all ofthe Mortgagee's reasonable costs
and expenses incurred in the making of such future advance, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees and paralegals'

fees, including any sales or service tax due and payable upon the attomeys' fees and paralegals' fees, documentary and
intangible taxes, ifany, recording charges, abstract continuations and title insurance endorsements, ifany.

29. SECURITY AGREEMENT

A. Mortgagor and Mortgagee agree: (l) that this Mortgage shall constitute a Security Agreement
within the meaning of the Uniform Commercial Code (hereafter called "Code") ofthe State of Florida with respect to all
sums on deposit with the Mortgagee (hereinafter called "Deposits") and with respect to any property included in the
definition herein of the word "Mortgaged Property", to the extent that such property does not, or may not be deemed to,
form a part ofthe real estate described in Exhibit "4" or may not constitute a "fixture" (within the meaning of Section 9-
313 of the Code, Section 679.373, Florida Statutes), and all replacements of such property, and the proceeds thereof(the
property, replacements, substitutions, additions and the proceeds thereof being sometimes hereafter collectively called
"Collateral"); (2) that a securify interest in and to the Collateral and the Deposits is hereby granted to the Mortgagee; and
(3) that the Deposits and all of Mortgagor's right, title and interest therein are hereby assigned to the Mortgagee, all to
secure payment of the Indebtedness and to secure performance by the Mortgagor of the terlns, covenants and provisions
hereof.

B. Upon an event of Default under this Mortgage, the Mortgagee, pursuant to the appropriate
provisions ofthe Code, shall have an option to proceed with respect to ( 1 ) the real property and/or the Ground Lease and
Collateral in accordance with its rights, powers and remedies with respect to the real property and the Ground Lease, in
which event the default provisions of the Code shall not apply; or (2) the Collateral separately from the real property
and/or the Ground Lease, in which event the Code shall apply, and twenty (20) days notice of the sale of the Collateral
shall be reasonable notice. The reasonable expenses ofretaking, holding, preparing for sale, selling and the like incuned
by the Mortgagee shall include, but not be limited to, reasonable attorneys'fees and paralegals'fees, including any sales
or service tax due and payable upon the attorneys' fees and paralegals' fees, and legal expenses incurred by Mortgagee.
The Mortgagor agrees that, without the written consent ofthe Mortgagee, the Mortgagor will not remove or permit to be
removed from the Mortgaged Property any material portion ofthe Collateral, except that, so long as the Mortgagor is not
in default hereunder or under the Ground Lease, Mortgagor shall be permitted to sell or otherwise dispose of the
Collateral when obsolete, worn out, inadequate, unserviceable or unnecessary for use in the operation ofthe Mortgaged
Property, but only upon replacing the same or substituting for the same other Collateral at least equal in value and utility
to the initial value and utility of that disposed of and in such a manner that the replacement or substituted Collateral shall
be subject to the security interest created hereby and that the security interest ofthe Mortgagee shall be perfected and first
in priority, it being expressly understood and agreed that all replacements, substitutions and additions to the Collateral
shall be and become immediately subject to the security interest of this Mortgage and covered hereby.

C. The Mortgagor shall, ffom time to time, on request of the Mortgagee, deliver to the
Mortgagee, at Mortgagor's expense: (l) such further hnancing statements and security documents and assurances as

Mortgagee may require, to the end that the liens and security interests created hereby shall be and remain perfected and
protected in accordance with the requirements of any present or future law; and (2) an inventory of the Collateral in
reasonable detail. The Mortgagor covenants and represents that all Collateral now is, and that all replacements thereof,

15

102



substitutions therefor or additions thereto, unless the Mortgagee otherwise consents, will be ffee and clear of liens,
encumbrances, title retention devices and security interests ofothers.

D. The Mortgagor and Mortgagee agree, to the extent permitted by law, that: ( I ) all ofthe goods
described within the definition of the word "Mortgaged Property" herein are, or are to become, fixtures on the land
described in Exhibit " A"; (2) this instrument, upon recording or registration in the real estate records ofthe proper offrce,
shall constitute a "fixture filing" within the meaning of Sections 9-313 and 9-402 of the Code (Section679.313 and
Section 679.402, Florida Statutes); (3) a carbon, photographic or other reproduction of this instrument, or of any
financing statement relating hereto, shall be sufficient for fìling purposes.

E. Ifthe Collateral is sold in connection with a sale ofthe Mortgaged Property, Mortgagor shall
notify the Mortgagee prior to such sale and shall require as a condition ofsuch sale that the purchaser specifically agree
to assume Mortgagor's obligations as to the security interests herein granted and to execute whatever agreements and
filings are deemed necessary by the Mortgagee to maintain Mortgagee's first perfected security interest in the Collateral
and Deposits.

30 KEEPING/FIN

That the Mortgagor shall keep adequate records and books ofaccount in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles and will permit the Mortgagee, its agents, accountants and attorneys to visit and inspect the
Mortgaged Property and examine Mortgagor's records and books of account and to discuss its affairs, finances and
accounts with the Mortgagor, at such reasonable times as may be requested by the Mortgagee. Mortgagor shall each year
deliver to Mortgagee, within forty-five (45) days after the end of each fiscal year of the business conducted on the
Mortgaged Property, a balance sheet, a statement of profit and loss, and a statement of income and expenses of the
Mortgaged Property, and a complete financial statement of the Mortgagor's assets and liabilities, setting forth in each
case, in comparative form, figures for the preceding year. Throughout the term of this Mortgage, Mortgagor, at the
request of Mortgagee, with reasonable promptness, will deliver to Mortgagee such other information with respect to
Mortgagor as Mortgagee may reasonably request from time to time, including, without limitation, such financial
statements and other information as Mortgagee may require. All financial statements required hereunder shall be
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, shall be delivered in duplicate, and shall be
accompanied by the certificate of the Mortgagor, dated within five (5) days of the delivery of such statements to
Mortgagee, stating that the financial statements are true and accurate in all respects and that it knows of no default
hereunder, nor of any event which after notice or lapse of time or both would constitute a default, which has occurred and
is continuing, or, ifany such default or event has occurred and is continuing, specifying the nature and period ofexistence
thereof, and what action Mortgagor has taken or proposes to take with respect thereto, and, except as otherwise specified,
stating that Mortgagor has fulfilled all of its obligations under this Mortgage which are required to be fulfilled on or prior
to the date of such certificate. At Mortgagee's option, the financial statements shall be audited and accompanied by a
report and opinion of a certified public accountant of recognized standing. In addition to the foregoing, Mortgagor shall
cause to be delivered to Mortgagee, on an annual basis or as otherwise more frequently required by any guaranty
executed in connection with this Mortgage, accountant prepared financial statements for each guarantor ofthe Promissory
Note and, upon request of Mortgagee, Mortgagor shall furnish to Mortgagee quarterly unaudited rent rolls on the
Mortgaged Properfy.

3I. ESCROW OF TAXES AND INSURANCE

That notwithstanding the provisions of any other Paragraph hereof, during such period or periods as the
Mortgagee may from time to time designate in writing in its sole discretion, the Mortgagor will pay to the Mortgagee a
sum equal to (A) the Mortgagee's estimate of the taxes and assessments next due on the Mortgaged Properfy; and (B) all
annual insurance premiums on insurance policies which the Mortgagor is required to carry hereunder, less any sums
already paid the Mortgagee with respect thereto, divided by the number of months to elapse before one ( 1) month prior to
the date when such taxes, assessments and insurance premiums become due and payable, such sums to be held by the
Mortgagee, without interest, in order to pay such items. If at any time the sums held by the Mortgagee hereunder are
insufficient to pay any such item when due, the Mortgagor shall forthwith, upon demand, pay the deficiency to the
Mortgagee. The monies to be paid by the Mortgagor pursuant to this Paragraph are solely for the added protection ofthe

16

103



Mortgagee and entail no responsibility on the Moftgagee's part beyond the allowing of due credit, without interest, for
sums actually received by the Mortgagee. Upon the occurrence of a default under this Mortgage, the Mortgagee may
apply all or any part ofthe accumulated funds held hereunder upon any obligation secured hereby in such order as

Mortgagee may elect. Upon assignment of this Mortgage, any funds held by the Mortgagee pursuant to this Paragraph
shall be transferred to such assignee and any responsibility of the Mortgagee with respect to such funds shall terminate.
Any payments due by the Mortgagor hereunder shall be due monthly on the dates when payments are due under the
Promissory Note and monthly thereafter throughout the term of this Mortgage, and any failure to make such payments
shall constitute a default pursuant to Paragraph 17 hereof.

32. SUFFICIENCY OF ESCROW AMOUNTS

That if the total ofthe payments by the Mortgagor under this Paragraph 32 shall exceed the amount ofpayments
actually made by the Mortgages for taxes, assessments and insurance premiums, as the case may be, such excess shall be
credited by the Mortgagee against the next subsequent payments to be made by the Mortgagor pursuant to Paragraph 3l
hereof. If, however, the payment made by the Mortgagor under Paragraph 3l preceding shall not be sufficient to pay
taxes, assessments and insurance premiums, as the case may be, when the same shall become due and payable, then the
Mortgagee may, at the Mortgagee's option, immediately pay such taxes, assessments and insurance premiums, and such
payment by the Mortgagee shall be subject to, but without limitation, the provisions of Paragraph 14 hereof. If at any
time the Mortgagor shall tender to the Mortgagee payment of the Indebtedness set forth in the Promissory Note in
accordance with the provisions thereof, the Mortgagee shall, in computing the amount of such Indebtedness, credit to the
account ofthe Mortgagor any balance remaining in the funds accumulated under the provisions of Paragraph 31. Ifthere
shall be a default under any of the provisions of this Mortgage resulting in a public sale of the Mortgaged Property or if
the Mortgagee acquires the Mortgaged Property otherwise after default, the Mortgagee shall apply, at the time of the
commencement of such proceedings or at the time the Mortgaged Propeúy is otherwise acquired, the balance then
remaining in the funds accumulated under Paragraph l9 as a credit against the Indebtedness in such order as Mortgagee
may elect.

33. HAZARDOUS WASTE

Mortgagor expressly covenants, warrants and represents to Mortgagee that: (A) the Mortgaged Property (or any
adjacent properfy by way of lateral subsurface migration or otherwise from the Mortgaged Property) is not now polluted
and is not presently being polluted or in any way detrimentally affected by pollutants (including elevated radon levels),
toxic materials, petroleum oil and/or waste oil, any "hazardous substance" (as thatterm is defìned in: (1) Section 101(14)
of the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act ("CERCL A"),42 USC 960 I (1986); (2)
40 CFR Part302 and amendments thereto; and (3) Section 3l l of the Clean Water Act, 33 USC 1251, et. seq., or as

listed in: (1) the United States Department of Transportation Hazardous Materials Table,49 CFR 172.10; and(2)
Section 307 of the Clean Water Act (33 USC 1317) or any "hazardous waste" (as that term is defined in Chapter 403
(Part IV) of the Florida Statutes), and Section 1 004 of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 USC 690 I , et,
seq., and has not in the past been used and is not presently being used for the handling, storage, treatment, generation,
transportation or disposal ofpollutants, toxic materials, petroleum oil and/or waste oil, anyhazardous substance or any
hazardous waste, including, but not limited to, solid, liquid, gaseous or thermal irritant or contaminant, such as smoke,
vapor, soot, fumes, acids, alkalis, chemicals or waste (including materials to be recycled, reconditioned or reclaimed); (B)
neither asbestos nor asbestos-containing materials (which for the purposes hereof shall be deemed a toxic material) have
been installed, used or disposed ofon, or incorporated into, the Mortgaged Property; (C) no underground storage tanks
are located on the Mortgaged Property or were located on the Mortgaged Property and subsequently removed or filled;
(D) the Mortgaged Property and Mortgagor's operations at the Mortgaged Property are in compliance with all applicable
federal, state, county and local statutes, laws and regulations concerning or related to environmental protection and
regulation, including, but not limited to, CERCLA, the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986
("SAR{"), Public Law No. 99-499, 100 Stat. 1613, Chapter 403 of the Florida Statutes, and the Clean Water Act; (E)
Mortgagor is not aware of any environmental condition, situation or incident on, at or conceming the Mortgaged Property
or any adjacent property that may give rise to an action or to liability under any law, rule, ordinance or common law
theory and that there are no pending actions thereunder against the Mortgagor and the Mortgagor has not received notice
in any form of such action; and (F) the Mortgaged Property is not contained on the "National Priority List" ("NPL")
maintained by the United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") nor is the Mortgaged Property contained on

L7

104



the EPA's "Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Information System" ("CERCLIS") nor
is the Mortgaged Property, in whole or in any part, adjacent to any site contained on the NPL or CERCLIS. Mortgagor
hereby indemnifres Mortgagee against and agrees to protect, save and keep harmless Mortgagee (even after the payment
in full of the Promissory Note and the satisfaction of this Mortgage) from any and all liabilities, obligations, charges,
losses, damages, penalties, claims, actions, suits, judgments, injuries, costs, disbursements and expenses of any kind
whatsoever, including, without limitation, all costs of removal or remedial actions and any other liabilities which may
arise under CERCLA, SARA, or any other federal, state, county or local law, regulation or ordinance, title insurance
costs and premiums, engineers'and professional fees, soil tests and chemical analyses, court costs, legal fees and
expenses through all trial, appellate and administrative levels of whatsoever kind and nature imposed on, incurred by or
asserted against Mortgagee, in any way relating to, arising out of or in connection with any such past, present or future
use, handling, storage, transportation or disposal of pollutants, toxic materials, petroleum oil and/or waste oil, any
hazardous substance or any hazardous waste. Mortgagor further warrants and represents that it will promptly notify
Mortgagee in writing of any change in the nature or extent of any pollutants, toxic materials, petroleum oil and/or waste
oil, any hazardous substances or any hazardous waste maintained on, in or under the Mortgaged Property or used in
connection therewith, and will transmit to Mortgagee copies of any citations, orders, notices or other material
governmental or other communication received with respect thereto or other environmentally regulated substances
affecting the Mortgaged Property. Mortgagee, at Mortgagee's sole option, now and in the future, may obtain, at
Mortgagor's expense, a report and/or audit from an environmental consultant of Mortgagee's choice stating whether the
Mortgaged Property, or any part thereof, has been or is being polluted with pollutants, toxic materials. petroleum oil
and/or waste oil, any hazardous substance or any hazardous waste or is being used for the use, handling, storage,
treatment, generation, transportation or disposal ofsame. Ifany such report and/or audit indicates such past or present
pollution, use, handling, storage, treatment, generation, transportation or disposal ofpollutants, toxic materials, petroleum
oil and/or waste oil, any hazardous substance or any hazardous waste, Mortgagee may require that all violations of law
with respect thereto be corrected and/or that Mortgagor obtain all necessary environmental permits and approvals. A
failure to correct any such violations of law and/or to obtain such necessary environmental permits and approvals within a

reasonable time, to be determined by Mortgagee, after demand from Mortgagee, shall be a default hereunder. Mortgagee
shall also have the option to require appropriate mortgagee title insurance (if available), in an amount determined by
Mortgagee, to cover potential liens and actions resulting from pollutants, toxic materials, petroleum oil and,/or waste oil,
any hazardous substance or any hazardous waste used, handled, stored, treated, generated, transported, polluted or
disposed of in connection with the Mortgaged Property or any part thereof. This paragraph shall survive the foreclosure
of this Mortgage or the delivery by Mortgagor to Mortgagee of a deed in lieu of foreclosure.

34. MISCELLANEOUS

A. That this Mortgage shall be governed by the laws of the State of Florida to the extent not to be
preempted by federal law, which laws shall be applicable in the interpretation, construction and enforcementhereof, and
venue for any action or proceeding brought hereunder shall lie exclusively in the county in which this Mortgage is
recorded.

B. That it is understood by and between the parties hereto that time shall be ofthe essence with
respect to this Mortgage and the payments due on the Indebtedness.

C. That this Mortgage shall bind the Mortgagor, its heirs, legal representatives, successors and,
where permitted, its assigns, and shall inure to the benefit of the Mortgagee, its successors and assigns (or, where
applicable, its heirs and legal representatives). This Mortgage cannot be modified or terminated orally. Each party
executing as Mortgagor hereof and all guarantors shall be jointly and severally bound hereby. All of the grants,
obligations, covenants, agreements, terms, provisions and conditions herein shall run with the land and shall apply to,
bind and inure to the benefit of the heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the Mortgagor and the
endorsees, transferees, successors and assigns of Mortgagee. The word "Mortgagor" shall mean "Mortgagor and/or any
subsequent owner or owners of the Mortgaged Properfy", the word "Mortgagee" shall mean "Mortgagee or any
subsequent holder or holders of this Mortgage", the word "person" shall mean "an individual, corporation, partnership
(limited or general, as the case may be) or unincorporated association or entity", pronouns ofany gender shall include the
other genders, and either the singular or plural shall include the other. The headings of the paragraphs of this Mortgage

18

105



are for convenience of reference only and are not to be considered a part hereof, and shall not limit, prescribe or
otherwise affect any of the terms hereof.

D. That in the event any one or more of the provisions contained in this Mortgage shall for any
reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall, at
the option of the Mortgagee, not affect any other provision of this Mortgage, but this Mortgage may, at the Mortgagee's
option, be construed as ifsuch invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein or therein.

E. The marginal notes or captions herein are inserted only as a matter of convenience and for
reference and are not and shall not be deemed to be any part of this Mortgage.

35. REPRESENTATIONSANDWARRANTIES

That the Mortgagor hereby represents and warrants to the Mortgagee that: (A) the Mortgagor and each
guarantor, ifa partnership or a corporation or other business association or legal entity, is duly organized, validly existing
and in good standing under the laws of the state of incorporation and/or organization; (B) the Mortgagor and each
guarantor has the power and authority to own its properties and carry on its business as now being conducted; (C) the
Mortgagor and each guarantor is qualified in every other jurisdiction in which the nature of its business or its properties
makes such qualification necessary; (D) the Mortgagor and each guarantor is in compliance with all laws, regulations,
ordinances and orders of public authorities applicable to it; (E) the execution, delivery and performance of the
Promissory Note and this Mortgage and all other Loan Documents, and the borrowing evidenced by the Promissory Note:
(l) are within the powers of the Mortgagor and all other parties to said Loan Documents; (2) have been duly authorized

by all requisite action; (3) have received all necessary govemmental approvals; and (4) will not violate any provision of
law, any order of any court or other agency of government, or any indenture, agreement or other instrument to which the
Mortgagor or any guarantor is a party or by which it or any property of Mortgagor or any guarantor is bound or any
partnership agreement, shareholders' agreement, articles of incorporation, or bylaws or corporate resolutions, or be in
conflict with, result in a breach of or constitute (with or without notice or lapse of time) a default under any such
indenture, agreement or other instrument, or result in the creation or imposition of any lien, charge or encumbrance of
any nature whatsoever upon any property or assets of Mortgagor or any guarantor, except as contemplated by the
provisions hereof; (F) the Promissory Note and this Mortgage, and the Loan Documents, when executed and delivered by
the Mortgagor and any guarantors, as is applicable, will constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of the
Mortgagor, and the guarantors named therein, if any, in accordance with their respective terms; (G) the Mortgaged
Property forms no part of any property owned, used or claimed by the Mortgagor as exempted from forced sale under the
laws of the State of Florida and disclaims, waives and renounces all and every claim to exemption under any homestead
exemption; and (H) all information, reports, papers and data given to the Mortgagee with respect to the Mortgagor or
others obligated (including, but not limited to, all guarantors) are accurate and correct in all material respects and
complete insofar as completeness may be necessary to give the Mortgagee true and accurate knowledge of the subject
matter.

36. COMPLIANCE WITH LOAN COMMITMENT

That the Mortgagor shall timely comply with, abide by and perform all ofthe surviving terms and conditions of
any letter of commitment entered into by the Mortgagor and the Mortgagee with respect to the loan secured by this
Mortgage (the "Loan Commitment") on its part to be complied with, abided by and performed. In the event of any
conflict between the terms of the Loan Commitment and this Mortgage, the terms of this Mortgage shall control and
govern.

37. NO WARRANTIES OR REPRESENTATIONS BY MORTGAGEE

That by accepting or approving anything required to be observed, performed or fulfilled, or to be given to the
Mortgagee, including (but not limited to) any officer's certificate, balance sheet, statement of profìt and loss or other
financial statement, survey, appraisal or insurance policy, the Mortgagee shall not be deemed to have warranted or
represented the sufficiency, legality, effectiveness or legal effect of the same, or of any term, provision or condition

19

106



thereof and such acceptance or approval thereofshall not be or constitute any warranty or representation with respect
thereto by the Mortgagee.

38. FURTHER ASSURANCES BY MORTGAGOR

Mortgagor shall execute and deliver (and pay the costs of preparation and recording thereof) to Mortgagee and

to any subsequent holder of this Mortgage from time to time, upon demand, any further instrument or instruments,
financing statements, assignments, renewal and substitution notes, and such other documents as may be requested by
Mortgagee or subsequent holder to reaffirm, correct or perfect evidence ofthe Indebtedness or any security therefor,
including, without limitation, the title of Mortgagee or subsequent holder to all or any part ofthe Mortgaged Property,
whether now mortgaged or later substituted for, or acquired subsequent to the date of this Mortgage.

39. ACCEPTANCE OF PAYMENTS FOR LESS THAN AMOUNT DUE

Acceptance by the Mortgagee of any payment which is less than payment in full of all amounts due and payable
at the time of such payment shall not constitute a waiver of the Mortgagee's right to exercise its option to declare the
whole of the Indebtedness then remaining unpaid immediately due and payable without notice, or any other rights of the
Mortgagee at that time or at any subsequent time, or nulli$ any prior exercise of such option or such rights ofMortgagee
without the express consent of the Mortgagee.

40. BROKER INDEMNIFICATION

Mortgagor represents and warrants that neither the Mortgagor nor any of the Mortgagor's representatives,
employees or agents have dealt or consulted with anyone other than persons employed by the Mortgagee in connection
with this Mortgage. Mortgagor hereby indemnifìes the Mortgagee. its successors and assigns. against, and agrees to
protect, save and keep Mortgagee harmless from, any and all liabilities, obligations, charges, losses, damages, penalties,
claims, actions, suits, costs, expenses and disbursements, including, without limitation, court costs, legal fees, including
paralegals'fees, and any sales or service tax on such fees, and expenses through all trial, appellate and administrative
levels of whatsoever kind and nature, imposed on, incurred by or asserted against Mortgagee, in any way relating to,
arising out of, or in connection with any broker, agent or frnder claiming to have dealt with or consulted with Mortgagor,
or any of Mortgagor's representatives, employees or agents, contrary to the foregoing representation and warranty.

41. GUARANTOR(S)

That the Mortgagor covenants and agrees that the guarantors of any guaranties accepted by Mortgagee as an
inducement to the acceptance of the Promissory Note and this Mortgage shall fully perform, comply with and abide by
such guarantees. The representations, covenants and agreements on the part ofall such guarantors shall constitute, for the
purposes of Mortgagor's obligations hereunder, covenants on behalf of the Mortgagor.

42. REMEDIES CUMULATIVE AND CONCURRENT

That the rights and remedies of the Mortgagee hereunder and under the Loan Documents shall be cumulative
and concurrent and may be pursued separately, successively or together against the Mortgagor, any guarantor, the
Mortgaged Property, or any one or more, at the sole discretion of the Mortgagee, and may be exercised as often as

occasion therefor shall arise, all to the maximum extent permitted by law. Ifthe Mortgagee elects at any time to proceed
under any one right or remedy, the Mortgagee may at any time cease proceeding under such right or remedy and proceed
under any other right or remedy under this Mortgage or under the other Loan Documents. The failure to exercise any
right or remedy shall in no event be construed as a waiver or release of such right or remedy or of the default giving rise
to such right or remedy, and shall not affect the Mortgagor's obligations to pay the lndebtedness and perform the
obligations hereunder in accordance with the terms hereof.

43. SUBROGATION OF MORTGAGEE

20

107



That, to the extent ofthe Indebtedness, the Mortgagee is subrogated to the lien or liens and to the rights of any
of the owners and holders of each and every mortgage, lien or other encumbrance on the Mortgaged Property which is
paid and/or satisfied, in whole or in part, out of the proceeds of the principal amount of the Promissory Note, and the
respective liens of said mortgages or other encumbrances shall be preserved and shall pass to and be held by the
Mortgagee as further security for the Indebtedness to the same extent that it would have been preserved and would have
been passed to and been held by the Mortgagee had it been assigned to the Mortgagee by separate assignment,
notwithstanding the fact that the same may be satisfied and cancelled of record, it being the intention ofthe parties hereto
that the same will be satisfied and cancelled of record by the holders thereof at or about the time of the recording of this
Mortgage.

44. LITIGATION COMMENCED BY PARTIES OTHER THAN MORTGAGEE

That if any action or proceeding shall be commenced by any person other than the Mortgagee (except an action
to foreclose this Mortgage or to collect the debt secured hereby) to which action or proceeding the Mortgagee is made a

party, or in which it shall become necessary to defend or uphold the lien of this Mortgage, all sums paid by the
Mortgagee for the expense of any such litigation (including reasonable counsel fees through all trial, appellate and
administrative levels) shall be immediately due and payable by the Mortgagor, together with interest thereon at the rate
set forth in the Promissory Note applicable to a period when default exists thereunder, and shall be secured by this
Mortgage.

45. ESTOPPELCERTIFICATE

That the Mortgagor shall, within five (5) days after written demand by the Mortgagee, execute in such form as

shall be required by the Mortgagee an estoppel certificate, duly acknowledged, setting forth the amount of principal and
interest unpaid under the Promissory Note and the general status of this Mortgage, including, without limitation, whether
any ofßets or defenses exist against payment ofthe Indebtedness.

46. OTHERMORTGAGES

That the Mortgagor shall faithfully and fully comply with and abide by each and every term, covenant and
condition of all other mortgages now or, if permitted by Mortgagee, hereinafter encumbering the Mortgaged Property, or
any part thereof, whether inferior or superior to the lien of this Mortgage ("Other Mortgages"), and never permit the same

to go into default. A default or delinquency under any of such Other Mortgages shall automatically and immediately
constitute a default under this Mortgage. The Mortgagee is hereby expressly authorized, at the option ofthe Mortgagee,
to advance all sums necessary to keep any superior mortgage or mortgages in good standing, and all sums so advanced,
together with interest thereon at the rate set forth in the Promissory Note applicable to a period when default exists
thereunder, shall be secured by this Mortgage, and shall be subject to the provisions of this Mortgage. The Mortgagor
agrees that the Mortgagor shall not make any agreement with the holder of any superior mortgage which shall in any way
modifr or extend any of the terms or conditions of such superior mortgage, nor shall the Mortgagor request or accept any
future advances under such superior mortgage without the express written consent of the Mortgagee, nor shall any
negative amortization be permitted under any such superior mortgage without the express written consent of the
Mortgagee. The Mortgagor will furnish to the Mortgagee, upon demand, proof of payment of all items which are
required to be paid by the Mortgagor pursuant to the Other Mortgages. The Mortgagor shall execute and deliver, on
request of the Mortgagee, such instruments as the Mortgagee may deem useful or required to permit the Mortgagee to
take such action as the Mortgagee considers desirable to preserve the interest of the Mortgagee in the Mortgaged
Properfy.

47. ADDITIONALFINANCING

That the obtaining ofany additional financing secured by the Mortgaged Property, or any part thereof, or any
other encumbrance of the Mortgaged Property, or any part thereof, including, without limitation, "wrap-around"
financing, without the prior written consent of the Mortgagee, shall constitute a default ofthis Mortgage and Mortgagee
may, at Mortgagee's option, enforce any and all of Mortgagee's rights, remedies and recourse set forth in this Mortgage.

21

108



48. LOAN DOCUMENTS

To perform, comply with and abide by each ofthe stipulations, agreements, conditions and covenants contained
in this Mortgage and in the Promissory Note and in all other Loan Documents. A default or delinquency under this
Mortgage shall automatically and immediately constitute a default under the Promissory Note and under all Loan
Documents. A default or delinquency under the Promissory Note or under any other Loan Document shall automatically
and immediately constitute a default under this Mortgage.

49. WAIVEROF JURY TRIAL

MORTGAGOR HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND INTENTIONALLY WAIVEs ANY AND
ALL RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TzuAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION (INCLUDING, BUT
NOT LIMITED TO, ANY CLAIMS, CROSS-CLAIMS AND THIRD-PARTY CLAIMS) ARISING IN CONNECTION
WITH EACH OF THIS LEASEHOLD MORTGAGE, THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, AND THE
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED THEREINAND ALL ANDANYCOMBINATION OF THE FOREGOING.
MORTGAGOR HEREBY CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE OR AGENT OF THE MORTGAGORNOR
THE MORTGAGEE'S COT'NSEL HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT THE
MORTGAGEE WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF SUCH LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THIS WAIVER OF
zuGHT TO JURY TRIAL PROVISION. MORTGAGOR ACKNOV/LEDGES THAT THE MORTGAGEE HAS
BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS LOAN, INCLUDING THIS LEASEHOLD MORTGAGE, BY,INTER
ALIA, THE PROVISIONS OF THIS PARAGRAPH.

IN WITNESS V/HEREOF, this Mortgage has been duly executed and sealed by the Mortgagor the day and year
first above written.

Witnesses: MORTGAGOR:

M. BILT ENTERPRISES, INC

Name: By:
Name
Title:

Name:

(coRPoRATE SEAL)

22

109



PROMISSORY NOTE

$rso, 000.00 Ocal.a, FJ.orida

ilanuary _t 2O2O
1" },ÍATGR' S PROMISE TO PAY

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, M. BILT ENTERPRISES,
INC., a FJ.orida corporation having a post office address of P.O.
Box 213945 , Boca Raton, Flori-da 33421 (hereinafter called
"Maker") promj-ses to pay to the order of ALLSTATE SERVICING,
INC., a Florida corporation, having a post office address of
P.O. Box 4131, Ocala, Florida 34478 (hereafter called "Payee")
the principal- sum of ONE HI,ìIDRED FIFTY THOUSAIi¡D AIiID NO/100
DOLLARS ($150,000.00), together with interest thereon from the
date hereof and at the rates hereinafter provided. The interest
and principal of this Promi-ssory Note ("Note") shall be payable
as f o1l-ows:

Accrued interest shall be due and payable in monthly
installments, commencing on the _) day
of February, 2020 | and continuing on the
(_) day of each month thereaf ter, through the

(_) day of December , 2022. The
outstanding principal- sum and any unpaid interest
shall- be due and payable on January , 2023 (the
"Maturity Date").

2. COMPUTATION OF INTEREST

Beginning on the date hereof, interest will accrue on the
principal sum outstanding from time to time at a rate equal to
twelve percent (L2*', per annum. Monthly interest payments shall
initially be ONE THOUSAIID Fr\¡E Ht ¡IDRED and NO/100 DOLLARS
($1,500.00). Such amount shal1 be received to reflect any
prepayment of principal and the effect of such prepayment on
amount of interest accordj-nqly.

3. PIÀCE OF PAYMENT

All payments of principal and/or interest are payable at
the address of Payee, P.O. Box 4131, Ocala, Florida 34418, or at
such other place as the hol-der hereof may from time to time
desi-gnate in writing, in lawful money of the United States of
America, which shal-1 be legal tender for public and private
debts at the time of payments, without deduction for or on
account of any present or future taxes, duties or other charges

110



l-evied or imposed on this Note or the proceeds hereof t or upon
Maker or Payee by any government, or any instrumentality,
authority or political subdivision thereof. Maker agrees, upon
the request of Payee, to pay all- such taxes, duties and other
charges in addition to principal and interest on this Note,
exclusive of United States income taxes and Fl-orida income
taxes. Fail-ure to do so shall constitute a default under the
terms of this Note.

4. PREPAYI4ENT

Maker may prepay this Note j-n whol-e or in part at any time
without premium or penalty. Alt prepayments j-n whole or in part
of principal on this Note shaII include interest through the
date of prepayment on the principal- amount being prepaid. All
payments shall- f irst be applied to al-l accrued and unpaid
j-nterest and then to principal due in the inverse order of
maturity.

5. LOA}¡ CITARGES

Notwithstanding any provi-síon in this Note, or the "Loan
Documents", as herej-nafter defined, or in any j-nstrument no\^r or
hereafter relating to or securing the within indebtedness, the
total liabitity for payments of interest and payments in the
nature of interest, includi-ng al-l charges, fees, exactions, oL
other sums which may at any time be deemed to be interest, shaÌJ-
not exceed the l-imit imposed by the usury laws of the State of
Fl-orida or the applicabJ-e laws of the United States of America,
whichever shall be higher (the "Maximum Rate"). fn the event
the total liability for payments of interest and payments in the
nature of interest, incÌuding, without limitation, al-1 charges,
fees, exactions or other sums which may at any tlme be deemed to
be interest, which for any month or other interest payment
period exceeds the Maximum Rate, all sums in excess of those
lawfully col-lectible as interest for the period in question (and
without further agreement or notice by, between ¡ or to any party
hereto) shal-l be applied to the reduction of the principal
balance immediately upon receipt of such sums by Payee, with the
same force and effect as though the undersigned had specifically
designated such excess sums to be so applied to the reduction of
the principal- bal-ance and Payee had agreed to accept such sums
as a premium-free payment of principal, provided, however, that
Payee mây, at any time and from time to time, elect, by notice
in writing to the undersigned, to waive, reduce, or l-imit the
collection of any sums in excess of those J-awfully collectible

2

111



as interest rather than accept such sums as a prepayment of the
princj-pal balance. It is the intention of the parties that
Maker does not intend or expect to pay nor does Payee intend or
expect to charge, accept or collect any interest under this
Note, oy under the Loan Documents, greater than the Maximum
Rate.

6. MAIGR'S DEFAITLT, REMEDTES

a. If any payment of principal- or of interest on this
Note or any other sum due hereunder is not paid within thirty
(30) days after the same becomes due, or if any other default
shall- occur hereunder or under any of the Loan Documents, and
such default shall continue beyond any applicable grace period
provided therein, then Payee, ât its option and without further
notice, demand or presentment for payment to the undersigned or
others, flây declare immediately due and payable the outstanding
principal bal-ance of this Note together with al-l accrued and
unpaid interest thereon to the date of default and together with
interest thereafter at the Maximum Rate, provided that the
interest rate subsequent to such default (the "Default Rate")
shall not exceed eighteen (18?) per annum, together wlth all
costs and fees, including reasonable attorneys' fees and
paraleqals' fees, and court costs (through and including any and
all- collection, trial, appellate and administrative procedures)
incurred by Payee in collecting or enforcing payment thereof,
and al-l other sums due hereunder or under the Loan Documents,
anything herein or in the Loan Documents to the contrary
notwithstanding, all without any relief whatever from any
valuation or appraisement laws (to the full extent permitted by
law), and payment thereof may be enforced and recovered in whole
or in part at any time by one or more of the remedies provided
to Payee in this Note or in the Loan Documents.

b. Maker shall pay to Payee a late charge of five (58)
percent of any installment or portion thereof (principal,
interest and any required escroh/ payments) not received in full
by Payee within fifteen (15) days after the installment is due
to cover the extra expense involved in handling delinquent
payments.

c. Demand, presentment, notice of dishonor, protest and
extension of time of payment are hereby waived by a1l- makers,
sureties, guarantors and endorsers hereof, and each of such
parties hereby agrees to all modifj-cations, renewals, any number
of extensions of time for payment of this Note, release of other

J

112



persons or entities obligated under this Note and release of any
security for this Note, all without further notice, and agree
that any such activities shall not release any of such parties
not expressly released in writi-ng. This Note shall be the joint
and several obligation of each of the parties named as Maker
herein, and all- sureties, guarantors and endorsers of this Note,
and shall be binding upon them and their heirs, J-egaI
representatives, successors and assigns.

d. The remedies of Payee as provided herein and in the
Loan Documents shal-l be cumul-ative and concurrent and may be
pursued slngly, successively or together, ât the sol-e discretion
of Payee, and may be exercised as often as occasion therefor
shall- occur; and the failure to exercise any such right or
remedy shall in no event be construed as a waiver or release
thereof. Payee shall not be deemed, by any act of omission or
commission, to have waived any of its rights or remedies
hereunder unless such waiver is in writing and signed by Payee,
and then only to the extent specifically set forth in the
writing.

e. Maker and all- others who are, or may become liable for
the payment hereof, expressly agree that Payee shall- not be
required first to institute any suit or to exhaust its remedies
against Maker or any other person or party to become liable
hereunder or against the col-lateral under the Loan Documents, in
order to enforce the payment of this Note,' and expressly agree
that, notwithstanding the occurrence of any of the foregoing
(except the express written release by Payee of any such
person), Maker shal-l be and remain, directly and primarily
l-iabl-e f or all sums due under this Note and under the Loan
Documents. Upon disposition by Payee of any property encumbered
by the "Mortgage" (as herej-nafter defined) or any other
collateral referred to in the Loan Documents after the
occurrence of any default, Maker shal-l be and shall remain
jointly and severally liable for any deficiency.

7. GIVING OF NOTICES

Any notice that must be given Maker under this Note will be
given by hand delivery or by mailing same to Maker by first
class mail, postage prepaid. A1l nolices will be addressed to
Maker at the addresses set forth in the first paragraph of this
Note, oL at such other address as Maker may desi-gnate to Payee
as herein provided.

4

113



Any notice that must be given to Payee under this Note will-
be given by hand delivery or by mailing same by first class
mail, postage prepaid, to Payee at the address stated in the
first paragraph of this Note t or at such other address as Payee
may designate to Maker as herein provided.

8. NOTE SECT'RED

Payment of this Note is secured by a first leasehold
mortgage of even date herewith executed by Maker in favor of
Payee, encumbering a Ground Lease on certain property situate in
Levy County, Florj-da as more fully described therein
("Mortgage"). This Note, the Mortgage, and all other documents
and instruments heretofore or hereafter executed in connection
with the indebtedness evidenced by this Note and all
modifications, extensions and renewal-s thereof and any
substitutions therefor being herein collectively referred to as
the "Loan Documents".

9. MISCELI,AÀ¡EOUS

This i-nstrument shall be governed by and construed and
enforced according to the laws of the State of Florida, except
where specificalJ-y preempted by federal l-aw. Venue with respect
to any litigation on this Note shal-I be Levy County, Florida.
The provisions of this Note may be changed only by a written
agreement executed by Payee and Maker.

Vühenever used, the singular shall- incl-ude the p1ura1, the
plural shall- include the singular, the use of any gender shal-l-
be applicable to all genders, and the words "Maker" and "Payee"
shall- be deemed to include the respective heirs, IegaÌ
representatives, successors and assigns of Maker and Payee.

Proper documentary stamps have been paid on and affixed
Mortgage securing this Note and payment of intangible tax
proper amount is refl-ected on the Mortgage.

to
inthe

the

10. }ÍAI\IER OF JII'RY TRIAT,

MAKER, PAYEE AND ANY GUARANTOR HEREBY KNOWINGLY,
VOLUNTARILY AND INTENTIONALLY WAIVE ANY AND ALL RIGHTS TO A
TRIAL BY JURY TN RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION (INCLUDING, BUT NOT
LIMITED TO, ANY CLATMS, CROSSCLAIMS OR THIRD-PARTY CLAIMS)

5

114



ARïSING OUT OF, UNDER OR rN CONNECTION WITH THrS NOTB, THE OTHER
LOAN DOCUMENTS OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATBD HERETN.

fN VüITNESS WHBREOF, Maker has executed this Note on the
date written above.

M. BILT ENTERPRISES, rNC
A FJ.orida corporation

By:
Nane:
TitLe:

6

115



AT,RRTGHT & ASSOCTA ES of Ocala- fnc-

Well BiIt Industries
1610 S\ry 8th Terr
Williston, Florida

Appraisal Report
A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001

Certified to:

M. Bilt Enterprises, Inc.
c/o Carol Bilt

6708 Canary Palm Cir
Boca Raton, Florida 33433

Certified by:

Stephen J. Albright, Jr., MAI
State-Certified General Real Estate Appraiser R22392

Copyright @ 2018, Stephen J. Albright, Jr., MAI
All Rights Reserved

Albright & Associates of Ocala, Inc.
Published by:

Albright & Associates of Ocala, Inc.
207 SE 8'h Street, Ocala, Ff 3447t

This appraisal report is confidential and is protected by copyright; no part hereof may be
reproduced, stored or introduced to a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by
any means (electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise) without the
prior written permission of the copyright owner, identified author and client of the report.

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

116



M. Bilt Enterprises, Inc.
c/o Carol Bilt
6708 Canary Palm Cir
Boca Raton, Florida 33433

October 11, 2018

Re: Well Bitt Industries @ 1610 SW 8th Terr (Williston Municipal Airport), Williston, Florida

Dear Mrs. Bilt:

Pursuant to yourrequest, an appraisal has been prepared ofthe above captioned property documented
by the enclosed text. The subject property consists of the Well Bilt Industries manufacturing facility
located upon lands associated with the Williston Municipal Airport in Williston, Florida. The
property is improved with a building enclosing a total of approximately 21,979 SF which consists
of offices, storage and manufacturing space. The property benefits from supporting site improve-
ments in the form of covered canopy, asphalt/concrete paving and signage.

The subject property is subject to a ground lease from the City of Williston. More specifically, the
lease includes a remaining term of about fìve years along with (2) five-year renewal options. In that
regard, this valuation pertains to the leasehold position associated with the ground lease (see Extra-
ordinary Assumptions). As a matter of note, the owner of the leasehold position leases the property
to the current occupant of the building who is considering buying the subject leasehold interest via
a purchase option associated with the current lease (in the final year of the lease).

As a professional discipline, the appraisal practice requires conformance with stringent ethics and
standards which are noted, summarized or cited by reference herein. To that end, opinions and con-
clusions of this report were prepared in conformance with our interpretation of generally accepted
appraisal practices and requirements of the Code of Proþssional Ethics and Standards of
Professional Prøctice of the Appraisal Institute as well as the Uníþrm Standørds of Professionøl
Appraisal Practice (USPAP) of the Appraisal Standards Board of the Appraisal Foundation. You
are advised of all special conditions of this appraisal including the following:

Intended User:
Intended Use:

Effective Valuation Date:
Objective/Purpose:
Interest Appraised:

M. Bilt Enterprises, Inc. c/o Carol Bilt
assist client with asset evaluation associated with potential marketing
and sale of the subject property
September 18,2018
form an opinion of market value
leasehold interest, subject to restrictions ofrecord

The appraisal is limited to valuation of real estate, excluding personalty, furnishings, equipment,
inventory and goodwill of the business, if any.

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001. Copyright O 2018 SJA2

ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala.Inc.

117



AT,RRTGHT.& ASSOCIA of Ocala- fnc-

Based on prevailing economic conditions in all aspects to the extent possible, taking into account
all relevant global, national, regional, neighborhood and local environmental influences, in consid-
eration of the physical characteristics impacting upon the subject property, weighing the best market
evidence available as has been set forth in this report, I have formed an opinion of market value of
the subjectpropertyidentified withinthis report, with areasonable degree of appraisal certainty, with
respect to the interest identified, according to the program ofproperty utilization that is consistent
with our opinion of highest and best use, and predicated on theCertificøtionrGeneral Assumptions,
Extraordinary Assumptions wellasthe Hypotheticøl Conditions,expressed in this appraisal report,
as of the effective valuation date reported for this assignment, of:

Opinion of Market Value

Respectfully submitted,

$f!05.000

ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of Ocala,Inc.

Stephen J. Albright, Jr., MAI
State-Certified General Real Estate Appraiser F.22392

SJA/cma

3A&A File #2018.100.011.001. Copyright @ 2018 SJA

118



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. rnc.

Contents
Title Page
Letter of Transmittal . .

Contents

I
2
4
5

6
7

0

Executive Summary
Subject Neighborhood Location Map
Subject Property Photographs
Certification
GeneralAssumptions ...
ExtraordinaryAssumptions . . . . . . . .

Hypothetical Conditions
Identification and Location . . . . . . . .

Apparent Owner of Record
Relevant Dates of Appraisal Process
Type and Definition of Value
Intended Use/User of Appraisal . . . . .

Scope of Work . . .

Interest Appraised
Legal Description

I

.12

Property Assessment

t4
14

15

15

15

l5
l5
16

t6
l7
18

l8
t9
19

20
23

25

29

34
36
37
38

39
52
62

63

History of Title
Public and Private Utilities and Services
Comprehensive Plan, Land Use andZoning
Description and Analysis of Region
Description and Analysis of Neighborhood
Description and Analysis of Site
Description and Analysis of Improvements . .

Economic Life and Depreciation Analysis . .

Highest and Best Use
Reasonable Exposure Time .

ValuationMethodology ...
Sales Comparison Approach . . .

Income Capitalization Approach
Valuation of Leased Fee Interest
Reconciliation . . .

Addendum

4A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

119



Executive Summarv

Subject ldentification: Well Bilt Industries @ l6l0 SW 8'h Terr, Williston, Florida

Effective Valuation Date: September 18, 2018

Intended User/Use:

Objective: form an opinion of market value

Interest Apnraised: leasehold interest, subject to restrictions of record

M. Bilt Enterprises, Inc. c/o Carol Billassist client with asset evalua-
tion associated with potential marketing and sale of the subject

2 AC (subject to current survey; right to occupancy established by
ground lease from City of 'Williston; remaining term of 5 years with
(2) five-year renewal options as of effective date of valuation)

manufacturing facility enclosing a total of 21,979 SF of GBA/NRA
(built in 1990 and expanded in 1998 and 1999); additional supporting
site improvements include septic system, asphalt & concrete paving,
canopy and signage; all improvements accrue to the leasehold posi-
tion

industriaUl, industrial

continued use for manufacturing acknowledging need to cure deferred
maintenance

Site

Improvements:

Future Land Use/Zoning:

Highest and Best Use:

Indicators of Value (Fee Simole - As Is):

Sales Comparison Approach

Income Capitalization Approach

Opinion of Market Value o'Fee Simple - As Is"

LESS: Market Value of Leased Fee Estate

Opinion of Market Value '6leasehold Interest - As Is"

$462,000

$456,000

$460,000

- 55.000

$40s.000

ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIA of Ocala. Inc.

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 5 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

120



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIA of Ocala. Inc.

Subject Location ùIap

t1i,
r:1t

,:11'

D¡ü'l r)(r, Â
u¡.'¡¡ç¡q¡¡¡. sp.¡¡,¡ V

'ry)
E

€tÉül
tl) I irì

r:nl

'.riu_'
Ë¿$t Wrllr$to¡

iarät tlrlliston42:

(J:tr

Mrrr(¡f)al

0
f;lt;x:*' rJ)

ir:
i1:

'.!.

i!,1,

6A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

121



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of Ocala. rnc.

View of SW 8ú Terr as it extends N; subject at right (in distance) of photo.

View, facing ELY, of subject building as it fronts SW 8'h Terr

7A&A File #2018.100.0L1.001. Copyright @ 2018 SJA

122



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala.Inc.

View, facing S, of rear building elevation (quonset and container storage portions in distance).

Alternate view, facing N, of rear elevation of the subject building.

IA&A File #2018.100.011.001 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

123



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. rnc.

View, facing W, of the N elevation of the subject building.

View, facing E, of covered area located at N end ofbuilding.

9A&A File #2018.100.011.001 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

124



AT,RRTGHT.& ASSOCIA S of Ocala- fnc-

a

The undersigned certifies that, to the best of my knowledge and belief:

1. The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct.

2. The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions
and hypothetical conditions and are my personal, impartial and unbiased professional analyses,
opinions and conclusions.

3. I have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report and no
personal interest with respect to the parties involved.

4. I have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties in-
volved in this assignment.

5. My engagement in this assignment was not contingent on developing or reporting predetermin-
ed results.

6. My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development or
reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the
amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent
event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal.

7 . To the best of my knowledge and belief, the reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were
developed, and this report has been prepared, in conformity with the requirements of tbe Code of
Professional Ethícs and the Standards of Professional Practice of the Appraisal Institute as well
as the Uniþrm Standards of Professional Apprøisøl Practice.

8. The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to review
by its duly authorized representatives.

9 . An on-site interior and exterior inspection of the subject property was made by the undersigned.

10. No person added significant real property appraisal assistance except as specified.

ll . ASPAP requires appraisers, prior to accepting assignments, to possess experience and skill ne-
cessary for completion, or:

A. Disclose lack of knowledge and/or experience before assignment acceptance.

A&A File #201.8.100.011..001 10 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

125



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala.Inc.

B. Take necessary and appropriate steps to complete assignment competently.
C. Describe lack of knowledge and/or experience in appraisal report.
D. Describe steps taken to complete assignment competently in appraisal report.

Stephen J. Albright, Jr. has performed appraisals of properties similar to the subject property (wide
variety of industrial facilities in the north central Florida market as well as leasehold interests for a
variety of property types) for various private- and public-sector clients, for more than 24 years.

12. ThisCertificationwasprepared in conformance with theUniþrm Standørds of Professional
Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Standards Board of the Appraisal Foundation as well as the
Supplemental Standards of Professional Practics of the Appraisal Institute.

13. At the date of this report, I, Stephen J. Albright, Jr., have completed the continuing education
program for Designated Members of the Appraisal Institute.

14. I have performed no services (appraisal or otherwise) associated with the property that is the
subject of this report within the three-year period immediately preceding acceptance of the assign-
ment.

Stephen J. Albright, Jr., MAI
State-Certified General Real Estate Appraiser F.22392

A&A File #201.8.100.01 1.001 1l Copyright @ 2018 SJA

126



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIA of Ocala. fnc.

General Assumotions
The following are general assumptions upon which this appraisal is predicated. That is, these

conditions are taken to be true.

I . This report is the work product of Albright & Associates of Ocala, Inc. and is protected by co-
pynght. Violators will be prosecuted to the fullest extent of the law. Consideration for this appraisal
report is full payment of our fee by the client. Liability for this appraisal report is limited only to the
extent of fees paid for services rendered. No change of any item in the appraisal report shall be made
by anyone other than the appraisers who shall have no responsibility for unauthorized changes.

2. Disclosure of the report content is governed by the bylaws and regulations of the Appraisal In-
stitute.

3. The appraiser assumes no responsibility for legal matters affecting the property appraised or
its title. While title of the subject property is assumed good and marketable, the appraiser renders
no such opinion thereof.

4. The appraiser is not required to give testimony, or to appear in court, as a result of having per-
formed the appraisal of the identified subject property, unless prior arrangements have been made.

5. No party shall use or rely upon this appraisal, or Data Book (if one is prepared pursuant to this
assignment), or any part of its content (i.e. value opinions, appraiser identity, professional
designations, reference to professional appraisal organizations or appraiser's firm affiliation), for any
purposes, except the client and/or intended users specifically identified herein. Other parties seeking
to use or rely on this appraisal must first obtain the written consent of the appraiser before any of the
warranties or representations contained in the appraisal report, expressed or implied, shall inure to
the benefit of any other party. Violation of this condition renders these findings null and void.
Moreover, this report is to be used only in total presented form and cannot be taken out of context
or used in any other form including, but not limited to, excerpts or fractions or redistribution thereof,
as such a format change may be misleading. The appraiser assumes no liability for any part of the
work product taken in fraction from the total report. Any distribution of value in the report between
land and improvements applies only under the existing program of utilization. Separate valuations
for land and building, outside the scope of this assignment, must not be used for any purpose and are

invalid if so used. Any redistribution of value (land and/or improvements) may render the findings
ofthis appraisal null and void.

6. Information, data and opinions furnished to the appraiser, and contained herein, were obtained
from sources considered reliable and are believed to be true and correct. However, no responsibility
or liability is assumed by the appraiser for accuracy of confirmed or unconfirmed data. A diligent
effort was made to verify all reported data. However, as some principals reside out of the area, or
are entities that could not be contacted in the time allowed for report completion, some data may not
have been confirmed. The appraiser has made no survey of the property. Any sketch of the land

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 t2 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

127



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of Ocala. rnc.

and/or of the improvements herein is intended to show approximate dimensions and to assist the
reader in visualizing the subject property. The physical size of the subject property is not warranted
as fully accurate. This appraisal is contingent on the findings of a qualified survey in terms of not
only actual dimensions of the land and/or improvements but also any easements, encroachments or
other encumbrances. The findings of such a survey may result in the need for re-evaluation of the
appraisal process and value opinions associated therewith.

7 . In this appraisal assignment, the existence of potentially hazardous materials or waste on, in
or beneath the site (including, but not limited to, such items as urea formaldehyde foam insulation,
toxic waste, Radon gas level and/or toxic mold, all of which may pose a risk to the property or its
inhabitants) has been disregarded from consideration with respect to valuation analysis. The
appraiser is neither qualified to detect such substances nor capable of precisely determining its
potential impact on the subject property. Moreover, the appraiser assumes no responsibility for
hidden or unapparent conditions of the property, subsoil or structures which would render it more
or less valuable or for engineering which might be required to discover such features. Depending
on the level of concern as to the property's condition (i.e. potential on- and off-site soil
contamination, ground water pollution and various environmentally-sensitive issues), it may be
necessary to retain the services of an expert in this field and/or undergo a Phase I environmental
audit, if either or both have not been conducted.

8. Value opinions concluded herein are warranted as accurate, subject to assumptions and hypo-
thetical conditions stated or implicit herein as of the effective valuation date. A thorough property
inspection has been conducted as of the specified date shown herein. However, the appraiser(s) are

not experts in the field of construction, engineering, repair, renovation, remediation or building
inspection services, as such, a professional building inspection is always recommended.

9. No responsibility is assumed by the appraiser for changes or influences, in or about the subject
property and its neighborhood, which result in a change, positive or negative, to the subject and
thereby to its value conclusion, subsequent to the effective inspection and/or valuation date. The
value opinions are applicable only to the fixed point in time associated with the effective valuation
date herein and are not applicable to any other point in time, specific or general, prior or subsequent
to said date. Values expressed herein are opinions. There is no guarantee, written or implied, that
the subject property will sell for this value opinion. For example, expressions of market value
constitute "value in exchange" which should not be construed as liquidation value in the unforeseen
eventuality that a business operation associated with the subject property proves economically
unfeasible and/or the property is conveyed by conditions inconsistent with the market value
definition. With respect to income-producing properties, value opinions are contingent on
competency of ownership and management as the operational success of leasing real estate is
inevitably linked with economic achievement of business. When values include prospective
opinions, the appraiser is not responsible for unforeseen events that may alter interim market
conditions.

A&A File #2018.100.011.001. l3 Copyright O 2018 SJA

128



ALRRIGHT.l¿ ASSOCIA of Ocala- fnc-

10. Before any loans or commitments are made which may be predicated on the value conclusions
reported in this appraisal, the mortgagee should verify facts, data and value conclusions contained
in this report.

1 1. Notwithstanding any specification herein of flood plain status of the subject property apprais-
ed, it is recommended additional confirmation of the same be obtained prior to any contemplated
Ioan or development.

12. This appraisal and value findings are contingent on the impact, if any, to the subject property
by the "Americans With Disabilities Act."

13. Natural landscaping is a habitat for many living species. A good faith effort should be made
to preserve maximum natural landscaping, saving all specimen trees and otherwise complying with
all tree ordinances. A reasonable effort should be made to allow natural displacement (trap and
release) of all habitat. This valuation is based on the assumption that the property is free from any
endangered species and does not require any mitigation associated with natural habitats.

A
The following are assumptions upon which this appraisal is predicated. Theiruse may have affected
the appraisal results.

1. As confirmed with the City Manager (Scott Lippman of the City of Williston), it is an as-

sumption of this analysis that an extension to the current lease is available to the owner of the
leasehold interest, if deemed necessary, in order to coincide with the anticipated remaining life of
the improvements.

2. As confirmed with the City Manager (Scott Lippman of the City of V/illiston), it is an assump-
tion of this analysis that the encroachment of a portion of the subject's improvements upon the
adjacent east acreage will be allowed to continue for the remaining economic life of the subject
improvements.

a a a

The following are conditions upon which this appraisal is predicated. That is, these are conditions
which are contrary to those which presently exist at the effective valuation date. Their use may
have affected the appraisal results.

None.

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 t4 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

129



Identification and Locatio

ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala.Inc.

The subject is generally identified as follows

Property Identification:
Address:

Well Bilt Industries (manufacturing facility)
1610 SW 8'h Terr, Williston, FL

M Bilt Enterprises, Inc.
P.O. Box 273945, Boca Raton,FL33427

The following information from another source is believed reliable though not waffanted as such.

Name:
Address:

a

The following represent the most critical dates of analysis of the appraisal process.

Inspection:
Photography:
Effective Valuation:

September 18,2018
September 18,2018
September 18,2018

O o

The purpose of the appraisal is to form an opinion of market value.l

fA
The specifically designed and intended use of this appraisal is to assist the client with asset

evaluation associated with potential marketing and sale of the subject property. Use of this appraisal
is prohibited as it relates to any function other than that identified herein.

Market value (value-in-exchange) is defined by Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ( l2CFR, Part 34) and
the Appraisal Institute (The Dictionary Of ReaI Estate Appraísal, 6't' Edition) as:

The most probable price which a property should bring in a competitive and open market under all conditions requisite
to a fair sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently and knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected
by undue stimulus. Implicit in this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specific date and the passing of
title from seller to buyer under conditions whereby:

. Buyer and seller are typically motivated;

. Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what they consider their best interests;

. A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market;

. Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of financial arrangements comparable thereto; and

. The price represents the normal consideration for the property sold unaffected by special or creative financing or
sales concessions granted by anyone associated with the sale.

1

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 l5 Copyright O 2018 SJA

130



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala.Inc.

a

The intended user of this appraisal is M. Bilt Enterprises, Inc. c/o Carol Bilt.

USPAP specifically indicates that "foreach appraisal and appraisal review assignment, an appraiser
must:

1. Identify the problem to be solved;
2. Determine and perform the scope of work necessary to develop credible assignment results;
3. Disclose the scope of work in the report."

To that end, Mrs. Carol Bilt of M. Bilt Enterprises, Inc., requested an appraisal of the property
identified herein for the intended use described earlier. As such, the problem to be solved for this
assignment is to form an opinion of market value of the leasehold interest in the subject property "as
is" as of a current date of valuation. The necessary scope of work to develop a credible result
includes the following.

o Established current date of valuation (synonymous with my most recent date of inspection).
o Physically inspect (interior and exterior) and photograph the subject property.
. Research the subject's environment (i.e. region and neighborhood).
. Analyze highest and best use of subject property.
. As discussed in the valuation methodology section of this report, only the Sales Comparison

Approach and Income Capitalization Approach are considered applicable to the valuation of the
subject. To that end, the subject neighborhood was researched for current comparable improved
sales and rentals which were all inspected and verified to the extent possible.

o Form an opinion of market value from market indicators.
o Prepare an appraisal report, as defined in USPAP, which will include photos of the subject,

summarized descriptions and analysis of the region, neighborhood, site, zoning/land use, highest
and best use analysis, presentation of most relevant market data, reconciliation of opinions of
market value and other data deemed by the appraiser to be relevant to the assignment.

Interest Appraised
Leasehold interest2, subject to restrictions of record.

The interest held by the lessee (tenant or renter) through a lease transferring the rights of use and occupancy for a

stated term under certain conditions.

2

A&A File #2018.100.01. 1.001 16 Copyright O 20f8 SJA

131



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIA of Ocala. Inc.

a o

The following legal description was obtained from the land lease agreement with the City of
Williston. While believed accurate, it is not warranted as such.

A parcel of land in the Southeast. I/4 ai Sectioa12, 
. 
lownshJ.p 13. South, Range 1g Aast, l,evyCounty, Florida, being a portión of parceL ¡Co, iof. Williston Industrial Sites, an unrecordedsubdivision, and bei.ng more particufãriydescribed as fo].lows:

I'or a point of Reference commence èt theSoutheasè corner of Section L2, Township 1.3South, .Rânge 18 East, said co¡ner beiag 
""'*ãcente¡line of ü.S- Hi_ghway No, 41; thenãe run S00" 15r 34,' W, along the cènterline of said U.S.

{lglyly No. 41, a distance of 28.45 feeÈi thence
ry-..89" 33' 04r W, 1154.56 feet¡ thence N 00" 45'45" E, 963.98 feet C<> the pOINf CF BEGINNING;èhence coniinue N 00" 45' 46,, E, 402.39 feet tåthe.Pc ôf a curve¡ concâv€ to the east, having a'radius of 50.00 feet; ihen." ñoiir,.rfy, ãiå"tthe arc of said curve, through a centrãl anglå
?I 43" 23, 51", a d.istance of 3?-g? feet to iheFT; thence N 44" 09¡ 43, E¡ Ll1.24 feet to thepC of a curve/ concave to the southèåst. havinga radius of 100 feet; thence No¡theåsterjylalong the arc of said curve, through u cer.rtiåíangJ-e of 38ô 43' 36,' a distance of. 61.59 feet tothe PT; thence T g?, 53' 19;, S, Z+.aO ¡eeiithence S 00" 45, 46" W, 550.A0 iået; thence N
9?" 23 ' 04" w, I?3.09 feet' ro ctose-on the POINTOIT BEGf NNTNG.

The above described parcel cont.ainj-ng 2.00 acresmore or less.

A&A File #2018.1.00.01. 1.001 17 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

132



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. Inc.

The subject leasehold improvements are included in the 2018 Levy County Property Assessment
Roll as Parcel Account No .2212805400 with a20l8 preliminary just (market) value of $67,421 and
taxable value of $67 ,42I whichremain unchanged from20l7 . The2OIT tax burden was $1,710.29.

The site upon which the subject improvements are located is included the 2018 Levy County Pro-
perty Assessment Roll as part of the larger 400 AC property identified as Parcel Account No.
044400000 with a 2018 preliminary total assessment of $2,888,120 (land only). The site is pre-
sumably tax exempt as the owner consists of the City of V/illiston.

Historv of Title
As indicated earlier, the subject site is presently leased from the City of Williston. To that end, the
following summarizes the terms of the ground lease. An initial land lease agreement was executed
in November of 1990 between the City of Williston (lessor) and M. Bilt Enterprises, Inc. (lessee).

A copy of this lease agreement has been retained in my files. This lease agreement references a total
of 2 AC intended to be developed with a manufacturing facility for M. Bilt Enterprises (this facility
was obviously constructed and was owner-occupied until 2014). The initial term of the lease was
25 years (terminating October 30, 2015) but was later extended in February of 1999 until October
of 2023. The lessee may also extend this term for two additional five-year periods with sufficient
notice to the lessor (renewal periods will reportedly require a new market rental rate and escalations
tied to the CPI Index). The lessee is responsible for all utilities, maintenance, insurance and taxes.
Assignment or subletting of the lease requires written consent of the lessor (consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld by the lessor) and the lessee can encumber the leasehold interest with a

mortgage. The lease includes annual rent of $450/AC, plus sales tax. An addendum in October of
1999 provided a first right of refusal for the lessee to lease an adjacent 8.71 AC. Upon termination
of the ground lease, all improvements revert to the lessor.

An interview with the City Manager of the City of V/illiston (Mr. Scott Lippman) revealed that the
city would certainly be open to an extension of the lease upon the termination. In fact, Mr. Lippman
indicatedthat leases haveroutinelybeen extended even mid-termin orderto accommodate financing
of leasehold improvements associated with airport ground lease properties. Of course, such an

extension would require some level of negotiation in regard to the ground rent. In the subject's case,

this would most likely result in an increase in rent (as will be discussed later, the subject's current
contract ground rent is considered significantly below market).

In June of 2014, the subject property was leased from M. Bilt Enterprises, Inc. to 
'Well-Bilt Industries

USA, LLC. This lease was approved by the City of Williston and the Federal Aviation Administra-
tion (FAA). The term of the lease is five years with escalating annual rent as follows: Year I at

$12,000; Year2 at $30,000; Year 3 at $36,000; Year 4 at $42,000; and Year 5 at $48,000. As of the
date of valuation, the rent is $48,000 or $2.18/SF of NRA. The lease includes triple net terms

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 t8 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

133



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIA of Ocala. Inc.

although the lessor is remains responsible for "structural aspects" of repair including the roof,
structural supports, foundation, window and door frames and exterior walls. The lease also provides
a purchase option for the tenant. In that regard, the price is to be determined through appraisals and
5O7o of the rent paid by the tenant during the term ofthis lease shall be applied as a credit against
the purchase price.

Puhlic ând Private ITfilifies ând Services
The subject is positioned in the city limits of Williston (in fact, on the grounds of the Williston
Municipal Airport). To that end, central water is afforded to the subject property while sewer is pro-
vided by on-site means (septic system).

Comprehensive Plan, Land Use and Zoning
The subject is positioned in, and governed by the jurisdiction and comprehensive plan of, the City
of Williston. The future land use designation of the subject property was reported by the City of
Williston Planning Department to be industrial (as a result of a recent map amendment). The
corresponding specific zoning designation is I, industrial which allows a variety of warehouse,
distribution and manufacturing operations. While the subject use is allowed within the current
zoninglland use designations, it is noted that the subject improvements appears to be a legal, non-
conforming use at least to the extent of ADA requirements, setback requirements and potentially the
likely current requirement of on-site drainage retention.

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 19 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

134



fR n
Levy County is located in the geographical west central part of the State of Florida. This county
fronts on the Gulf of Mexico along its western border and extends to the east for approximately 58
miles into the central portion of the state. The county seat is Bronson, which is situated in the north
central portion of the county. Other municipalities in lævy County with employment and shopping
include Chiefland, Williston, Yankeetown, Inglis and Cedar Key.

US Hwy 19/98 enters Levy County at the northwestern corner, runs through the center of the county,
and exits towards what is the southeast corner. This is a major north-south thoroughfare in the
eastern United States, and is four-laned through the length of the county. US Hwy 27 and4l also
run through Levy County, these being two-laned paved roadways. The municipalities mentioned
above are situated around these major highways and cater to primarily base economic services
associated with the population of the county as well as commuters. Attractions in the area include
the world famous Suwannee River, running along the northwest boundary of the county, Manatee
Springs State Park and Cedar Key. These preservation areas cater to outdoor-type activities, but do
not contribute substantially to the economic base of the county. Levy County is Florida's 8th largest
county, geographically, with 705,280 AC. Itprovides 106 miles of rivers and 101 lakes which
enhances its residential and recreational opportunities.

Agriculture is a prevalent use in Levy County, occupying the entire northern and eastern portions of
the county. The southern and western portions of the county are typically low, wet lands which make
up the Gulf Hammock Wildlife Managementarea.

This area is very sparsely populated, with most of the population occupying the north and eastern
portions of the county. The following chart summarizes the population of Levy County from July
of 2004 to July of 2017 (U.S. Census Bureau).

[Levy County, Population 2004-2017]

This chart reveals a spike in growth of population in Levy County in2004-2006 and actual decline
from 2008 to 2014 (subsequent to the recession and surge in unemployment). The population
appears to be back on track with modest growth of less than l7o annually since 2015. As per
information prepared by the Office of Economic and Demographic Research of the Florida
Legislature, the projected2020 population of Levy County is 41,969 which implies modest growth
from the current July of 2017 estimate from the US Census Bureau of only 40,355 . This study also
included growth of households from 13,867 in 2000 ro 16,404 in 2010 (l8.3%o increase). Also,

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 20 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

a a

2(n4 200s 2W6 2007 2008 2t09 2010 20tt 2012 2013 20t4 2015 2016 2017

-evy Co 36,729 37,357 38,240 38,830 39,199 39,t4'7 40,7 t6 40,267 39,997 39,694 39,613 39,832 39,961 40,355

lhange t.'l tEo 2.36Eo I .54o/o O.95Vo -o.t3Eo 4.0lVa - l.lÙo/o -O.6'7Va -0.76Eo -0.2OVo O.557a O.327o O.99o/o

ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIA of Ocala. fnc.

135



housing permits forLevy Countypeaked in 2005 (259) but declined to an average of only 53 per year
from 2010 to 2015. More recently, the number of permits has increased to 143 in2O16 and 159 in
20t7.

As per information from the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics, the Levy County labor force
increasedfrom 14,515inJanuaryof 2000to16,573 inDecemberof 2017. However, fhe20l7level
actually represents a decline from September of 2008 (17,I48). This evidences the dramatic down-
turn in the economy and sharp rise in unemployment. To that end, the following chart summarizes
unemployment rates in Levy County from 2006 to 2017.

[Levy County, Florida Unemployment Rates 2006-2017]

The above chart depicts the impact of the recession upon employment in the lævy County market
in particular. More specifically, l,evy County included an unemployment rate very near the state
average until the market crash in about 2008. From that point, through 2014, Levy County as

significantly lagged behind the state rate. However, as of 2OI7, Levy County has essentially closed
the gap at only .1% less than the state average. Although the Levy County economy suffered
significantlysince therecession beganin200712008, the reducedunemploymentinto 2017 evidences
the considerable recovery. Per information from the Office of Economic and Demographic Research
from the Florida Legislature, daÍ.a associated with "employment by industry" for 2O16 in Iævy
County (as compared with the State of Florida) is summarized as follows:

[Employment By Industry - 20161

The study also provided the following average annual wage associated with each industry:

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 2t Copyright @ 2018 SJA

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 20tl 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Levy County 3.57o 4.37o 7.37o ll.5Vo ll.97o 1O.9Vo 9.3Vo 8.2Vo 6.9Vo 5.7Vo 5.2Vo 4.3Vo

State of Florida 3.2Vo 4.UVo 6.3Vo l0.4Vo 11.|Vo l0.ÙVo 8.5Vo 7.3Vo 6.3Vo 5.4Vo 4.9Vo 4.2Vo

Averase Annual Emnlovment (Vo hv caiesorv\ f ,evv Corrnfw State of Florida
Natural Resources & Minrns '7.4Vo O.\Vo
Construction 15.5Vo 9.9Vo
Manufacturins 4.1Vo ?.1Vo
Trade- Transnortation and I Itilities 22.3Vo 2l.l%a
Information o.5E 1.64a

Financial Activities 7.l%o 10.77a
Professional and Business Services 1O.1Vo 2?,1qÕ

Education & Health Services 9.07o lO.6Vo
Leisure and Hosnitalitv 9.7Vo 8.3Vo
Other Services 7.77o 8.2Vo
(lnwernment \ 10/^ O 9q"

136



[Average Annual Wage - 2016]

Lew Countv State of Florida
All Industries s30.889 s47.060
Natural Resources & Minins s35.488 $31.501
Construction s35.431 s47 -342
Manufacturins s35.270 s51.824
Trade. Transoortation and Utilities s26.032 s41.939
Information $49.750 s77.2s6
Financial Activities $43.439 s69.701
Professional and Business Services s35.588 s56.930
Education & Health Services $30.4s0 $48.616
Leisure and Hospitalitv sr6.942 s24.399
Other Services $2 r.862 $33.996
Government s34.402 s52022

Generally speaking, Levy County's wages are significantly lower that the state-wide average (only
66Vo of the state average annual wage). That being said, these wage levels have increased signifi-
cantly in l,evy County from 2013 (at only $28,878).

In summary, Levy County has historically represented a slow growth, rural area dominated by agri-
cultural activities as its economic base. Timber, cattle farms, row crops and general farming remain
the primary agricultural uses with poultry, horse and dairy farming also contributing to the economic
base. However, the area has been successful in attracting some manufacturers which benefit from
a generally central location of north central Florida, cheap labor and aggressive incentives (tax
exemptions and land lease abatement policies). Market conditions and the economy in the subject
region have not only stabilized but improved significantly subsequent to the economic downturn and
ensuing national recession. In the final analysis, barring any further extended economic recession,
the local real estate market should continue to benefit from the market recovery and return to modest
levels of growth.

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 22 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

AT,RRTGHT .& ASSOCIA of Ocala- fnc-

137



a a a O

Neighborhood is defined as "...a group of complementary land uses."3 The physical neighborhood
may be the same as, or different from, the economic neighborhood. The physical boundaries of a
defined neighborhood essentially perimeter that land area which confines homogeneous land use.

The economic neighborhood is the area which identifies the marketing district of comparable uses

and is considered the more general area of influence with which the subject must compete in terms
of sale prices, rental rates and employment opportunities. The economic neighborhood boundaries
may not be represented by tangible limits to the same extent as the physical neighborhood. It is most
ideal when the physical and economic neighborhoods overlap one another and are essentially the
same. Comparables are extracted from both neighborhoods for direct comparison with the subject.

Geographic Boundaries: N= CR 121

E= CR 323 (which is 1 mile E of US Hwy 41)
S= S side of Williston Airport
W= CR l2l as it curves from NE to SW
broader economic neighborhood includes the N central Florida
region (competitive area for industrial uses)

average

US Hwy 27 (2 miles N of V/illiston Airport, dissects City in E/W
direction) and US Hwy 41 extends N/S through Levy County and

the State of Florida; Interstate 7 5 is 20 miles E; US Hwy 19 is I 5
miles W
central water and sewer available in the City of Williston
none observed
diverse residential economic base with mix of conventional and
manufactured housing in the immediate neighborhood and homes
on parcels ranging from smaller lots to larger acreage tracts; limited
residential subdivision development in immediate vicinity
average, acknowledging steady improvements to unemployment
rate over the past several years

average

Economic Boundaries:

The subject property is part of a much larger parcel identified as the Williston Municipal Airport.

3 Appraisal Institute (The Dictionary Of Real Estate Appraisal, 6'h Edition).
a Recreational opportunities; public venues; religious establishments; civic and community activities; cultural

centers,

Proximity Conveniences:a
Major Thoroughfares:

Availability of Utilities:
Adverse Influences:
Demographics:

Employment:

Proximity Necessities:s

lWilliston Airportl

5 Schools; grocery, clothing and retail shopping; medical community; financial district; government; employment
centers

AT,RRTGHT & ASSOCIA of Ocala. Inc.

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001. 23 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

138



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. Inc.

Actually, prior to development of the subject property, the general vicinity of the site had not been
used since it served as barracks during World War tr for those stationed in Williston at the airport
which was then aB-25 military air base. The airport is unusual in that one of its three runways
includes an extraordinary length of about 7,000 LF, quite uncommon for a small community the size
of Williston and the area it serves.

The City of Williston came into ownership of the airport property through the United States gov-
ernment. Presently, the City has no intentions of selling any property at the airport. In fact, to do
so could jeopardize their ownership of all of the premises. As such, into the foreseeable future,
development of the vacant surplus lands at the airport will most likely require long term ground
leases. The City of Williston, in an attempt to attract industry to increase jobs and labor force,
developed portions of their airport property on the basis of a "Land Lease Abatement Policy" which
was essentially designed to send the message to industry that Williston will offer companies "free
land" in exchange for significant capital investment to create local jobs. The form of this policy
allowed abatement of rent computed as one year free of rent for each tier of ten full-time employees.
Further, the City of V/illiston implemented a plan which accomplished a process of advance
permitting which so commonly tends to slow the private-sector during their investigatory and
development stages. This policy resulted in the development of the large Monterey Boats and the
Shadow Trailers manufacturing facilities. A representative of the City of Williston indicated that
the abatement policy would be entertained for future development prospects.

As of the date of valuation of this appraisal, there are numerous occupants of surplus portion of the
airport property via ground leases. These occupants include a variety ofbusinesses ranging from
agricultural (hay production, lumber and peanut processing) to retail (Pyper Kub café) to recreational
(V/illistonShooting,Williston'sHorsemans'sPark)toindustrial. Inregardtoindustrial,thesubject
represents one of several manufacturers. The others include Monterey Boats (44.1 AC), Shadow
Trailers (9 AC) and A & N Corp (10.2 AC). The rents associated with these leases include a wide
range from as low as under $200/AC per year to as much as over $3,500/AC per year. The last
approved rates for land leases at the Williston Municipal Airport were reportedly established by
Council in 2007. To that end, information provided by a representative of the City of Williston
indicated a rate of $3,500/AC per year for "unimproved" sites and $7,800/AC per year for
"improved" sites. The representative indicated that "improved" refers to sites that are vertically
improved with older industrial buildings. One of the improved properties owned by the City of
Williston (6,000 SF warehouse building located at 1879 SW 18'h Ave on 1.01 AC near the main
entrance to the airport) is reportedly leased by Seabring Marine (a/k/a Monterey Boats) with a rent
as of December of 2016 of $2.63lSF, net. Finally, it is noted that the Williston Animal Shelter is
planning to occupy acreage at the airport but has yet to fully fund the project.

A&A File #2018.100.0L1.001 24 Copyright O 2018 SJA

139



a a a

The following description of the subject site is based on mypersonal inspection as well as the refer-
enced sketch and information from the public record.

Survey Map of Boundary Survey prepared by Stephen M. McMillen, Project
#2017-OI4A, dated January 19,2Ol7
2^C
see survey reduction
slightly irregular, but useful, configuration
about 440 FF on E r/w of SW 8'h Terr
site is directly accessed via frontage on SW 8'h Terr
somewhat obscure area at the interior of the Williston airport property
average; SLY extreme portion of site remains densely wooded while
majority of the site is cleared
generally level terrain; drainage appears adequate (benefits from off-
site provisions)
zone "X" (minimal flooding) per FEMA Map Panel #1207 5C04O5F ,

effective Il/02/2012
refer to contingent and limiting conditions
refer to contingent and limiting conditions
SW 8th Terr reportedly actually represents a former taxi-way of the
airport; the r/w is improved with asphalt paving and width which
allows not only two lanes of traffic but parking as well
none observed
subject improvements (quonset storage portion and waste contain-
ment area) encroach upon adjacent E acreage (see Extraordinary As-
sumptions)
\[= private hangar within secured gate of airport facility
þ= commercial use upon leased lands of airport facility
$= unimproved acreage associated with airport facility
W= Williston's Horseman's Park across SW 8th Terr
none noted

Topo and Drainage:

Flood Zonez

Adjacent Land Uses:

Parcel Size:
Dimensions:
Shape:
Road Frontage:
Site Access:
VisualProminence:
Aesthetic Appeal:

Soil ContaminatÍon:
Water Pollution:
Road Improvements:

Easements:
Encroachments:

Adverse Influences:

In summary, the existing site represents a physically and functionally effective entity contributing
towards ultimate highest and best use.

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 25 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. Inc.

140



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. Inc.

PIat Man--.-------------

I
il

¡

coücrElE

7,e 
^c

Àc

5.0 ac

I

5.2 ÂC:

5.0 ¡rC.

\r{\l
\"S

q Åc

')

RÈ5.0 ¡rC

*
I@

5.O ÀC
@

LC6 7

@

BlL

6.5 AC

5.6 ACAC.5

4,9 lC

@
¡.9 .rc

@
Àc4 9

íet-
@
5.6 ÀC5.6 ÅC.

ro
I Àc

t'rt
c1Àl.

Ø
Ì.6 ¡C

2
Â

ts

.ãP
,þnu'úu
{'t@

5.7 
^C. 

f.
1îì-

r;d'r
i .9 rtC-

4,9 ÂC.
@

4 ,9 ¡lC

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 26 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

141



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. Inc.

Site Survey

L? r¡ar3t'å¡t 1+.2t'(tl)
riËi'at'tg'E r¿,¡a'iBl

ti
l,t.

f ;'

I

*t1t'î1 wt,tffqPa4-::F.-

¡L,t)
Gg
t¡u
,.-

€
3
ui

,n'*
?

^tv:

ï
å

t
Ð+
it
Ë
ñ

¡{BËr$?¡tlll I

t

I

t

I

:1

*
z

-tùl:]i-Ártr"

A&A File #2018.100.011.001. n Copyright @ 2018 SJA

142



AI-,RRIGHT & ASSOCIA S of Ocah. fnc.

Aerial Photo

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 28 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

143



a a o

The subject property is improved with a manufacturing facility which is presently tenant-occupied
by WellBilt Industries. The following descriptions pertain to the subject improvements as they
existed as of my on-site inspections. Where hidden component cannot be viewed, the analysis will
make the most realistic assumptions based on current design features.

Manufacturing Building

This building was designed for, and continues to be used for, the manufacturing of hangar doors.
The building encloses a total of approximafely 21,979 SF of GBA/NRA6 of which approximately
2,400 SF consists of supporting two-story office space (ratio of IITo). The original portion of the
building was constructed in 1990 with subsequent additions in 1998 and 1999. The building
includes concrete slab, blend of partial concrete block (original portion of building) and pre-
engineered steel framing and metal siding/roof with gutters. The majority of the building includes
an eave height within a range of 22' to 26' although the machine shop/electrical room on the south
end of the building includes an eave height of only about 10'. The manufacturing area benefits from
(3) bi-folding overhead doors on the west elevation of the building as well a (1) hydraulic overhead
door at the east elevation. Additional area under roof includes a2,926 SF canopy on the north end
of the building which was reportedly added in about 2000 (asphalt floor in only fair to poor
condition). In support of the manufacturing use, the building benefits from a significant electrical
system with access to power throughout much of the production area.

The office area includes two stories and is located at the southwesterly portion of the building. Each
flood encloses 1,200 SF. The office area is served by central heating and air-conditioning. The
lower level is accessed at the front (west) elevation and includes a bathroom, open work area and
break room. Finishes include vinyl floors, painted gypsum board walls, acoustical tile drop ceiling,
fluorescent lighting and aluminum single-hung windows. The second floor is accessed by interior
stairwell, elevator (relatively low-grade elevator which is presently used to move materials to the
second floor) and exterior stairwell which requires ingress/egress over a portion of the roof of the
building (the exterior stairwell is reportedly not in compliance with code requirements and would
seem to most appropriately be used as only secondary, emergency access). The second floor
(originally constructed as an office and apartment) includes two large office areas as well as kitchen
and full bathroom. This area has been renovated (by the tenant) to a quality and condition far
superior to the first floor with tile/carpet floors, painted gypsum board walls and ceilings and

The tenant provided a site sketch which indicated a total enclosed building uea size of 20,489 SF. However, this
estimate appears to rely upon interior dimensions and excludes the two storage containers on either side ofthe
quonset storage area. My size estimate is based upon exterior dimensions (consistent with the indicated area of all
comparable data) and is inclusive of the two storage containers as they are permanently affixed to the building and
provide functional utility in the form ofstorage. Further, the size estimate provided by the Levy County Property
Appraiser (based on exterior dimensions and including the storage containers) is 2 I ,410 SF which is much closer
to my estimate.

6

AT,BRIGHT & ASSOCIA S of Ocala- fnc.

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 29 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

144



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala.Inc.

masonite panel doors. The second floor office area includes access to the roof of the machine
shop/electrical room portion of the building.

The extreme north end of the building contains the machine shop and electrical room. This portion
of the building includes concrete slab, fluorescent lighting and unfinished walls and ceiling other
than insulation (8'ceiling height). This area is accessed via an exterior door on the south side of the
building as well as from the interior.

The majority of the building consists of manufacturing which is divided into three fabrication areas.

The southerly fabrication area can be enclosed by a sliding metal doors. This portion of the building
includes concrete slab, blend of concrete block, unfinished drywall (second floor offices), metal
siding (associated with the original portion of the building) and unfinished steel frame interior walls
and ceiling with insulation. The manufacturing area includes a bathroom and sink area (wash sink
as well as eye rinsing area) adjacent to the first floor offices. The area also benefits from two crane
ways (hoists represent leasehold improvements) as well as exhaust fans and adequate lighting.

Finally, the storage area of the subject consists of a quonset hut building which is flanked by two
metal semi-trailer storage containers which have been affixed to the site (considered part of the
subject's useful gross building area). While the storage area includes a quality grade below that of
the balance of the building, it retains a high level of utility in terms of storage purposes. As a matter
of note, there is an additional semi-trailer container positioned adjacent to the north end canopy
which reportedly represents a sub-leasehold improvement (reportedly placed by the current tenant).

Site Imnrovements

Asphalt Paving- estimated 1 1,000 SF of asphalt paving associated with driveway and
parking area at V/ elevation of building (lacking striping); however,
majority of employee and customer parking is accommodated in the
WLY extreme of the SW 8th Ten right of way; current code require-
ment for the subject use and zoning is one space per 500 SF ofgross
floor area which would equate the need for 44 spaces (alternative re-
quirement i s I .25 spaces for each employee on maximum shift, which-
ever is greater) along with handicap spaces; current use appears to re-
quire less than the 44 required spaces although, through the SW 8'h

Terr spaces, subject parking lot and SLY unimproved portion of site,
the subject likely includes sufficient area to accommodate this level
of parking; in any event, the subject is legally, non-conforming
concrete paved areas at the building's W, S and E elevations
storm water drainage provided via off-site provisions
natural landscaping only
flag pole; signage; former covered fuel containment area adjacent to

Concrete Paving-
Drainage-
Landscaping-
Miscellaneous-

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 30 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

145



AT,RRIGHT & ASSOCIA of Ocah. fnc.

quonset hut

In summary, the existing improvements are considered a logical and functionally useful extension
of the highest and best use of the land.

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 31 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

146



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala.Inc.

Representative view of l"tfloor offices 1"lfloor break room

Representative view of 2"d floor offices 2"d floor kitchen area

Representative view of machine shop View of SLY fabrication area

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 32 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

147



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. rnc.

View of SLY fabrication area (offices in distance) View of fabrication area bathroom

View of fabrication area (facing S) View, facing N, of NLY fabrication area

View of quonset hut storage area View of one of two semi-trailer containers for storage

rÃËrfl¡i

t

t

)

'":iffi

fl
üË
.,?,Fl

,;''

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 33 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

148



a a a o o

Economic life is the period of time during which an improvement contributes to the value of land.
When this period of time ends, the improvement becomes a liability to the site to the extent of, and
measured by, cost of removal. The three major categories from which an improvement may suffer
a value loss are:

1. Physical Deterioration (wear and tear of improvements).
2. Functional Obsolescence (inutility of site and/or improvements).
3. External Obsolescence (adverse locational influences).

Of these three categories, only physical and functional depreciation are curable.

ActualÆffective Age-

Economic Life-
Remaining Economic-
Deterioration Rate-
Accrued Deterioration-

19 Io 28 yrsl25 yrs (relatively high effective age acknowledges per-
iodic renovations over time, most recently including partial roof re-
pair and renovation to 2nd floor office and new A/C unit, but also
overall only fair condition with significant level of deferred mainte-
nance observed during my inspection and referenced in a recent in-
spection performed by Integrity Home Inspections)
40 yrs (supported by market and MarshallT)
15 yrs
2.5Vo/yr (SL basis or lOÙVo + total economic life)
637o (short- and long-lived, incurable)

Phvsical Depreciation

Curable, Deferred Maintenance:

Although the current owner of the subject property has performed repairs to the roof over the past

several years, the roof is very near the end ofits useful life and is reasonably anticipated to require
replacement in the very near future. Further, other items of deferred maintenance include drainage
issues near the quonset storage area, numerous windows needing replacement, bay doors requiring
repair, some areas of warehouse insulation damaged, potential need for electrical system upgrading,
septic system reportedly non-conforming as to placement and near the end of its useful life. The
subject also reportedly lacks ADA compliance in several areas such as the front entry door access,

lack of handicap parking spaces, drainage trench at front potentially a hazard, lack of ADA
bathroom, interior door handles need replacement, no emergency lighting or exit signs and no fire
alarms or extinguishers. These items of deferred maintenance as well as the overall condition of the
improvements are acknowledged though my conclusion of an advanced effective age of 25 years for

Average to Good quality, Class S, light manufacturing facilities include a range of economic lives from 35 to 40
years as per Marshall.

7

AI.RRIGHT.l¿ ASSOCIA of Ocala- fnc.

A&A File #20L8.100.01 1.001 34 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

149



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. Inc.

comparison with the comparable sales of the Sales Comparison Approach (each of the sales includes
the need for new roof as well as other items of deferred maintenance which are similarly recognized
through their estimated effective ages). Within the Income Capitalization Approach, recognizing
the likelihood for the need to cure essential deferred maintenance items for new tenancy and that the
comparable lease properties do not include the same extent of deferred maintenance, I have included
a specific allocation of $125,000 (acknowledging the need for a new roof at $80,000, ADA items
at $20,000 and other miscellaneous items at $25,000).

Incurable, Short- and Long-Lived Components:

Although remaining functional for manufacturing use, the subject improvements have experienced
a considerable level ofincurable physical deterioration as evidenced by the age/life analysis present-
ed earlier.

Functional Obsolescence

Again, while remaining generally functional for continued manufacturing, it is not uncommon for
older buildings such as the subject to include some extent of functional obsolescence. In the sub-
ject's instance, the subject's lack of ADA compliance is considered an example of obsolescence but
represents a legally non-conforming attribute. Acknowledging this deficiency, the overall layout and

design of the facility seems sufficient to accommodate a variety of alternate manufacturing uses.

External Obsolescence

The overall downturn in the economy and recent recession had an adverse impact upon the real
property associated with most forms of development in the Levy County market (including
industrial). The combination of an increased supply of available space (subsequent to the closure
of many businesses) along with competition from foreclosures and short sales resulted in significant
value declines in most markets. However, the economy and market have certainly stabilized and,

in fact, showing signs of significant improvement in many sectors. This valuation acknowledges the
potential existence of such obsolescence through the use of current comparable improved sales and

leases which are subject to the same market conditions as the subject property. Otherwise, there are

no observed external influences to the subject property, as it exists. impacting negatively thereon.

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 35 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

150



AT,RRIGHT & ASSOCIA S of Ocala- fnc-

Hishest and Best Use
As defined in the Appraisal of Real Estate, 14'h Edition (published by the Appraisal Institute in
2013), highest and best use is:

"The reasonably probable use of property that results in the highest value."

The following four tests are implicit within the consideration of highest and best use:

1. PhysicallyPossible.
2. IægallyPermissible.
3. FinanciallyFeasible.
4. MaximallyProductive

Application of these four categories to the subject supports my conclusions of highest and best use.

As Vacant

The subject property includes a 2 AC site located at the Williston Municipal Airport benefitting from
availability of central water but requiring septic system for sewer provisions. The site also includes
good accessibility and availability of parking within the SE 8'h Terr right of way. The general
location of the subject site is considered rural in nature with close proximity to US Hwy 41 and US
Hwy 27 but not particularly close to the primary north/south corridor of I-75 through the center of
the State of Florida. As such, the subject site is considered at best a secondary industrial site. Also,
as a surplus portion of the airport facility, this site is available only through a ground lease.

However, my review of the rent roll associated with the subject airport (as well as interviews with
airport managers from the region) evidences a significant level of demand for long term ground lease

occupancy. The flip side of this location and ground lease requirement, in terms of industrial use,
is the availability of incentives from the City of Williston and relatively cheap labor. In fact, the
overall location, and incentives related thereto, were sufficient to lure not only the subject
manufacturer but also Monterey Boats and Shadow Trailers to the area. Based upon the relevant
criteria, it is my opinion that the four tests of highest and best use of the subject property, as vacant,
would include eventual industrial use.

As Imnroved

The subject represents a manufacturing facility enclosing almost 22,000 SF of GBA/NRA. The
subject's plot coverage equates to25Vo which is representative ofthe upper tendency ofthe range
of market indicators. While the approximate southerly .50 AC of the subject site remains essentially
undeveloped and available for expansion, the site benefits from off-site drainage and partial parking
provisions which enhances the utility of the site. The subject improvements include an overall only
fair condition with the near term need for roof replacement and curing of other items of defened
maintenance. In that regard, acknowledging a remaining term of five years on the ground lease (at

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 36 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

151



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. rnc.

well below market rent) as well as the availability of (2) five-year renewal periods, it is feasible to
cure the essential items of deferred maintenance which would extend the life of the improvements
through, and actually beyond, this remaining total potential term of 15 years. Further, an interview
with the airport manager revealed that extensions to the ground lease are reasonably anticipated to
remain available to the owner of the leasehold position in order to provide feasibility for renovations,
repairs and/or replacements which would significantly extend the life of the improvements. Consist-
ent with the terms of the ground lease, the leasehold interest associated with the subject includes the
ability to sub-lease or assign with lessor consent (which cannot be unreasonably withheld).

To that end, acknowledging a significant remaining economic life of the improvements and
remaining term of the ground lease (through options) extending until 2033 with the ability to extend
the lease even longer, the subject leasehold interest is certainly considered marketable. Evidence of
this marketability was found through my research of several airport facilities in the north central
Florida region over time including not only the Williston facility but also the municipal airports in
Ocala, Lake City and Pinellas County.

The overall layout and design of the subject facility is sufficient to accommodate a variety of
alternative industrial users (more likely to include manufacturing than distribution). However, as

is the case with most older manufacturing facilities, there are some aspects which are dated and
specialized to the original user. As such, in regard to occupancy by the broader market of potential
industrial users, some extent of "re-tenancy" cure is reasonably anticipated. Of course, these
specialized features could also command arentpremiumin terms of occupancyof the subject facility
for a manufacturer of hangar doors (present operation).

Market conditions have improved considerably over the past several years with respect to the
industrial market in north central Florida (including Levy County). Much, if not most, of the
inventory of distressed properties have been absorbed into the market. As such, not only has

occupancy improved dramatically but prices and rents have increased. Despite the older age of the
improvements, the sales and lease data presented in the two approaches to value provide rather clear
evidence that the subject improvements continue to contribute well above underlying land value.

In the final analysis, it is my opinion that highest and best use of the subject property is for continued
manufacturing acknowledging the need for near term cure of a significant level of defened
maintenance. Finally, valuation of the subject property is predicated on the program of land
utilization consistent with highest and best use concluded herein.

Reasonable Exnosure Time
Reasonable exposure time is historically-oriented (time lapsed prior to sale's closing or lease).8

"Reasonable Marketing Time" differs from "Reasonable Exposure Time" as it is:

Future-oriented, subsequent to or post-effective valuation date; thus, if introduced, "Reasonable Marketing Time"

8

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 37 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

152



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. rnc.

Based upon my research with respect to reasonable exposure time of the subject property type, I have
formed an opinion of reasonable exposure time applicable to my opinion of market value of the
subject property of 9 to 12 months.

Valuation Methodolosv
The three traditional approaches to value of real estate appraisal process are: Cost Approach, Sales

Comparison Approach and Income Capitalization Approach.

The Cost Approach combines an opinion of land value with value of horizontal and vertical
improvements. This approach is based upon the Principle of Substitution which holds that a buyer
would likely not pay more for a property than the costs of obtaining an equally desirable substitute
site plus the costs new of replacing equally desirable and useful improvements thereon, assuming
no costly delay in making the substitution.

The Sales Comparison Approach includes the comparison of the subject with similarly located and
useful properties that have recently sold to establish a discernible pattern for comparative analysis.
Adjustments are necessary to the sales in many instances since no two properties are identical.

The Income Approach is based on the Principle of Anticipation which holds that a purchaser is
buying in anticipation of acquiring future net benefits to the property. Value is measured in this
approach through capitalization of net income.

The subject of this valuation includes the leasehold interest (subject to the current ground lease).
While the owner of the leasehold interest does not benefit from an eventual reversion of the property
at the end of the ground lease, the owner retain rights to all improvements along with potential
control of the underlying land for the next l5 years with a significantly favorable ground rental rate
for the next five years. Further, it is reasonable to assume that the lessee will be able to negotiate
an extension of the ground lease in the event that the improvements are deemed to include an

economic life beyond the current available term. To that end, in the absence of current, truly
comparable sales of leasehold interests of older manufacturing facilities in the subject market, it is
my opinion that the most appropriate valuation methodology includes initial considered to the
hypothetical fee simple interest (supported by the Sales Comparison Approach and Income
Capitalization Approach) with secondary consideration to the valuation of the leased fee interest
(through the Income Capitalization Approach) withthe variancebetween these two value indications
representing the value of the leasehold interest. More detailed descriptions of the steps of each
applicable approach to value will be more fully discussed and illustrated hereafter.

follows Reconciliation.

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 38 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

153



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. Inc.

This process represents a "whole-to-whole" valuation methodology which embraces all facets of the
subject property as a single economic entity.

1. Research market for sales which are comparable to the subject property.
2. Verify factual data of sales which are concluded comparable to subject.
3. Develop appropriate unit of comparison which reflects the basis of sales.
4. Compare pertinent criteria of sales with characteristics of the subject.
5. Where appropriate, adjust sales for differences of unit value indicators.
6. Apply most appropriate unit indicator to derive an indicator of value.

The following sales represent the best data available for comparison with the subject property (fee
simple interest). As a result of a scarcity of current comparable sales from the immediate subject
market, my research was expanded to include sales from the adjacent counties of Marion and
Alachua. The appropriate unit of comparison is the price per SF of gross building area (based upon
exterior building dimensions).

ICOMPARABLE IMPROVED SALES DATA]

Sale Datel Location/Propertv ID Zone GBÃ.l0ffrce Vo Act AeeÆlot Cov S/SF

I ,,rrl
802 NW 27'n Ave (Ocala)/
Boyd lVelding M-l

I 8,000 sF/
33Vo

36 Yrs/
24Vo $2s.39

2
15210 NE 49'h Terr (Cainesville)/

fltzlStrictly Tool Boxes r-2
12,786 SF/

lOVo

19 Yrs/
IOTo $36. I 3

3
13400 SW 60* Ave (Ocala)/

l0i 1 8lBeautiful Moments G-U
22,2725Ft

l27o
34 Yrsl

l57a $32.22

lMean of Indicators: $3r.2s

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 39 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

154



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala.Inc.

Comparable Improved Sales Location Map

4t

41

1it 1

4:

.11

$J¿ldo

Årredondo

Yd illistop

Forf \4cCoy

lloigl'rl-q

(¿)

Molrøse

Tio.ga
Itlevrberry

Ì9 1_::ìre!f J

l.rawthom€ Ldgirr
(.

î31
Årchor

Rale,igh

m
t.ilj

SUBJECT

i*-'
Fellovr:hip

@t

{s

Gainesville windscr

Rochello

Eellevrùr¡ú

Fore$t
he

.ø orange
l'erahlÉ

-snlÉ 

z

MicanÕplj Lochl:*sa

Ë Cross Creck
(111

Mcl¡ìtosh

Crarqù Lùko
Citra

&r
ÊaddÌck

{lranqa
SFfiñqs

Vt'i¡iet0r1
l.i;ghlands

MÕrristÕ¡l

(@1,

Chatmire
lluns-lellion

6¡ove
Êa¡k Wma

SAIE 3

\.':tir

@

Yçrk

ffi¡
Ë

ÀÍ',hony

Zub¡¡
SALE IlfJ
./

,r' sil,/er spnrqs
,{ (î,,
[]cala

i junltngtÕn

f,f'1 r'Ë)

eilr¡¡¡ {nr- ' -' *r' l¡'qs
5lìÕroå

A&A File #201.8.100.011.001 40 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

155



AI-,RRIGHT & ASSOCIA ES of Ocala. Inc.

Data Sheet fmnroved Sale L

OR Book & Page:
Grantor:
Grantee:
Date of Sale:
Sale Price:
Unit Price:
Interest Conveyed:
Cash Equivalency:
Legal Description:
Assessment No.
Location:
Site Area:
Confîguration:
Road Frontage:
TopographylDrainage:
Flood Zonez

65 I 4/0339 ; Marion County
Mary Carolyn Galloway, individually and as trustee, et al
DEB3, LLC
January 5,2017
$457,400
$25.41lSF
fee simple
cash to seller
portion of Lot 4, Galloway and Sands Subdivision
2189-004-001
802 NV/ 2'7'h Ave, Ocala, FL
1.7 AC
rectangular
V/ r/w of SW 27'h Ave
generally leveVadequate

zone"X" as per online FEMA map

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 4t Copyright @ 2018 SJA

156



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIA of Ocala. Inc.

,

Natural Landscaping:
Utilities:
Property Jurisdiction:
Zoningz
Use at Sale:
Encumbrances:
Improvements:

Condition:

Occupancy:
Verified With:
Exposure Time:
3-Yr+ Sales History:
Comments:

average
City of Ocala
City of Ocala
M-1,light industrial
office/warehouse
none observed
office/warehouse building (built in 1981) enclosing a total of 18,000
SF GBA/NRA with a 16' eave height and a 33Vo office ratio; (2)
ground level overhead doors on S building elevation; amenities in-
clude small canopy at front andmezzanine storage; construction in-
cludes slab, masonry/metal walls and metal roof; site improvements
include asphalt paved parking lot (13 parking spaces) and driveway,
concrete paving and chain link fence
fair;36 yr actual age;25 yr effective age acknowledging immediate
need for new roof as well as overall only fair condition
vacant at sale; proposed for owner-occupancy by buyer
public records; exterior inspection, l|l4LS # 424596 (Nolan Galloway)
625 days on market
NA last three years

broker at sale verified that the property required a new roof (reported
quote at about $100,000) and otherrenovations after sale (septic tanks
were found to be under the parking lot; office dated; penetration in
exterior siding); further, he indicated that the configuration of the site
results in "awkward" conditions for traffic

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 42 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

157



AT,RRIGHT & ASSOCIA of Ocala. fnc.

OR Book & Page:
Grantor:
Grantee:
Date of Sale:
Sale Price:
Unit Price:
Interest Conveyed:
Cash Equivalency:
Legal Description:
Assessment No.
Location:
Site Area:
Configuration:
Road Frontage:
Topography/I)rainage :

Flood Zonez

4498/ I35 I ; Alachua County
LMB Development, LLC
Strictly E-Commerce, Inc.
March 2,2017
$462,000
$36.13/SF
fee simple
cash to seller
portion of Lot 7, Airport Industrial Park, Alachua County, FL
08162-007-001
5210 NE 49'hTen,Gainesville, FL
3.05 AC
slightly irregular, essentially useful configuration
W r/w NE 49th Terr
generally leveVadequate

"zone X" as per online FEMA map

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 43 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

158



AI,RRIGHT & ASSOCIA of Ocala. Inc.

h

Natural Landscaping:
Utilities:
Property Jurisdiction:
Zoningz
Use at Sale:
Encumbrances:
Improvements:

Condition:

Occupancy:
Verified With:
Exposure Time:
3-Yr+ Sales History:
Comments:

,

average
city services provided
City of Gainesville
t-2
proposed for distribution use
none adverse

office/warehouse building enclosing a total of 12,786 SF of GBA/
NRA (built in 1998; overall office ratio of l07o; approximately 22'
eave height); overhead doors in excess of 12' tall;3-phase power; fire
sprinkler system; site improvements include parking lot (16 spaces),

fencing, signage and off-site drainage retention
average; actual age of 19 yrs; effective age of 19 yrs (acknowledges
the immediate need for a new roof at an estimated cost of $50,000 as

well as other items of deferred maintenance including need for ex-
terior wall cleaning and/or painting)
proposed for owner-occupancy after sale
public records; exterior inspection; MLS #373529 (Dave Ferro)
322 days on market
NA last three years

property was originally listed for $599,900 before eventual sale at

$462,000; primary reason for the large reduction was the need for a

new roof (quoted price of $50,000) as well as other items of deferred
maintenance; property purchased by adjacent property owner

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 44 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

159



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. rnc.

OR Book & Page:
Grantor:
Grantee:
Date of Sale:
Sale Price:
Unit Price:
Interest Conveyed:
Cash Equivalency:
Legal Description:
Assessment No.
Location:
Site Area:
Confïguration:
Road Frontage:
Topography/I)rainage :

Pending; Marion County
City of Ocala
current tenant
scheduled to close on October 12,2018
$720,000
$32.33lSF
fee simple
cash to seller
lengthy, in Section 29/l5l2l, Marion County, Florida
portion of 23820-006-01
3400 SW 60th Ave, Ocala, FL
3.33 AC
rectangular
N r/w of NE 25th St just E of NE 36'h Ave
generally leveVadequate

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 45 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

160



AT,RRTGHT.& ASSOCTA S of Ocala- fnc^

,

Flood Zone:

Natural Landscaping:
Utilities:
Property Jurisdiction :

Land Use/Zoning:
Use at Sale:
Encumbrances:
Improvements:

Condition:
Occupancy:

Verifïed With:
Exposure Time:
3-Yr+ Sales History:
Comments:

n

zone "X" (minimal flooding) as per FEMA Map #12083C 0513E,
effective Apnl19,2017
average

City of Ocala
City of Ocala
low intensity/GU, governmental use
storage/distribution warehouse (party rentals and supplies)
none observed

single-tenant office/warehouse building enclosi ng22,27 2SF of GBA/
NRA (built in 1984; addition completed in 1990); l2Vo offrce ratio;
construction in-cludes slab, metal walls (14'eave height) and roof;
amenities include fire sprinkler protection, (2) rear secured canopy
areas (w/fence enclosure), security system and exhaust fans; func-
tional floor plan for light manufacturing or storage/distribution use;
front office area in-cludes reception area, showroom, break room,
work area./conference room, (2) pnvafe offices and two restrooms;
additional rear office area includes larger break room and two large
bathrooms; central manufacturing area is expansive and accessible
from office area; approximate 694 SF portion of the manufacturing
area is enclosed while another portion has been converted to
additional showroom space with partial partitioning; balance of
building to the rear consists of warehouse storage space; however, the
net useful area of the rear warehouse space is somewhat impeded by
the existence of two large air handlers associated with the climate
control of the adjacent manufacturing area; supporting infrastructure
includes asphalt paved driveway, parking lot (39 parking spaces) and
loading area, concrete sidewalks, nominal ornamental landscaping,
signage and off-site drainage retention
fair to averaget 28 to 34 yr actual age; effective age of 22 yrs
tenant-occupied prior to sale but proposed for owner-occupancy after
sale

inspection at appraisal; representative of grantor
NA
NA last three years

prior to sale, property tenant occupied on a month-to-month basis
(following expiration of the lease agreement on July 1, 2017) at an

indicated rent of $4,830.30/mo or $2.60/SF, triple net

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 46 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

161



Adjustment Process

In terms of the adjustment process, initial considerations are made to interest conveyed, cash equiva-
lency, conditions of sale, expenditures made immediately after purchase and market conditions. In
addition, the data are analyzed as to not only location/ plot coverage but also a variety ofphysical
characteristics and entitlement.

My review of the available data revealed a lack of discernible support for some of these elements
of comparison. That is, there is simply not sufficient data to isolate one variable within a single
pairing in order to extract value impact attributable thereto. The following is a summary of the
elements of comparison for which adjustments to the comparable data may be necessary.

Interest (Rights) Conveyed:

It is appropriate to first compare rights conveyed in the comparable sale with that being considered
for valuation in the subject assignment (i.e. fee simple, leased fee, leasehold). Any measurable
difference is first acknowledged by adjustment. All sales included the fee simple interest and
adjustment is not necessary.

Cash Equivalency:

Research of rates and terms of market financing at sale date formed the basis of ourconclusions with
regard to cash equivalency. Those sales which included sub-market financing (that is, rates or terms
below those typically offered at the sale date) and therefore provide an advantage to the buyer, or
sales which indicate the reverse (an advantage to the seller), include a cash equivalency (CE)
adjustment. The unadjusted price shown for the sales represents the cash or CE sale price. None
of the sales require adjustment for cash equivalency.

Conditions of Sale:

Conditions of sale is a key ingredient in comparability of the sale to the subject. Examination is
made of the motivation surrounding the transaction to insure the sale is arm's length in nature, an

assumption which is explicit in the market value definition. Each of the sales included arm's length
transactions with no need for adjustment for conditions of sale.

Market Conditions (Time):

The time adjustment acknowledges changes in value due to the passage of time as a result of such
factors as supply and demand as well as current, competitive local economic conditions. The time
adjustment, if any, is based upon resales of properties within the subject's marketing area during the
recent past. Sale 3 represents a pending sale is obviously very cunent. Sales I and2, however, both

A&A File #20L8.100.011.001 47 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIA of Ocala. Inc.

162



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIA ES of Ocala. fnc.

occurred in early 2OI7 . ln that regard, market conditions have continued to improved through the
second half of 20 1 8 and I have applied an upward adjustment on the basis of +5 7o lyear to each sale

which results in +67o to Sale I and +5Vo to Sale 2.

Effective Age:

Each of the sales also require adjustment for varying effective ages as compared with the subject
improvements. To that end, the subject includes an advanced effective age of 25 years. By
comparison, Sale 1 includes a similar overall effective age of 25 years (like the subject required not
only roof replacement but other repairs) while Sales 2 and 3 includes superior effective ages of 19

years and 22years, respectively (while both Sales 2 and3 also required new roofs with some extent
of additional deferred maintenance, they include an otherwise superior overall age). The following
charts summarize the basis for adjustment herein.

lEffective Age Adjustment Calculations]

LocationÆlot Coverage:

The improved sales require the following adjustments for location/plot coverage. This adjustment
is based on analysis of the underlying land value for each of the comparable properties as compared
with that of the subject. The resulting adjustment acknowledges variances in specific location and

value differential attributable to variances in zoning/land use and other property specific character-
istics, as well as plot coverage. In regard to the subject property, analysis of comparable land sales

results in my opinion of an appropriate allocation to the subject's underlying land of $56,000 (or 2
AC @ $28,000/AC). In turn, the underlying land associated with the subject property represents

approximately $2.55/SF of GBA ($56,000 divided by 21,979 SF). For comparison, the underlying
land included in:

Sale 1 represents $6.17lSF of GBA (based on rate of $65,000/AC) resulting in a downward

Effective age adjustments are based on an estimated economic life of40 years or depreciation rate of 2.5%olyr for
the comparable properties. Age variance factor above represents 100% less the estimated level ofdepreciation.

Snle 2 S¡le 3

ìale Price lAdiusted for Market Conrlitions) $48-5- t 00 $720.00c
- Estimated Contributorv Value of Site l$l07 000t l$18i.000'

= l)enreciafed Value of Imnrovemenfs s378- I 00 $537.00C

:- bv Accrued Deoreciation Factore o.5? o.45

= Hvnothetical Cost New $720.1 90 s l -193.333
r Adi Accrued Depreciation Factor of Subiect o?8 0.i8

= Adi l)enreciaferl Value of Imnrovemenfs s270.071 s447--50C

+ Site Value s1 07 000 $18?.00c

= Adiusted Sale Price. Rd s3'7'7.071 s630.50c
lndic¡ted Adi lAdi Price ¿ Sale Price Rdl o7R oRf

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 48 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

163



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of Ocala. rnc.

adjustmentof $3.62lSF;Sale 2represents $8.37lSFof GBA (based on rate of $35,000/AC) resulting
in a downward adjustment of $5.82lSF; and, Sale 3 represents $8.22lSF of GBA resulting in a
downward adjustment of $5.67lSF.

Size:

The three indicators include a range of sizes which bracket the size of the subject property. In that
regard, while Sales I and 3 include similar sizes which do not require adjustment, Sale 2 is
significantly smaller than the subject property at less than 13,000 SF. As economies of scale are

relevant for the subject property type, I have included downward adjustment on the basis of 57o or
$ L 13/SF (as applied to the indicated unit value after all other adjustments).

Office Ratio:

Sales 2 and 3 each include similar office ratios and do not require adjustment. Sale 1, however,
includes an office ratio of 33Vo which is far superior to the subject property. To that end, cost less

depreciation analysis for Sale I indicates the following downward adjustment to acknowledge a

reduced office ratio of only IlVo: 4,000 SF (additional office space above and beyond an IlTo ratio
for Sale 1) @ cost new estimate of $50/SF or $200,000 less $ 126,000 (63Vo physical depreciation)

= $74,000 or downward adjustment of $4.1l/SF.

Site Improvements:

The subject property benefits from an acceptable level ofparking and slab area as well as the canopy
on the north end of the building. Sale I includes an asphalt paved parking lot, concrete paving and
chain link fencing. As such, it is considered only slightly superior. Sale 2 includes an asphalt paved
parking lot, average ornamental landscaping but not canopy area. Overall, it is considered generally
similar to the subject. Finally, Sale 3 includes asphalt paving and concrete paving which is
considered competitive and similar to the subject.

Eave Height:

The subject property includes a predominant eave height of about 22' (miniumof 10' at the machine
shop but maximum of about 24' at north portion of building). By comparison, Sales 1 and 3 each
include significantly inferior eave heights (acknowledged qualitatively) while Sale 2 includes the
most similar eave height without the need for adjustment.

Quality/Design:

The subject property includes an average quality masonry/steel building with a average to good
quality offices. That being said, about 2,248 SF (or IOTo) of the building represents the quonset

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 49 Copyright O 2018 SJA

164



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. rnc.

hut/semi-trailer container storage area which, although highly functional, is generally inferior to the
balance of the building. By comparison, Sale 1 includes a metaUmasonry building with overall
average quality. However, due to the lot size and placement of the building, the broker indicated that
operation of the building is "tight" with some extent of obsolescence. Overall, Sale I is considered
generally similar overall. Sale 2 includes a blend of masonry/metal construction with fire sprinkler
protection. Based upon cost/depreciation analysis (utilizing the subject's depreciation factor in
acknowledgment of the prior adjustment for age), I have included a downward adjustment of
$1.15/SF. Finally, Sale 3 also includes a metal building with fire protection as well as climate
control for the manufacturing area. While I have included a downward adjustment for the fire
sprinkler consistent with that of Sale 2, the climate control is considered somewhat of a super-
adequacy (not used by the buyer of the property) and no adjustment is necessary.

A&A FiIe #2018.100.01 1.001 50 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

165



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. Inc.

Conclusions:

The following chart provides a summary of quantitative and qualitative adjustments as applied to
the comparable improved sales of this analysis:

[Comparable Improved Sales Adjustment Grid]

After adjustment, the data produces a very naffow range of indicated value of the fee simple interest
of the subject property from $19.18/SF to $21.63/SF with a mean of $20.77lSF. Based upon the
market data researched and presented herein, I have concluded an opinion ofvalue ofthe subject
property toward the central tendency or:

Indicator of Market Value'6Fee Simple - As Is"
[21,979 SF GBA @ $21.00/SF, Rd]

$462.000

Element of Comoarison Sale 1 Sale 2 Sale 3
lale Price ($/SF) $2s.39 $36. l 3 $32.33
lroDertv Rishts Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple
.lnanclng Cash to Seller Cæh to Seller Câsh to Seller
londitions of Sale Arm's Length Arm's Length Am's længth
\djusted Price ($/SÐ $25.39 $3ó.13 $32.33
f ime/Market Conditions 1.06 1.05 Sìmilar

$2ó.91 s37.94 $32.33

'Ae Similar 0.78 0.88
\diusted Price ($/SF $26.91 $29.59 $28.45

($3.62) ($s.82) ($s.67)

)ize Similar ($1.13) Similar
lfüce Ratio ($4.1 l) Similar Similar
iite Improvements Slieht Suoerior G) Similar Similar
Eave Height Inferior (+) Similar Inferior (+)

)uality/Desien Similæ (sl. l5) ($ l. l5)
{diusfcd Pricp IS/SF ì sl0 1ß s21.49 s21.63

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 5t Copyright @ 2018 SJA

166



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. Inc.

a o

This approach forms an opinion of netoperating income (NOIbefore debt service and depreciation)
which is converted to present worth of future anticipated net benefits.

1. Form opinion of potential income of the subject on a gross or net basis.
2. Form opinion of reasonable vacancy losses against potential income.
3. Form opinion of expenses of the property which are lessor's obligation.
4. Deduct vacancy and expenses from potential income to derive NOI.
5. Capitalize or discount NOI to derive an indicator of value.

Opinion of Potential Income

As of the date of valuation, the subject includes a contract rental rate of $2.18/SF, triple net. This
lease will expire in May of 2019.

[Comparable Leased Properties]

The following chart includes a summary of current leases considered most relevant to the valuation
of the subject property. Again, due to a scarcity of truly comparable lease data from the subject's
immediate area (only Lease 1 is located in the subject neighborhood), my research was expanded to
include Marion and Alachua Counties.

[COMPARABLE LEASED PROPERTIES]

Lease Location/ID NRA/Offrce Actual Age/Use Origin/Ierm Terms Rent/SF

I
1879 SW 18ü Ave/
Seabring Marine

6,000 sF/
207o+

17 Yrs+/Office &
Warehouse

200U
Yr to Yr Net $2.63

2
5181 N US Hwy 441l
TexTrail

36,285 SF/
l6Vo

33 yrsl
Manufacturing

2007t
5 Yr Ext Net $2.88

J

4340 NE 49ú Ave/
Buchholz Paint & Auto

37,876 SFI
l6lo

19 yrs/
Automotive Service

2017/
5 Yrs Gross

(avg)

$3.39

Mean: 92.e7I

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 E' Copyright @ 2018 SJA

167



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. rnc.

Comnarable Leased Pronerties Location IVIan

l{êrghts

(r"

@ ora*ge
F.eiqhts

- 

LEASE 3

Ëra¡din
Meirsse

Ticga Gainesville rri*dscr
@ lri:tl

Å¡redsndc
Rocholle Idgar4l þawthorr¡e

@ G¡ove
Par* H¡ma

¡lrclrer

ll,licanopy

I rrì\3

Lochlossa

Cross Creek

Orange
Springg

Raleigh {?, Mnlnirsh

0rang* Loke
1

Citra

É/iilisron 44t

-_ .SUBJECT Reddick Fã11 ,',4cCüy
$lrilr*tor

l"iighlands
4r tfi'l

õ
Morristan

'@,

AcThony LEASE

Ã

')

Iubc¡
Felh:'v.,sl-r;p

Forest

f:l)

York

Ocala

Silv*r 3pn*qs
(&

l.lunT,nglÐn(sil
f:3ig.l (:9

Sihrer Springa
Shor¡¡s .

h':Ã\

,&t
Chatnrire

üunr'¡olion Belle'¡iew
(@, tfrkiawsh¡

z1

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 53 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

168



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. Inc.

Comparable Lease L

Comments: This property is located at 1879 S'W I 8'h Ave as surplus lands of the Williston Mu-
nicipal Airport property in Williston, Florida. The building includes concrete slab, metal exterior
walls (over pre-engineered steel frame with estimated 16 eave height) and metal roof. Site
improvements include asphalt parking area and central utilities. The parking lot appears to be

insufficient to accommodate all parking (adjacent grass area used for overflow). The site includes
1.01 AC and fronts a limerock road. Although the exact age of the building could not be determined,
the tenant has occupied the property since about 2001 so the building is at least 17 years old. Based
upon exterior inspection, it appears that at least20Vo ofthe space represents offices (presently used
for the engineering offices of Seabring Marine). Per information supplied by the City of Williston,
the rent for this property as of December of 2016 (more current rent not provided although it would
have only increased since 2016 if not stayed the same) was $15,773.88 (before sales tax) or
$2.63lSF, net.

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 54 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

169



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. rnc.

Comnarable Lease 2

Comments: This indicator represents the lease of a manufacturing building lo-
cated on the east right of way of N US Hwy 441to the north of the City of Ocala and to the south
of SR 326. The site includes 188,846 SF with industrial zoning and commercial land use. The
subject site has been improved with a building enclosing 36,285 SF of GBA^IRA (built in 1985)
consisting of 5,789 SF of office/showroom area (16%o office ratio) and 30,496 SF of production/
warehouse area. The site includes supporting infrastructure and facilities consisting of asphallcon-
crete paving forparking, loading, and storage, a small fence enclosed outdoor storage yard, signage,
well, septic system, small on-site drainage retention area and nominal landscaping. The tenant has

occupied the premises since 2007 and recently executed a five year lease renewal at an initial rental
rate of $2.88/SF, triple net, with a 3%olyr escalation and additional pass-thru expenses of about
$2,800/mo or $.93lSF. The prior renewal of the lease agreement included a significant reduction
from the original rental rate of about $4.39lSF, triple net, and the current rental rate represents a

continued escalation of the significantly reduced rental rate. The lessor indicated that they did not
pursue a significant increase in the rental rate because the tenant continued to occupy the property
throughout the recession and has always fulfilled their obligations. This lease information was
verified by prior review of the lease agreement as well as current verification with a representative
of the lessor (Mr. John Plunkett).

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 55 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

170



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. Inc.

Comparable Lease 3

This property is located at 4340 NE 49th Ave, Gainesville, Florida within the Airport Industrial Park.
The property was originally constructed as a manufacturing facility. The property includes 5.23 AC
with paved road frontage and availability of central utilities. The site is improved with a 37,876 SF
masonry building (constructed in 1999). Construction includes concrete slab, masonry (stucco on
CB) walls andcompositionroofing. Theproduction areaincludes 23'clearheightwithmanyloading
bays (ground and dock height) and 800 amp 3-phase power. The site also benefits from a paved
parking lot, solar array on roof and ornamental landscaping. The facility has been, and is, used for
manufacturing, warehousing and/or distribution (no climate control other than office). The building
includes an office ratio of I6Vø and overall plot coverage of tTVo evidencing existence of surplus
lands (estimated at about .88 AC assuming20%o full plot coverage). The property was formerly
leased in April of 2014 with rent of $3.10/SF, gross for two years. The lease renewed in 2016 at
increased rate of $3.92lSF, gross. However, shortly after execution of lease, the tenant expressed
the need to vacate the property but reportedly honored the lease until a new tenant could be secured.
In that regard, the property was leased in August of 2017 with a term of five years. While the initial
rental rate is only $2.53/SF, modified gross (tenant pays for lawn care and repairs under $500), the
average rent over the five-year period is $3.39/SF, modified gross. The tenant is using the property
for an automotive repair business. The broker indicated that this property includes a well above
average NRA size which, in his opinion, was the leading contributor to the need for the rent
reduction from the prior lease. The lease terms were verified with Todd Rainsberger.

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 5õ Copyright @ 2018 SJA

171



Conclusions:

The comparable lease properties produce a range of rental rates from $2.63iSF to about $3.39/SF
with a mean of $2.97lSF. However, Lease 3 includes modified gross terms. After adjustment for
estimated expenses fortaxes, insurance andpartial maintenance (estimatedtotal of $.80/SFof NRA),
the estimated effective net rental rate is reduced to $2.59/SF.

For the comparative purposes of this analysis, I have considered the subject after the curing of the
items of deferred maintenance which are considered most critical (roof replacement in particular)
acknowledging that the conclusions of this approach include a specific deduction for the cost to cure
(in my opinion it is reasonable to assume that prospective tenants would expect the curing of these
essential items, particularly roof replacement in the very near term).

While Lease 1 is most similar in terms of location (at the Williston Airport), it is significantly
smaller, includes a somewhat superior effective age and superior office ratio. However, these factors
are partially offset by inferior eave height. Further, it is noted that this lease commenced about 17

years prior to the date of valuation with escalation only at CPI. Lease 2 is located in adj acent Marion
County to the north of Ocala in what is considered a secondary location of the Ocala market.
However, the location is considered superior to that of the subject (direct frontage on US Hwy 44I).
The building is older and larger than the subject with an inferior eave height but superior office ratio
and fence-enclosed storage yard. Finally, Lease 3 is located in the nearby Gainesville market within
the Airport Industrial Park. This location is considered slightly superior that of the subject. While
this building includes superior overall design and office ratio, it is much larger than the subject.

In the final analysis, it is my opinion that a conclusion toward the lower-central tendency of the
range of indicators is most reliable for the subject property after curing of the essential deferred
maintenance. To that end, I have concluded market rent for the subject property at $2.60/SF, triple
net (after curing of essential deferred maintenance items). This level of rent appropriately exceeds
the current contract rent of $2.18/SF, triple net, which does not acknowledge the curing of essential
deferred maintenance items.

Vacancy

On a local level, a review of the occupancy at alternate non-aeronautical buildings at the Williston
Municipal Airport is indicative of stable and strong occupancy rates as of the effective date of
valuation. More specifically, my review of the lease data provided by the City of Williston revealed
that only about l27o of the 38,550 SF approximate supply of building area was vacant as of the
effective date of valuation. However, the vacant unit includes a very old building in poor condition.
Further, my inspection of additional industrial space in the subject market reveals a similar low level
of vacancy in the Williston market which is indicative of balance for the industrial sub-market. In
the final analysis, in conjunction with my opinion of market rent, I have included an allocation of
57o for sustained vacancy in this analysis.

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 57 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. Inc.

172



Expenses

The basis of my opinion of market rent includes net terms (predominant structure of current leases
in the subject market for the subject property type as evidenced by the comparable leases presented
herein). To that end, the lessor is responsible management and reserves (addressing replacement of
major systems or structural components) while the lessee is responsible for real estate taxes,
insurance (hazudlproperty), and maintenance. Tenants are also typically responsible for all utilities
(i.e.electricityandtelephone). Thefollowingforecastofoperatingexpensesissupportedbyablend
of both actual expenses as well as expense estimates/comparables for the subject property type.

Real estate tax expense projected as generally remaining stable in comparison with 2OI7 reported
tax burden of about $1,710 or $.08/SF (relatively low as the assessmentpertains to the improvements
only; further, my review of assessments for buildings upon the airport property reveals a tendency
for relatively low valuations). That being said, this valuation includes initial consideration to the fee
simple value in which underlying land would be included. In that regard, as supported by expense
comparables for similar industrial properties in the broader subject market but also recognizing
relatively low assessments in the subject's particular location, I have included areal estate tax
expense on the basis of $.30/SF of NRA or $6,600.

fnsurance - The actual insurance premium for the subject property was initially reported at just over
$15,000. However, the insurer verified that this policy included not only the real property but also
contents. In that regard, that portion of the premium associated with the real property coverage was
reported to be about $7,900 or $.36iSF of NRA. This level of insurance expense falls within the
range of expense comparables retained in our files (generally from at least $. 15/SF to over $.50/SF).
In the final analysis, I have included an allocation of $8,000.

Maintenance allocation is associated with ongoing maintenance to the improvements. To that end,
the grounds maintenance expense as reported by the current tenant includes mowing of grass at $250
per occurrence (about 8-10 times per year or total of $2,000 to $2,500 annually). In addition,
considering the age of the subject improvements but also curing of essential deferred maintenance,
building maintenance is also significant and estimated at $500 per month or $6,000 annually. In the
final analysis, I have included a total allocation for maintenance at $8,500 per year or $.39lSF of
NRA.

Management expense for a range of single- to multi-tenant office buildings is documented within
a general range of 47o to 8To as supported by information from Heritage Management and lü/iechens

Realty (two long-time property management businesses in Ocala). As the subject would most
appropriately include single-tenant occupancy and a relatively long term lease (at least three to five
years), I have included an allocation of 47o for management expense.

Reserves for replacements acknowledges the need for periodic replacement of various short-lived

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 58 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

AT,RRIGHT.& ASSOCIA of Ocala- fnc.

173



ALRRIGI{T & ASSOCIA S of Ocala- Inc-

items. Although many, if not most, subject owners/managers do not actually maintain a reserve ac-
count for replacements, this expense component is typical in the formulation of expense projections.
To that end, I have included an allocation on the basis of $.05/SF or $ 1 , I 00 which equates to 37o of
EGI which is within a reasonable threshold in terms of market expectations.

[Summary of Expenses]

The following is a summary of primary expense obligations of each of the parties (lessor and lessee,
the former representing liabilities against potential effective income to derive NOÐ.

IEXPENSE OBLTGATTONSI

EXPENSE COMPONENTS ALLOCATIONS
Real Estate Taxes $6,600 or $.30/SF (lessee)

Insurance $8.000 or $.36/SF (lessee)

Maintenance 58.500 or $.39/SF ûessee)
Management Lessor @ 4Vo ofEI
Reserves for Replacements Lessor @ l%o ofEI
Overall Exnense Ratro 36Vo ofEl

Total pass-through expenses as summarized above equate to $ 1.05/SF of NRA which is consistent
with market alternatives. Further, this extent of forecasted total expenses equates to 367a of EGI
which is also generally consistent with the market for older industrial buildings.

Net Onerating Income (NOI)

NOI reflects revenue after deductions for vacancy and property expenses. NOI forms the basis for
valuation in the Income Capitalization Approach. NOI is processed to an opinion of property
value by means of capitalization analysis next explained.

Direct Capitalization

Valuation is completed by the processing of NOI through capitalization by means of an overall rate
reflective of performance of NOI and value of the income-producing property being appraised. The
overall rate is derived by one or more of several methodologies:

1. Mortgage-EquityAnalysis.
2. Market Extraction.

Mortgage-Equity Analysis:

The following summarizes research of projected economic requirements of lenders and investors

A&A File #2018.100.01. 1.001. 59 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

174



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIA S of Ocala. fnc.

involved in the acquisition, development and leveraging requirements of comparable properties.

IMORTGAGE & EQUTTY REQUTREMENTS - RATES & RATTOSI

FINANCING COMPONENTS AI,I,OCATIONS
Ratios: Loan-to-Value (LTV)Æouitv 75Vo to SOVol2OVo to 25Vo

Mortsase lnterest Rate 5.007a to 5.75Vo- variable to fixed
Amortization Period/Balloon/Holdins Period 15 to2O vr/3 to 5 vrl5 to 7 vr
Debt Coverase Ratio (DCR): Tarset 1.25

Equitv Dividend Rate 87o to l27o lcomnetes with lender vield)
f)verall Rafe lRo: Goins-In'l RVo to 9Vo

The reader is referred to the spreadsheet of direct capitalization for computations of mortgage-equity
analysis. From that analysis, indicated capitalization rate is8.747o.

Market Extraction:

Market-extraction may produce a more reliable indicator via direct retrieval of rates from comparable
income-producing properties. The following transactions were relied upon for overall rate derivation
through market-extraction.

IMARKET.EXTRACTED OVERALL RATES . INDUSTRIALI

The seven sales occurred from 2012 to 201 8 and include a blend of small to large industrial build-
ings. From this range of indicators, I have concluded an overall rate of .0875 from market extraction.

Conclusions

In the final analysis, the two sources produce rather conclusive support for my opinion of an appro-
priate overall capitalization rate of 8.75Vo.

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 60 Copyright O 2018 SJA

Sale Date Location/ID NRA Use Terms Ro
A 9l12 1419 SW 12'h Ave/GCRÆridsestone 25,920 SF Ind Net 0.0890

B U14 I101 SW 33'd Avellincare 5,000 sF Ind Gross o.1022
C 5t14 Baseline Rd/Retail Center 5,000 sF Retail Gross 0.0849

D IO/14 443 SW 54ù Ctlsisnature Brands 120,571sF Ind Net 0.0817

E 4n5 5516 SW l" SlWinco Manufacturing 89,136 SF Ind Net 0.0812

F 6n5 202 SW 33'd Ave/lVlulti-Tenant Blds 10,000 sF Ind Gross 0.0863

G 4t18 2317 Griffin Rd/Multi-Tenant Bldg 16,988 SF Ind Gross 0.0757

Mean of Indicators: 0.08s9II

175



AT,RRIGHT & ASSOCIA of Ocala. fnc.

The following summarizes variables of direct capitalization of this income analysis

IDIRECT CAPITALIZATION]

Indicator of Market Value "Fee Simple - As Cured" $560,000

LESS: DeferredMaintenance(Primary) -125,000

ADD: Contributory Value of Surplus Land + 21.000

Indicator of Market Value "Leasehold Interest - As Is"
[via Income Capitalization Approach]

$4s6.000

WellBilt Industries. Williston. Florida 20

Mortsase: lP) û) Amort LTV Points Rm DCR
Financial: $448,000 5.757o 20 SOVo V2 8.437a 1.30

Debt Service: 637.744 Mts- Equitv [Rol:
tst: 1.0048 LTV 80Vo x 8.43Vo 6.748(

lS^n12ì: 3.t495 Equitv 2OVa x lO.O07o 2.00v(
Ro: Ro@ Mortsaee-Equitv 8.74E(

Criteria: Ratio Re Ro@ Market Extraction 8.75%

Equitv Terms: 207a 10.jVo Ro@ PwC Study NA
Eauitv: $1r2.000 Ro@ Statistical Mean 8.75Et

Ro Opinion: Final Ro 8.75E1

[ncome: NRA Rent CAMIT Total Total Total Tota
Manufacturins 2r.979 s2.60 $1.05 s3.65 $80.245 s3.6s l00.ÙEt

TotaUAve: 2t,979 $2.60 $ 1.0s $3.6s $80,245 $3.65 l00.OEt

Vacancy: Ø.0r2) ($0.181 5.0E
Eff.Income tEI.l 7o ofÛl EI $76,233 fi3.4'.7

Expenses:
Taxes 8.7To x $76.233 (6.600) ($0.30) 24.2E(

Insurance 10.57o x $76,233 (8.000) ($0.36) 29.4E(

Maintenance ll.27o x s76.233 (8.500) (s0.39) 772.7%
Manasement 4.07o X s76.233 (3,049) ($0.14) ll.2E(
Reserves 1.47o x $76,233 (1.100) ($0.05) 4.0%:

Exnense Ratio: 35.77o (s27.249\ (s1.24) 84r5%
NOI: $48,984 s2.23
Can Rate [Rol: 8.757o lAbovel
Value Indicator: ss60.000 IRdI

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 61 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

176



Valuation of Leased Fee Interest
As indicated earlier, the ground lease includes a remaining term of five years (at well below market
rent of only $900 annually) as well as the availability of (2) five-year renewal periods. This re-
maining potential term of the ground lease is consistent with the estimated remaining life of the sub-
ject improvements, acknowledging that extensions to the ground lease are reasonably anticipated to
remain available to the owner of the leasehold position in order to provide feasibility for renovations,
repairs and/or replacements which would significantly extend the life of the improvements. In that
regard, I have provided the following projected cash flow analysis relative to the leased fee estate.
The cash flow includes a time period consistent with the remaining potential term of the lease (15
years) with contract rent of $900 for the first five years. In the sixth year, ground rent is reasonably
anticipated to escalate to what will be market rent as confirmed with an interview with the manager
of the City of V/illiston. In that regard, acknowledging my allocation of the subject's present value
of underlying land at $28,000/AC as well as the forecasted annual growth rate of 1.57o and an

appropriate land capitalization rate of 8Vo (at the lower tendency of the range of capitalization rates
associated with FAA regulations), the market rent at the sixth year is projected to be $4,826 annually.
This rent is projected to escalate at 1.57o through the end of the term. At the beginning of the 16rh

year, the site is available for the reversion. In that regard, land value is projected to have grown to
about $70,000 and the improvements would presumably be at the end of their useful life (as noted
earlier, it is reasonable to assume that the ground lease will terminate only when the improvements
no longer contribute to the overall value of the property). This cash flow also includes a relatively
"safe" discount rateof 7Vo as most appropriate for the projected income stream (use of beginning of
period discounting appropriate as rent is usually collected in advance).

Indicator of Market Value "Leased Fee Interest"
[via Income Capitalization Approach]

$55J00

ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala. Inc.

A&A File #2018.100.011.001. 62 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

177



a a o

The approaches to value have formed the following indicators of value for the fee simple interest
associated with the subject property:

Sales Comparison Approach:
Income Capitalization Approach:

$462,000
$456,000

The two approaches to value produce a very narrow range of indicated value which provides rather
conclusive support for an opinion of market value of the fee simple interest (as is) of $460,000.
However, in order to derive the market value of the leasehold interest, the indication of value
associated with the leased fee estate ($55,000 or essentially underlying land value acknowledging
short term benefit of below market rent attributable to the leasehold position) must be deducted.

Based on prevailing economic conditions, taking all relevant (area) influences and (property)
characteristics into consideration, weighing the best market evidence available as has been set forth
in this report, I have formed an opinion of market value of the subject property, with a reasonable
degree of appraisal certainty, with respect to the interest identified, according to the program of
property utilization which is consistent with the threshold of highest and best use, subject to the
certification, assumptions and hypothetical conditions, expressed in this appraisal report, as of the
effective valuation date identified herein, of:

Opinion of Market Value'6Fee Simple - As Is" $460,000

- 55.000

$40s.000

LESS: Market Value of Leased Fee Estate

Opinion of Market Value "Leasehold Interest - As Is"

AT,RRIGHT.& ASSOCIAT ES of Ocala^ fnc-

A&A File #2018.100.011.00L 63 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

178



ALBRIGHT & ASSOCIATES of ocala.Inc.

Addendum

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 64 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

179



AT,RRIGHT & ASSOCTA S of Ocala. Inc.

Stephen J. Albright, Jr.
Curriculum Vitae

Emnloyment
Professional Golf, Tommy Armour and T.C. Jordan Tour (1992-1993)
Marion and St. Johns County School Boards, School Teacher (1993)
Albright & Associates, Ocala, lnc. (1994 to 2OO2)

Stephen Albright & Associates, Inc. (2002 to present)

Formal Education
University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC; BA, Psychology, 1992

Professional Designations
State-Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, F.22392
Member, Appraisal Institute, MAI

Professional Orsanizations/Service
Appraisal Institute, East Florida Chapter (Former Board Member)
Ocala/Marion County Multiple Listing Service

Community Organizations/Service
Ocala/Marion County Chamber of Commerce
First Presbyterian Church of Ocala (Former Elder)
Community College of Central Florida Foundation (Former Board Member)
Silver Springs Rotary Club (Former Board Member)
Ocala Vision 2035 l-eadership Group
Mastering the Possibilities (Board of Directors)
First Tee of Greater Ocala (Board of Directors)
Florida State Golf Association (Board of Directors)

Real Estate Appraisal Education (Courses)

Appraisal Principles, Appraisal Institute
Appraisal Procedures, Appraisal Institute
B asic Incom e Capitalization, Apprais al Institute
Standards of Professional Practice,Put A (USPAP), Appraisal lnstitute
Støndards of Professional Practíce,Pafi B (USPAP), Appraisal Institute
Standards of Professional Practice,PaÍ C (USPAP), Appraisal Institute
General Applications, Appraisal Institute
Florida License, Core Law
Advanced Income Capitalization, Appraisal Institute
Highest and Best Use & Market Analysis, Appraisal Institute

A&A File #2018.100.01 1.001 65 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

180



AI,RRTGHT & ASSOCIA S of Ocala- fnc-

Advanced Sales Comparison and Cost Approaches
Report V/riting and Valuation Analysis
Advanced Applications
Uniform Appraisal Standards for Federal Land Acquisitions
Fundamentals of Separating Real Property, Personal Property, and Intangible Business Assets
Condemnation Appraising: Principles & Applications
The Appraiser as an Expert Witness: Preparation and Testimony

Real Estate Appraisal Education (Seminars)
Using Your HPl2C Financial Calculator (Appraisal Institute)
The Internet and Appraising (Appraisal Institute)
Uniþrm Standards of Professionøl Appraisøl Practice (Appraisal Institute)
Small Hotel/Motel Valuation (Appraisal Institute)
Analyzing Operating Expenses (Appraisal Institute)
Appraising From Blueprints and Specifications (Appraisal Institute)
Residential Design & Functional Utility (Appraisal Institute)
Appraisal of Nursing Facilities (Appraisal Institute)
Analyzing Distressed Real Estate (Appraisal Institute)
Feasibility, Market Value, Investment Timing: Option Value (Appraisal Institute)
Subdivision Valuation

Snecialized Services

[Expert Witness]

5th Circuit-
Sth Circuit-
5th Circuit-
5th Circuit-
5th Circuit-
5th Circuit-
5th CÍrcuit-
5th Circuit-
5th Circuit-
5th Circuit-
Sth Circuit-
5th Circuit-
5th Circuit-
5th Circuit-
Sth Circuit-
5th Circuit-

Marion County- Judge Swigert (City of Ocala; "Yard Relief Program"; 1997)
Marion County- Judge Singbush (City of Ocala; "SW 44th Ave Project"; 2000)
Marion County- Judge Singbush (William Post; 2002)
Marion County- Judge Singbush (SE/SW 31"tSt Project; 2005)
Marion County- Judge Singbush (SW 20'h St Project; 2006)
Marion County- Judge Singbush (Marion County vs Bahia Honda; 2006)
Marion County- Judge Singbush (NV/ 44th Ave Project;2007)
Marion County- Judge Musleh (Marco Polo vs Peterson, et al;2007)
Marion County- Judge Singbush (NW 44th Ave Project Order of Taking; 2007)
Marion County- Judge Harris (SE 3l't St Project Order of Taking; 2009)
Marion County- Judge Edwards-Stephens (SE 31u St Project Order of Taking; 2009)
Marion County- Judge Lambert (CR 2004 Project Order of Taking; 2009)
Marion County- Judge King (SW 95'h St Project Order of Taking; 2010)
Marion County- Judge Lambert (SW 42"d St Flyover Project Order of Taking; 2010)
Marion County- Judge Eddy (Marion Co vs Morgran Center; Fee Hearing;2012)
Marion County- Judge Singbush (NW 35'h/49'h St Project Order of Taking; 2012)

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 66 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

181



AT-,RRIGHT & ASSOCIA of Ocala. Inc.

5th Circuit- Citrus County- Judge Falvey (Community Bank; Deficiency Hearing; 2014)
5th Circuit- Marion County- Judge Tatti (Community Bank;Deficiency Hearing; 2014)
5th Circuit- Marion County- Judge Rogers (Murvin & Altogrey,LLC vs Brown; 2014)
Sth Circuit- Lake County- Judge Singeltary (M & S Bank;Deficiency Hearing; 2016)

lArbitration/lVlediation Hearings]

Marion County, Florida

lSpecial Magistratel

Ignatius Ciesla v. Bonded Builders Home Warranty (2006)

Marion County Value Adjustment Board Hearings (2008-2017)
Citrus County Value Adjustment Board Hearings (2010-2014)

[Speaking Engagements]

International Association of Assessing Officers - Florida Chapter
2015 TPP Seminar - VAB Special Master Panel - Lake Mary, Florida

A&A File #2018.100.011.001 67 Copyright @ 2018 SJA

182



RESOTUTTON 2020 - 07

A RESOTUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WILLISTON, FIORIDA, AMENDING THE

LEASE BETWEEN THE CIW OF WILLISTON AND WELL BILT INDUSTRIES AND PROVIDING AN
EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, Well Bilt lndustries is a long time and valued tenant at the Williston Municipal
Airport; and
WHEREAS, Well Bilt has requested changes to the terms of their lease to allow them to obtain
short term financing; and
WHEREAS, the City has granted similar requests to other long-term tenants at the airport.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE ¡T RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Williston,
Florida, that:

SECTION 1. The above recitals are true and accurate and are made a part of this resolution.
SECTION 2. The City Council hereby approves amending the lease between Well Bilt and the
City of Williston as requested by Well Bilt lndustries.
SECTION 3. This resolution shall become effective immediately upon adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a meeting of the City Councilthis 4th day of February,2O20.

CITY OF WILTISTON, FLORIDA

Nancy Wininger, President
Williston City Council

ATTEST: Latricia Wright
City Clerk

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY

Frederick L. Koberlein, Jr.,

City Attorney

By:

183



Date: FEBRUARY 4,2020

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM

TOPIC: DISCUSSION WITH POSSIBLE ACTION: REPAIR OR PURCHASE OF A
JOHN DEERE WHEEL LOADER

REQUESTED BY: CJ ZIMOSKI PREPARED BY: LATRICIA WRIGHT

BACKGROUND / DESCRIPTION:

LEGAL REVIEW:

FISCAL IMPACTS:

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve

ATTACHMENTS: X

COMMISSION ACTION:

APPROVEI)

DISAPPROVED

184



Locatlon: OCALA FL

Mohile. Al.
(2s1) 456-1993
Pensact¡la. Fl.
tB50t.176.(t277

I ake Cì1y Fl P¿latkà Fl
tB50¡ 835.;lll!t7 '8501 ;6!¿.;lf¡44 '38tì. /:;2-()5¿4 , :l8tit t25-f,16f¿.

Freapoñ Fl Panant¿ City Fl Jar:kst¡¡¡vtllp Fl
,9tì4t 296-stlq()

THIS TS Áñ, ESfr[tATE ONLY Date: il2sno2o preparød By: Davict Duncan

Customer: Glty of Wlliston
Contact: Jonath¡nBishop

State:

Phone;

FalE-mail:

lllodel:

Serlal No.

Equlp.No.

Hour¡

õ44G

5f3866

WO# 30¡1455

of

fhlg estlmeto le for thc followlng rêpa¡B

3248,80 st,2(þ.00
¡1,680.00

$,t,690.00

¡290.84 $¡10.00

¡2,239.09 S,r80.00

t3,060.88 S780.00

s808.24

$2,f8.54

$2S2.64

$1,46¡[.00

$7¡11.00

st,o8o.oo

8727.90 t980.00

Dlag fee. Rcplaco boom hydraulic llnes. Lineg blew durlng dlag.

'Remove front axle end dleg why the ¡xle i¡ over full
'Remove ttar axle and diag why axle lr empty

Replace throtUe cable

Transmisslon not chifting lnto 4tlr. Rcplace tran¡mi¡slon sonsor. Shorted aenaor
posslbly shorted TCU

reseel both boom cyl¡ndêls

Reseal buctct cyl¡nder

Reseal both ¡teerlng cylinde¡¡
* Addltlonal estlmaúc wlll bc made for front and ¡sar axlo rcpalr

0llne to control valve. rubbGd

37.922.93

s10.008.00
¡200.00
366.00

s300.o0

$19,086.93

Pa¡ls era for 30 Parts

ifl¡c.
Environmenúal

Total of E¡timate:

parts/labor not included in the above mentioned. This estimate does not
customer or BEC in any way. Should the customer request BEC to
the work, and BEC agrees to do so, the work will be perfonned in

with BEC customary terms and conditions.

Reusing old hardware is not recommended due to oorrosion, rust and

factors. lf old hardware is reused, BEC is not responsible for items that
efter

185



- a e

1t29t2020

Hi CJ!

2000 JOHN DEERE 544H WHEEL LOADER 10K HOURS 1 OWNER I eBay

sell I w"t.tl t¡"t I vy eeay

Q Search for anything AllCategories V

eBay_.. Business & lndustri¿l Heavy Equipment, Parts & Attachments Heavy Equipment
Wheel Loaders

2OOO JOHN DEERE 544H WHEEL LOADER lOK
HOURS 1 OWNER

ô.DO fififi fil

ì=';

Share

Buy lt Now

Make Offer

Save to walchlist

Sold by
tintonaufowreckino 1482'|

2OOO JOHN DEERE 544H WHEEL LOADER IOK HOURS I OWIIER

lPre-owned
I

$28;OQQ.QQ r'ee
llocal pickup

Add to cart

Similar ltems

httpsJ/www.ebay.comli/264565230503?chn=ps&norover=1&mkevt-1&mkrid=711-117182-37290-0&mkcid=2&itemid=264565230503&targetid=858536... 114

186



1t29t2020

Hi CJI

john deere 544J loader two load€rs for sale now, wheel loader, frount end load I eBay

Seil | watctr L¡st I ruy eeay Þ

Q Search for anything All Categories V

g.Bay _ Business & lndustrial Heavy Equipment, parts & Attachments
Heavv Equipment parts & Accessories ' ÈeávtË,ìirlpment ¡¡àñùâiJ s'bìoks Share

iohn deere 544J loader two loaders for sale now, wheel
loader, frount end load

rt, r ^^^.00

'illr-
ng

ay, Feb 5 from

backed by
guarantee

Buy lt Now

Make Offer

Save to wat,:hlist

Sold by
sweetsummertime2 1 (523)
100.jYo Positive feedback
Contact seller

P iohn deere 544J loader two loaders for sale now, wheel loader, frount end load

jPre-owned

l$45,OOO,
lshippins

OO + $e,zs Add to cart

Similar ltems

SPONSORED SPONSORED SPONSORED

John Deere 444J, JOHN DEERE444J John Deere 444J s44J

https://www.ebay.comlil254417398085?chn=ps&norover=1&mkevt=1&mkrid=711-117182-37290-0&mkcid=2&¡tomid=2544173g80g5&targetid=860211
115

187




